Public Document Pack

Planning Committee
Remote Meeting
Date:
Time:

Wednesday, 17th March, 2021
10.00 am

Venue:

Zoom - https://zoom.us/

Chair:
Members:

Councillor S Merifield
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, A Coote, P Fairhurst, R Freeman,
G LeCount, M Lemon (Vice-Chair), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve
and M Sutton

Substitutes:

Councillors S Barker, N Gregory, P Lees, B Light, E Oliver, G Sell
and J De Vries

Public Speaking
Members of the public who would like to watch the meeting live can do so here. The
broadcast will be made available as soon as the meeting begins.
At the start of each agenda item there will be an opportunity for members of the
public to make statements of up to 4 minutes to the Committee via the video
conferencing platform Zoom subject to having given notice by 2pm on the day before
the meeting.
Please refer to further information regarding public speaking overleaf.

AGENDA
PART 1
Open to Public and Press
1

Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest
To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

4 - 13

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.
3

UTT/20/3419/DFO - Land West of Woodside Way, GREAT
DUNMOW

14 - 33

To consider application UTT/20/3419/DFO.
4

UTT/19/1744/OP - Former Friends School, Mount Pleasant
Road, SAFFRON WALDEN

34 - 81

To consider application UTT/19/1744/OP.
5

UTT/19/1789/FUL - Land At Pound Hill, LITTLE DUNMOW

82 - 114

To consider application UTT/19/1789/FUL.
6

UTT/20/3016/FUL - Land R/O Malt Place, Cornells Lane,
WIDDINGTON - WITHDRAWN

115 - 156

Application UTT/20/3016/FUL has been withdrawn.
Reason: “to allow the further consideration of a recent legal
judgement related to a development of this nature”
7

UTT/21/0158/FUL - Homely, The Street, HIGH EASTER

157 - 172

To consider application UTT/21/0158/FUL.
8

UTT/20/3473/FUL - East Cottage, Thaxted Road, WIMBISH
To consider application UTT/20/3473/FUL.

173 - 180

REMOTE MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC
Due to the Government’s social distancing measures imposed in the wake of Covid19, the way in which the public can participate in Uttlesford District Council meetings
has changed. Meetings are no longer being held on site or in person and ‘remote
meetings’ will be held on the virtual meeting platform Zoom until further notice.
Members of the public are welcome to listen live to the debate of any of the Council’s
Cabinet or Committee meetings. All live broadcasts and meeting papers can be
viewed on the Council’s calendar of meetings webpage.
Members of the public and representatives of parish and town councils are permitted
to speak at this meeting via the video conferencing platform Zoom. You will need to
register with Democratic Services by 2pm on the day before the meeting. Please
register your intention to speak on an application by contacting Democratic Services
at committee@uttlesford.gov.uk. You will have 4 minutes to make your statement.
Those wishing to make a statement via video link will require an internet connection
and a device with a microphone and video camera enabled. Those wishing to make
a statement to the meeting who do not have internet access can do so via telephone.
Technical guidance on the practicalities of participating via Zoom will be given at the
point of confirming your registration slot, but if you have any questions regarding the
best way to participate in this meeting please call Democratic Services on 01799 510
410/369/548/467 who will advise on the options available.
The agenda is split into two parts. Most of the business is dealt with in Part I which is
open to the public. Part II includes items which may be discussed in the absence of
the press or public, as they deal with information which is personal or sensitive for
some other reason. The broadcast will be unable when Part II items are discussed.
Agenda and Minutes are available in alternative formats and/or languages. For more
information please call 01799 510510.
Facilities for people with disabilities
If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a
meeting, please contact committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510548/369
as soon as possible prior to the meeting.
For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510410, 510369, 510548, or 510467
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER
Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550
Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING COMMITTEE held at ZOOM - HTTPS://ZOOM.US/, on
WEDNESDAY, 17 FEBRUARY 2021 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor S Merifield (Chair)
Councillors G Bagnall, M Caton, A Coote, P Fairhurst,
R Freeman, G LeCount, M Lemon (Vice Chair), J Loughlin,
R Pavitt, N Reeve and M Sutton

Officers in
attendance:

W Allwood (Principal Planning Officer), R Beale (Planning
Officer), N Brown (Development Manager), C Gibson
(Democratic Services Officer), M Sawyers (Planning Officer),
C Shanley-Grozavu (Democratic Services Officer), M Shoesmith
(Development Management Team Leader), E Smith (Solicitor),
C Theobald (Planning Officer) and C Tyler (Planning Officer)

Public
Speakers:

PC95

P Belton, A Butcher, C Campbell, Councillor M Coleman (Great
Dunmow TC), P Danbury, S Drury, Councillor M Elsey (Ashdon
PC), G Gardener, D Graves, L Green, J Grey (Ashdon
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group) N Hooper, M Horrigan, P
Horrigan, R Houghton, M Hughes, Councillor P Lees, L
Leicester, N Lines, Dr J Padfield, S Patrick (Ashdon Flood
Group), V Ranger, S Robinson, Councillor G Sell, J Smith, J
Snares, M Stewart, M Tuff and Councillor J De Vries

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no apologies for absence.
Councillor Lemon declared a non-pecuniary interest as Ward Councillor for
Hatfield Heath (Agenda Items 5 and 12).
Councillor Fairhurst declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council and Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 7)
Councillor Coote declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council and Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 7)
Councillor Freeman declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council and Ward Councillor for Saffron Walden (Agenda Item 7)
Councillor LeCount declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Henham
Parish Council and Ward Councillor for Elsenham and Henham. He requested to
recluse himself from agenda items 4 and 13, due to personal reasons.

PC96

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

Page 4

Councillor Fairhurst referred to PC93 in respect of 20-22 Castle Street, Saffron
Walden and asked that it be noted that members requested a policy to cover
replacing felled trees.
He also referred to PC91 in respect of Land West of Radwinter Road and
requested that “defer” be amended to “deferred” on page 7, paragraph 3 of the
agenda pack.
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 January 2021 were agreed,
subject to the changes proposed by Councillor Fairhurst, and would be signed by
the Chair as an accurate record at the next opportunity.

PC97

UTT/20/2220/DFO - LAND WEST OF WOODSIDE WAY, DUNMOW
The Principal Planning Officer presented an application for the Approval of
Reserved Matters for the details of layout, scale, landscaping and appearance to
provide 326 residential dwellings, following the grant of outline planning
permission in October 2015 under reference UTT/13/2107/OP.
The site comprises the northern parcels of the site at Woodside Way, and is
currently formed of 3 agricultural fields, measuring 23.26ha or 57.48 acres. The
proposed dwellings as stated would be a mix of 1-5-bedroom units, with 32%
affordable housing provision, indicating a mix of shared ownership and
affordable rent, as approved as part of the s106 Agreement. 5% wheelchair
accessible M4(3) bungalows would be provided for both the market and
affordable housing provision, as per the Section 106 Agreement.
The development would also provide public open space including tree and
hedgerow planting, habitat creation, including natural and semi-natural green
space, children’s and youth play areas, allotments, pitch quality ground,
including sports pavilions, and an area set aside for a Primary School.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to questions from the committee, officers clarified:
 Planning Conditions, including a Construction Management Plan, were
agreed and set out in the Outline Planning Permission. This application
was to agree details relating to layout, scale, landscaping and
appearance.
 Essex County Council Highways raised no objections to the application;
however, the applicant was having ongoing discussions with the
department about the impact which this development would have on
Stortford Road.
 The children’s play areas would be located in the central spine area and
to the east of the site. The locations were sited along the route of an
existing pipeline which was not fit for development and was also
accessible to nearby footpaths.
 Every property would have an electric charging point; however, the
charging unit would not be provided. The applicant explained that this was

Page 5







due to a changing market and that not all residents would want one. They
highlighted that government grants were available for individuals to buy
the units at a lower price.
Water Butts would not be installed at every property but would be
provided in the allotment which would be considered as a separate
application. Further details would be set out in the s106 agreement.
The 2-bedroom property, located above a garage, would be given use of
the garage, as well as an additional parking space to the side.
Once this application had been approved, development would commence.
Currently, only the building of the spine road had commenced. When the
development had been completed, it would contribute to the districts
housing supply numbers.
The proposed bungalows did have permitted development rights;
however, owners would need to apply for planning permission in order to
substantially extend or demolish them to replace them with larger houses.
Members raised concerns about the protection of bungalows both on the
development and in the district as a whole.

The Chair noted that the developer had stated in a recent publication that the
Council’s policy on affordable housing was 32%. She clarified that the policy was
actually 40% and that the development is part of a series of developments which
overall would bring the affordable housing total up to the policy requirement.
Members welcomed the developer’s collaboration with the community to produce
an application which was sensitive to nature and provided suitable housing to
address housing need in the area.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be approved. This was
seconded by Councillor Coote.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.
Speakers: Councillor M Coleman (Mayor of Great Dunmow Town Council) and R
Houghton (applicant) spoke in support of the application
The meeting adjourned at 11:19 and reconvened at 11:30
Councillor Le Count left the meeting at 11:30

PC98

UTT/20/0604/OP - LAND SOUTH OF VERNONS CLOSE, HENHAM
The Planning Officer presented an outline proposal with all matters reserved,
except access, relating to the residential development of a site comprising of 45
dwellings with associated landscaping and public open space. The site lies on
the east side of Mill Road to the immediate south of Vernons Close, a 1960’s
housing development, and comprises a field roughly square in shape with a
stated area of 5.17 ha. currently out of arable production. A slightly larger parcel
of land used for amenity purposes lies to the immediate east of the site with
agricultural land lying further to the east of this, whilst agricultural land lies
opposite the site to the west. A nursery lies to the immediate south.

Page 6

A Parameters Plan (ref: 1123/002 Rev B) had been submitted with the
application which sets out the framework for consideration of the proposal and
which shows the disposition of land uses across the site between built form and
open space areas, the indicated access point, likely storey heights for dwellings
up to 2.5 storey, the indicative location for surface water attenuation and also a
children’s equipped area of play.
An Illustrative Masterplan (ref: 1123-004 Rev A) has also been submitted
demonstrating how 45 dwellings, vehicular access, landscaping and areas of
public open space could be accommodated at the site whereby access is shown
being gained from Mill Road. The south of the site is shown to comprise a
proposed landscaping tree belt along the southern boundary which, together with
new open space would, it is stated, make up to 50% of the site’s total area. A
Proposed Access Arrangement Plan had also been submitted.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members welcomed the open layout of the site and the varied housing mix which
had been proposed, however concerns were raised around the sustainability of
the development due to the isolated location, as well as the lack of local
amenities, public transport, and footpaths for pedestrians. They noted Essex
County Council Highways’ comments that the location of the site was such that
access to key facilities, shops, employment and leisure opportunities was limited
and for the vast majority of journeys the only practical option would be the car.
Members also discussed the cumulative highway impact that the development,
along with others in the area, would have on the Grove Hill junction and noted
that the highway assessment had not considered the nearby Fairfields site which
had recently received approval on appeal for over 300 new houses.
Councillor Pavitt proposed that the application be refused on the grounds of a
lack of sustainability and the protection of the countryside.
This was seconded by Councillor Fairhurst.
RESOLVED to refuse the application
Speakers: Councillor G Sell (on behalf of Stansted Parish Council), Councillor P
Lees and G Gardener (on behalf of Henham Parish Council) spoke against the
application and A Butcher (applicant) spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Le Count returned to the meeting at 12:42

PC99

UTT/20/0422/FUL - LAND NORTH OF COX LEY, HATFIELD HEATH

Page 7

The Development Manager presented an application for the erection of 12
dwellings including new access, associated landscaping and the creation of a
parking area for the adjacent playing field.
This application related to a parcel of land of 0.6 ha adjacent to the existing
housing developments of Broomfields and Cox Ley. The land is located directly
to the north of the development limits of Hatfield Heath, within the Metropolitan
Green Belt.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to members’ questions, officers clarified the following:
 Hatfield Heath Parish Council conducted a housing need survey which
identified a serious need for affordable housing. The development would
meet the demand and the first nominations would be offered to residents
of Hatfield Heath, cascading to neighbouring parishes where applicable.
 The Parish Council’s housing survey had identified at least 20 individuals
in need of affordable housing, therefore there would be enough local
people to occupy all the properties.
 The Parish Council had enquired about at least 6 other sites for an
affordable housing development, however landowners refused to give
away their sites.
 The site was classed as an exception site and would only be used for the
10 affordable rent homes. The two market dwellings were proposed to
cross subsidise the cost of delivery.
 There were existing drainage issues in Hatfield Heath, but it is not a
requirement for the developer to address this. An application would have
to improve general drainage, which this application does, according to the
local flood authority.
 The football pitch adjacent to the site would be retained but would be
relocated away from the development.
 The properties would be built to the PassivHaus standard.
The committee debated the need to balance the views of the Parish Council with
the opinion of residents in the community. Members indicated that they were
unable to make a fair assessment of the application without a site visit to assess
the impact on the surrounding area.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be deferred so that a site visit
could be conducted. This was seconded by Councillor Coote.
RESOLVED to defer the application
Speakers: N Lines, D Graves, M Stewart, P Danbury and L Leicester spoke
against the application and S Robinson and N Hooper both spoke on behalf of
the applicant in support of the application.
Meeting adjourned 13:48 and reconvened 14:37

PC100

UTT/20/2148/DFO - LAND TO THE NORTH AND EAST OF PRIORY LODGE,

Page 8

STATION ROAD, LITTLE DUNMOW
The Planning Officer presented a reserved matters application relating to the
consideration of scale, layout, appearance and landscaping following the grant of
outline planning permission UTT/17/3556/OP for the demolition of all commercial
buildings and removal of commercial storage at Priory Lodge and the erection of
8 detached dwellings together with modification of the existing vehicular access
to Priory Lodge. The DFO application as submitted had deleted one dwelling unit
from the outline approved scheme and the application is now for 7 dwellings.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members raised concerns around the impact that the development would have
on the adjacent Fitch Way and potential contamination of the Stebbing Brook.
Officers clarified that there were biodiversity conditions in place, such as
replacing any plants which die within the first five years of the development’s
completion. Furthermore, the applicant had included a 5-metre exclusion zone
on the northern limit of the dwellings which would create a buffer zone to protect
the Fitch Way.
During further discussion, members requested the following conditions be
added, should the application be approved:
 No pedestrian gates or other form of gates to be installed along the Flitch
Way Buffer Zone, located on the northern boundary of the site.
 Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a stewardship arrangement for
the ongoing maintenance of all communal areas be set up and retained
on a permanent basis.
 Any plants which within a period of ten years from the completion of the
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be approved with the above
conditions. This was seconded by Councillor Merifield.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.
Speakers: S Drury (on behalf of the applicant) and M Tuff (agent) spoke in
support of the application.
Councillor Freeman joined the meeting 14:50. Due to not hearing the item in full,
he did not vote on the item.

PC101

UTT/20/0921/DFO - LAND NORTH OF ASHDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN
The Development Management Team Leader presented an application for
reserved matters permission for “details following outline application
UTT/17/3413/OP - Erection of 4 commercial buildings for use as B1, B2 and/or
D2 in the alternative together with access road, car parking, bins and bike stores
and associated works. The application detailed appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale.”

Page 9

The application had been deferred by Planning Committee in December 2020 to
resolve parking layout. Following the deferment of the application, the applicant
has submitted a revised parking scheme illustrating the parking spaces to be at
Essex Parking Standards size. This has resulted in the slight reduction in parking
space provision from 34 spaces to 29 spaces.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members debated the amended car parking provisions; notably, if the reduced
allocation of parking would be adequate for the commercial units and the impact
that this would have on parking in the nearby area.
Councillor Lemon proposed that the application be approved. This was
seconded by Councillor Loughlin.
RESOLVED to approve the application
Speakers: P Belton (agent) spoke in support of the application.

PC102

UTT/20/2009/FUL - LAND TO THE WEST OF RADWINTER ROAD, ASHDON
The Planning Officer presented the application for the erection of 5 dwellings,
with access from Radwinter Road. The application was deferred by the Planning
committee in January 2021 to allow for the submission of further information in
regards to drainage, site levels and layout of the development.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions
The Development Manager advised that planning permission and agreement to
discharge into a water course were not linked and neither gave the other
automatic consent. He explained that the logical order was to get planning
permission first because an application to discharge water would be rejected if
there was no reason to do it without planning permission being in place.
Members questioned why the applicant had not already approached the relevant
water authority, given that planning permission was initially granted in 2018.
During discussion, officers also clarified the following:
 There were no grounds for making a decision based on an emerging
neighbourhood plan as it currently holds no weight.
 Members cannot disregard the outline planning permission for 4 dwellings
as this is a material planning consideration.
 The site has an existing electricity transformer and there is no proposed
substation.
Members indicated that they were minded to refuse the application due to
concerns regarding the scale and bulk of the development and the impact on the
setting of the surrounding area, the risk of flooding and the sustainability of the
drainage solutions.

Page 10

Councillor Bagnall proposed that the application be refused on the following
grounds:
 The proposed development by reasons of its scale, height, position within
the site and proposed ground levels would result in a harmful, overbearing
impact to the residential and visual amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
 The application does not include sufficient information that the proposal
would not increase the risk of flooding through surface water runoff
 The scale and siting of the dwellings within the site would result in a
harmful impact to the setting of the surrounding and nearby listed
buildings and heritage assets.
This was seconded by Councillor Coote.
RESOLVED to refuse the application
Speakers: Councillor J De Vries, Councillor M Elsey (Chair of Ashdon PC), P
Horrigan, M Horrigan, S Patrick (Ashdon Flood Group), Dr J Padfield and J Grey
(Ashdon Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group) spoke against the application and
J Smith spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the application.

PC103

UTT/20/3263/FUL - LAND NORTH OF BARTHOLOMEW CLOSE, GREAT
CHESTERFORD
The Planning Officer presented an application to amend plot 7 previously
approved under planning application UTT/19/2288/FUL. The proposal would
make a material change to plot 7 by increasing the floor space and external
appearance. The increase in floor space would accommodate the increase from
a 2-bedroom to a 3-bedroom property. A carport over the existing parking to the
side of the property was also proposed.
The application was recommended for approval.
Councillor Freeman proposed that the application be approved. This was
seconded by Councillor Pavitt.
RESOLVED to approve the application
Speakers: J Snares spoke in support of the application..

PC104

UTT/20/2653/FUL - THE JOYCE FRANKLAND ACADEMY, CAMBRIDGE
ROAD, NEWPORT
The Development Management Team Leader presented an application to vary
conditions 2 (plans), 3 (WSI), 4 (foul drainage), 5 (construction management
plan), 6 (surface water drainage), 7 (arboriculture), 9 (external finishes), 14
(arboriculture), 19 (vehicular access), 20 (pedestrian crossing), and 22 (parking)
attached to planning application UTT/18/0739/FUL (approved under appeal
APP/C1570/W/19/322942).

Page 11

Councillor Coote proposed that the application be approved. This was seconded
by Councillor Fairhurst.
RESOLVED to approve the application
Speakers: C Campbell spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the
application..

PC105

UTT/20/2450/FUL - BARN ADJ. LITTLE MORTIMERS, WATER END, WATER
END ROAD, ASHDON
The Planning Officer presented an application for the demolition of an existing
barn and proposed replacement structure to provide 1 dwelling.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to the members questions, the Development Manager clarified that
planning permission had been previously given due to the prior notification
process. Throughout the previously approved applications, the proposed
dwelling had already been approved in terms of layout, access, scale, form,
design and appearance and therefore the purpose of this application was to
decide whether there were any material planning reasons why the demolition of
the barn cannot take place.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be approved with additional
conditions, to be drafted by the Planning Team, which would cover the following:
 Further information as to the landscaping works be provided
 Renewable energy solutions, including a renewable drainage solution, be
installed in the development
 A Construction Management Plan to be submitted, prior to building work
commencing
This was seconded by Councillor Merifield.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.
Speakers: Councillor J De Vries and L Green spoke against the application.

PC106

UTT/20/2299/FUL - LAND EAST OF FRIARS LANE, HATFIELD HEATH
The Planning Officer presented an application seeking planning permission for
the erection of a fence. The fence would be constructed with chestnut posts
at a maximum height of 1.5m from the ground, with a centre to centre
distance between the posts of 1.8m. Galvanised wire stock fencing would be
stapled to the posts to a height of 1.15m with a single strand top wire running
along the top of the post.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.

Page 12

Members raised concerns that the application would result in the enclosure of
underdeveloped, agricultural land and the implications that this would have for
the wildlife corridor.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be refused on the grounds of
the impact to the Metropolitan Green Belt. This was seconded by Councillor
Lemon.
RESOLVED to refuse the application
Speakers: V Ranger spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the
application.
Councillor LeCount left the meeting at 18:35.

PC107

UTT/20/2541/FUL - COTT MOOR, OLD MEAD ROAD, HENHAM
The Development Manager presented an application for planning permission for
the creation of new vehicular access.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Councillor Fairhurst proposed that the application be approved. This was
seconded by Councillor Freeman.
RESOLVED to approve the application
The meeting ended at 18:41

Page 13

Agenda Item 3
UTT/20/3419/DFO – (GREAT DUNMOW)
Major)
PROPOSAL:

Details following outline approval UTT/13/2107/OP and UTT/18/1826/DFO
- details of layout, scale, landscaping and appearance relating to the
development of the site to provide 464 residential dwellings and
associated infrastructure works

LOCATION:

Land West of Woodside Way Woodside Way Dunmow

APPLICANT:

Bellway Homes

AGENT:

Savills

EXPIRY DATE:

06 April 2021

CASE OFFICER:

William Allwood

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits / Adjacent Ancient Woodland, County Wildlife Site and SSSI.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site lies on the western edge of Great Dunmow to the west of Woodside
Way, and forms the southern part of an outline approved housing development site known
as “Land to west of Woodside Way” comprising 790 dwellings and associated infrastructure,
including internal road network, granted under UTT/13/2107/OP. The site is currently in
arable agricultural use and comprises the land parcels located to the north of the new
internal spine road of the outline approved wider development on Land to the West of
Woodside Way, to the east of the town of Great Dunmow. The sites western boundary abuts
High Wood (SSSI), while open fields lie to the north and east of the site. The site is
accessed by a new spine road currently under construction by the applicant, which will
provide access from the B1256 Stortford Road, and Woodside Way located to the east of the
application site.

2.2

High Wood runs along the western boundary; the Barratts David Wilson site lies to the north
of the application site. The site consists of fields previously used for agricultural purposes.
The western field runs north/south and is adjacent to High Wood. The eastern frontage field
wraps around Canada Cottages and the adjoining builder’s yard.

2.3

There is a public right of way running northwards from the B1256 from a point approximately
halfway along the site frontage. This runs up to the area of woodland plantation and then
turns to the east towards Woodside Way and passes another area of woodland plantation.
There is a bridleway running up the western boundary of the site adjacent to High Wood.

2.4

There are hedgerows and ditches along the field boundaries. An oil pipeline crosses through
the application site. The frontage of the site is largely open and there are clear views into the
site from the B1256.

2.5

The land rises up from the B1256 to the central field boundary which forms a ridge. The land
then falls away again towards the northern boundary.

Page 14

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This application is for the Approval of Reserved Matters for the details of layout, scale,
landscaping and appearance to provide 464 residential dwellings, following the grant of
outline planning permission on the 27th October 2015 under reference UTT/13/2107/OP. The
outline planning permission secured planning conditions pertaining to the following:













3.2

Commencement of development
Phasing
Foul and Surface Water Drainage
Site Waste Management Plan
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Wildlife Protection Plan
Biodiversity Mitigation Plan
Archaeology
Details of Lighting
Deer Fencing to High Wood
Priority Junction to Woodside Way
Roundabout to Stortford Road

The outline approval was granted subject to an Agreement under Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended, which covered the following matters:













Affordable housing
Contribution to education provision
Transfer of land for primary school and community facilities
Contribution to healthcare provision
Provision of LEAPS, NEAP, public open space and associated maintenance payment
Provision of sports pitches, pavilions and associated maintenance payment
Provision of allotments
Payment of commuted sum in relation to the proposed signalised pedestrian/ cycle
crossing, and associated Highway works
Residential Travel Plan
Provision of bus service
Maintenance fencing to High Wood SSS1
Monitoring fees and Councils costs

3.3

The site comprises the southern parcels of the site at Woodside Way, and is currently
formed of 3 agricultural fields, measuring 26.1ha or 64.5 acres. The site broadly slopes
downwards from north to south.

3.4

In terms of density, the Outline Parameter Density Plan has recently been amended by a
non-material amendment application (LPA Ref: UTT/21/0274/NMA). Through pre-application
discussions, the applicant was encouraged to revise the density parameter plan to create a
focus around the community facilities and the playing fields in the centre of the Outline site;
and to provide decreasing densities to the south and west. Through the amendment, the
amount of high density development (30 to 40 dwellings per hectare) has been reduced from
what was consented at outline stage and that which remains has shifted away from the
Stortford Road frontage, whilst a much larger area covered by the lowest density (15 to 25
dwellings per hectare), being located along the western edge, adjacent High Wood, and
along the Stortford Road frontage so as to reduce the apparent density of the development.

3.5

The proposed dwellings as stated would be a mix of 1-4-bedroom units, with affordable
housing provision, indicating a mix of shared ownership and affordable rent, as approved as

Page 15

part of the s106 Agreement. 36 units (8%) will be provided as homes suitable for the elderly,
comprising 16 bungalows and 20 ground floor maisonettes. The housing mix was agreed
with Officers in the early stages of the pre-application process. All private homes will comply
with Nationally Described Space Standards and all affordable units have been designed as
M4(2) compliant accessible and adaptable dwellings.
3.6

The dwellings will be designed so they will be tenure blind in appearance through the use of
the same materials. The height of the proposed dwellings will range from single storey
bungalows to 2 storey houses and flats in scale.

3.7

The proposed housing mix is outlined below:
PRIVATE DWELLINGS:
16 x 2-bed bungalows
52 x 2-bedroom houses
164 x 3-bedroom houses
84 x 4-bedroom houses
Total Private Dwellings: 316
AFFORDABLE DWELLINGS:
20 x 1-bedroom maisonette flats at ground floor
20 x 1-bedroom flats at first floor
64 x 2-bedroom houses
44 x 3-bedroom houses
Total Affordable dwellings: 148
Grand Total: 464

3.8

With respect to affordable housing, the s106 agreement for the development of the wider site
requires that 40% of all dwellings in any phase are provided as affordable housing, with the
exception of the first phase of the development, which was to comprise 160 dwellings (of a
total of 790). Within the remaining phases, 40% of 630 homes were to be provided as
affordable – resulting in a total of 252 affordable homes across the Outline site as a whole.
148 of these homes are provided on the Bellway land.

3.9

The previously approved phasing plan (Ref: UTT/16/1467/DOC), which provided for 160
dwellings as part of Phase 1, was amended by the submission and re-discharge of Condition
3 under LPA Ref: UTT/19/2686/DOC. The Phasing Plan approved under the latter
application achieves a more even distribution of affordable housing across the site as a
whole, through the introduction of ‘sub phases’ and the removal of the cluster of 160 market
homes previously consented.

3.10

Car parking will be provided predominantly on-plot in the form of garages and driveway
parking and is considered Policy compliant and comprises 1,099 car parking spaces.
Allocated resident car parking is based on UDC standards and each space measures 5.5m x
2.9m. These are:
• 1 bed dwelling - 1 space
• 2 and 3 dwellings - 2 spaces
• 4 bed dwelling - 3 spaces

3.11

In terms of visitor parking, there are 116 visitor parking spaces that are located around the
site, which represents 1 space per 4 dwellings. All visitor spaces are fully integrated into the
street scene. Finally, and in terms of cycle parking, all properties without a garage will be
provided with covered and secure cycle parking. Houses and bungalows will have small

Page 16

cycle sheds located in rear gardens. Apartment residents will have access to communal
cycle storage.
3.12

The existing landscaping provides a mature site setting of which this is stated would be
enhanced where necessary by new structural and amenity tree planting. A new ‘entrance
green’ public open space featuring a SuDS attenuation basin is proposed adjacent to the
main Site entrance; a proposed new area of woodland and scrub planting will provide a
positive ecological corridor between the existing area of relatively young woodland plantation
and the SSSI woodland to the west; and a planted 20m buffer will be maintained between
the edge of the development and the SSSI Woodland. The buffer will be planted with a new
boundary hedgerow and a substantial linear belt of thorny scrub species as well as a new
tree belt planting to protect the edge of the woodland. The existing bridleway will be retained,
but access to it will be discouraged from within the development. A new path will be created
within the eastern edge of the buffer so this new landscape feature can be enjoyed by the
public.

3.13

The development would provide public open space within the heart of the development,
together with including tree and hedgerow planting, habitat creation, including natural and
semi-natural green space, children’s and youth play areas, allotments, pitch quality ground,
including sports pavilions, and an area set aside for a Primary School.

3.14

In accordance with Outline permission and associated S106 agreement, the wider
development will provide the following land uses:






3.15

Primary school – 2.1 hectares commensurate with 2-form entry primary school.
Community centre/ sports pavilion – Definition of Community Centre Land in the S106
“shall mean 0.5 hectares on which the Community centre and one of the pavilions
referred to in clause 1.50 and associated parking shall be constructed approximately in
the position coloured orange on the Plan”.
Pitch Quality Ground – to provide 3.07ha. hectares, formed by 4no. mini football and
1no. adult football pitch to be confirmed and secured through the S106 Agreement
Amenity green space i.e. NEAPS, LEAPS and LAPs – to provide 1.21 hectares, and
Natural/ semi natural green space – to provide 7.42 hectares.

The applicant advises that the development would promote sustainability and reduce energy
consumption, and the applicant advises that as a matter of course build homes above the
standards required under Building Regulations. This approach includes the following:






Higher levels of insulation.
Higher performance windows and doors.
Reduced air infiltration rates.
Enhanced thermal bridging performance; and
Maximisation of passive solar gains.

3.16

Fibre to the premises will be provided to all homes with ultrafast fibre optic internet being
available to each and every home prior to their occupation.

3.17

The site electrical infrastructure will be reinforced, and ducting will be provided to all homes
to allow a EV charging points to be installed in the future

3.18

In terms of biodiversity benefits, the applicant has advised that a number of wide-ranging
ecological benefits are proposed. It is recognised that ecology is playing an ever-increasing
role in the determination of new developments and any application must demonstrate, as
one of its key pillars, that it delivers a Biodiversity Net Gain over the previous use of the land.

Page 17

The table below sets out the various improvements resulting from the development
proposals:

Feature

Measure

High Wood SSSI

- Protection of eastern boundary of SSSI through deer (people)
fence.
- Signage to deter trespass into SSSI and leaflets to new
residents warning of sensitivity.
- 20m buffer to High Wood to protect from construction activities
and disturbance during occupation phase;
- Existing bridleway maintained and protected.
- Hedgerows will be retained wherever feasible and enhanced by
‘gapping up’ with native species/species of value to protected
species.
- Existing narrow poor-quality grassland margins will be retained,
enhanced and sensitively managed to create a diverse and
structurally complex graded edge habitat.
- Existing plantation woodland enhanced through selective
thinning, internal glade creation and scalloping along southern
edge and central east-west ride.
- Tussock and wildflower grassland to be sown in opened-up
areas.
- New wildlife corridor to be created to link plantation to High
Wood SSSI and western buffer.
- Retained woodland and hedgerows and sensitive lighting will
facilitate badger movement through the site
- Sensitive woodland, hedgerow and margin management
together with new semi-natural scrub and woodland habitat
provision will favour foraging activity.
- Retained plantation woodland, hedgerows, and creation of a
new wildlife corridor will facilitate bat movement through the
site
- Sensitive management to promote a more varied structure to
the plantation woodland and hedgerows will favour bat foraging
activity.
- Trees with suitability for roosting will be retained and protected
from indirect impacts (lighting disturbance, loss of connectivity).
- The housing development and amenity open space will also
provide foraging habitat for pipistrelle species, with wildlife
friendly planting to be incorporated including nectar producing
species attractive to invertebrates and native tree species.
- New artificial roost features to be incorporated within new
properties and within the retained plantation.
- Sensitive lighting will negate impacts to key foraging,
commuting and potential roosting habitats.
- Newly created woodland/scrub along the western boundary,
gapping up and sensitive management of retained hedgerows,
and enhancement of the plantation woodland to promote
understory growth and transitional edge habitats, will provide
enhanced natural nesting opportunities and winter/summer
foraging resources for a broad breeding and wintering bird
assemblage.
- Bird boxes integrated in new properties and installed on
retained trees will deliver additional artificial nesting options.

Hedgerow

Plantation woodland

Badger

Bats

Birds

Page 18

Great crested newt

Hazel dormouse

Invertebrates

Reptiles

Brown hare

Common toad

Hedgehog

3.19

- Off-site mitigation will be delivered for skylark in the form of 4 x
nesting plots.
- Newly created habitats (semi-natural grassland, scrub and
woodland) along the northern and western boundaries of the
wider site, together with gapping up and sensitive management
of existing hedgerows will significantly improve landscape
connectivity for currently isolated populations.
- Enhancement of plantation woodland to promote understory
growth and transitional edge habitats will provide enhanced
refuge opportunities and foraging resources.
- Wildlife-friendly SuDS design may deliver new breeding
locations within the site.
- Retention and enhancement of existing plantation woodland
and hedgerows, together with new woodland and scrub
planting, will improve connectivity through the site and in the
long-term may encourage the presence and enable the spread
of this species.
- Sensitive management to promote a more varied structure to
the plantation woodland with transitional graded edge, glades
and scalloped areas will favour invertebrates by providing a
range of microhabitats suitable for different species.
- Retention of the existing plantation, new planting within the
20m western buffer to High Wood, and sensitive lighting, will
negate impacts.
- Sensitive management to promote a more varied structure to
the plantation woodland with transitional graded edge, glades
and scalloped areas will provide enhanced reptile habitat on
site, with a mosaic of basking, foraging and refuge
opportunities.
- New habitats (scrub, woodland and SuDS) to be created along
the western and southern boundaries.
- Provision of two purpose-built refugia will deliver hibernation
habitat.
- Retained plantation will continue to provide refuge area, linking
to buffer planting to west and created grasslands in the north
west quadrant of the wider site.
- Retention and enhancement of plantation woodland, hedgerow
and margins, together with northern and western buffer ‘wildlife
corridors’ will improve connectivity and facilitate the
colonisation of created SuDS and associated grassland
habitats by this species.
- Retention and enhancement of plantation woodland, hedgerow
and margins, together with northern and western buffer ‘wildlife
corridors’ will deliver improved connectivity through the site,
refuge, and foraging opportunities for hedgehogs and polecat.

The applicant advised that opportunities to maximise semi-natural habitat creation within the
open space areas, including through native tree and scrub planting, wildflower and tussock
grassland, has contributed to a site wide Biodiversity Net Gain of 11.52%, in excess of the
Government’s emerging target of 10% for all new developments. Extensive enhancements
to existing wildlife features, creation of new habitats, and the sensitive design of the wider
residential scheme all demonstrate the applicant’s commitment to being a sustainable
homebuilder with ecology at the forefront.

Page 19

3.20

Finally, the detailed proposals contained within this Approval of Reserved Matters
application have been subject to extensive consultation with Officers and Members of
Uttlesford District Council, Great Dunmow Town Council and Sport England. The scheme
has been developed through a iterative process involving multiple design workshops,
members presentations, and meetings with officers addressing masterplan principles,
through to detailed design.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The outline planning application under reference UTT/13/2107/OP was accompanied by an
Environmental Statement, as it was considered that the proposed development of 790
dwellings and associated works constituted Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
development under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2011, as amended.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and Article 8 of
the First Protocol, regarding the right of respect for a person's private and family life and
home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these issues have been
taken into account in the determination of this application.

5.

APPLICANTS CASE

5.1

The following documents have been submitted in support of the application:





















Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement
Drainage Strategy
Hard and Soft Landscaping Proposals
Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Masterplan, and Layouts
Proposed Storey Heights Plan
Proposed Materials Plan
Affordable Housing Location Plan
Proposed Parking Layout Plan
Detailed House Type Elevations and Floor Plans
Proposed Street Scenes
Play Area Proposals
Indicative Sports Pitch Plan
Lighting Layout
Pedestrian Connectivity Plan
Site Layout Visibility and Swept Paths
Refuse Strategy
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal
Bird Hazard Management Plan

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The application site has a long planning history; the most relevant planning applications are
listed below.

6.2

UTT/13/0004/SO: Request for Scoping Opinion in respect of a proposed development of up
to 850 homes, community buildings including site for health centre, primary school, playing
fields with ancillary buildings (dual use with schools and local community), allotments and

Page 20

supporting road and drainage infrastructure. Land West of Woodside Way Woodside Way
Great Dunmow. Provided
6.3

UTT/13/2107/OP
Outline application, with all matters reserved, for up to 790 homes,
including primary school, community buildings, open space including playing fields and
allotments and associated infrastructure
APPROVED

6.4

UTT/16/1466/DFO Reserved matters approval for the accesses to the site and principal roads
within the site including spine road following outline application UTT/13/2107/OP
APPROVED

6.5

UTT/16/1467/DOC Application to discharge Conditions 3(Phasing plan) 10(wildlife protection)
11 (Biodiversity) 12(Written scheme of archaeological investigation) 14(deer fencing)
15(Woodside way junction) 16(Roundabout onto Stortford Rd) attached to UTT/13/2107/OP
dated 27 October 2015 Discharge Conditions in Part

6.6

UTT/17/0004/DOC Application to discharge in part condition 5(surface water drainage
scheme) attached to UTT/13/2107/OP dated 27.10.2015. Discharge Conditions in Part

6.7

UTT/18/1826/DFO Details following outline approval UTT/13/2107/OP for up to 790 homes,
including primary school, community buildings, open space including playing fields and
allotments and associated infrastructure - details of access into the site (amendments to the
access approved under UTT/16/1466/DFO)

6.8

UTT/19/2686/DOC Application to Discharge Condition 3 (Phasing plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This plan shall identify each
proposed phase, the timing of delivery, together with the number of dwellings and
percentage of affordable units to be delivered) attached to UTT/13/2107/OP Discharge
Conditions in Full

6.9

UTT/20/0420/NMA Non-Material Amendment to UTT/16/1466/DFO - insertion of a condition
to list approved plan numbers. APPROVED

6.10

UTT/20/0506/DOC Application to discharge part 1 of Condition 12 (Archaeology) attached to
UTT/13/2107/OP. Discharge Conditions in Part

6.11

UTT/20/0866/FUL Variation of condition listing the approved plans as added by
UTT/20/0420/NMA to UTT/16/1466/DFO - amendments to the spine road APPROVED

6.12

UTT/20/0900/DOC Application to discharge conditions 10 (Wildlife protection plan) and 11
(Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement plan) attached to UTT/13/2107/OP Discharge
Conditions in Full

6.13

UTT/20/1109/DOC Application to discharge condition 5 (surface water drainage) and 6 (foul
water strategy) attached to UTT/13/2107/OP Discharge Conditions in Full

6.14

UTT/20/1449/DOC Application to discharge conditions 7 (site waste management plan), 8
(construction environmental management plan) and 9 (construction traffic management plan)
attached to UTT/13/2107/OP Discharge Conditions in Full

6.15

UTT/20/2413/NMA Non-material amendment to UTT/20/0866/FUL - The removal and
replacement of trees T139 and T140 to facilitate the construction of the S278 works along
Stortford Road APPROVE

6.16

UTT/20/2429/NMA Non-material amendment to UTT/20/0866/FUL - the removal of trees
along the western and northern edge of young plantation W174 to accommodate a proposed
drainage run. APPROVE

Page 21

6.17

UTT/21/0274/NMA Non-material amendments to Amendments to UTT/13/2107/OP
including- consented parameter plans to facilitate changes to sports facilities layout;
allotment land; density; and access APPROVE

7.

POLICIES

7.1

S70(2) of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the local planning authority, in
dealing with a planning application, to have regard to:
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as
material to the application,
(aza) a post-examination draft neighbourhood development plan, so far as material to the
application,
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
(c) any other material considerations.

7.2

S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the
Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

7.3

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

7.4

Uttlesford District Local Plan 2005
-

7.5

Policy S1 – Development Limits for Major Urban Areas
Policy S7 – The Countryside
Policy GEN1 – Access
Policy GEN2 – Design
Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
Policy ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
Policy ENV4 – Ancient Monuments and Sites of Archaeological Importance
Policy ENV5 – Protection of Agricultural Land
Policy ENV7 – The Protection of the Natural Environment- Designated Sites
Policy ENV10 – Noise Sensitive Development
Policy ENV12 – Protection of Water Resources
Policy ENV13 – Exposure to Poor Air Quality
Policy ENV14 – Contaminated Land
Policy ENV15 – Renewable Energy
Policy H9 – Affordable Housing
Policy H10 - Housing Mix
Policy LC2 – Access to Leisure and Cultural Facilities
Policy LC3 – Community Facilities
Policy LC4 – Provision of Outdoor Sport and Recreational Facilities beyond
Development Limits

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace (2005)
The Essex Design Guide
Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)

Page 22

Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
7.6

Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan
The Neighbourhood Plan was made in December 2016. It identifies the site as ‘Proposed
Development Site 3 – Land West of Woodside Way’ for approximately 800 residential units.
The following policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to the proposed development
and have been taken into consideration in the preparation of this application for Reserved
Matters.
● DS8: Buildings for Life
● DS9: Hedgerows
● DS10: Eaves Height
● DS11: Rendering, Pargetting and Roofing
● DS12: Integration of Affordable Housing
● DS13: Local Housing Needs.
● LSC1: Landscape, Setting and Character
● NE1: Identified Woodland Sites
● NE2: Wildlife Corridors
● NE3: Street Trees on Development Sites
● NE4: Screening
● SOS2: Sporting Infrastructure Requirements
● GA1: Core Footpath and Bridleway Network
● GA2: Integrating Developments (Paths and
Ways)
● GA3: Public Transport
● HEI3: Primary School Provision
The Great Dunmow Town Design Statement (2007-2008) also provides relevant design
guidance.

8.
8.1

CONSULTATIONS
This Approval of Reserved Matters application has been subject to recent amendments, and
re-consultations with Statutory and Non-Statutory consultees. This summary of responses
below with therefore generally only deal with the most up-to-date replies, to avoid any
confusion.
Local Highway Authority

8.2

Have advised that from a highway and transportation perspective, the impact of the proposal
is acceptable to the Highway Authority subject to appropriate mitigation and conditions

Page 23

8.3

UDC Housing Enabling Officer
The layout plan shows that the affordable housing is to be pepper-potted throughout the
development in clusters of no more than 15 units and the appearance of the properties is to
be tenure blind which therefore meets expectations.
I note that 32% affordable housing will be delivered which adheres to the terms of the S106
agreement with Bellway Homes and this will therefore provide 148 affordable homes and
assist towards meeting housing demand for the district.

8.4

Anglian Water
Foul water: We have reviewed the applicant’s submitted foul drainage strategy and flood
risk documentation and consider that the impacts on the public foul sewerage network are
acceptable to Anglian Water at this stage.
Surface water: We have reviewed the applicant’s submitted surface water drainage
information (flood risk assessment) and have found that the proposed method of surface
water discharge does not relate to an Anglian Water asset. The Local Planning Authority
should seek the advice of the Lead Local Flood Authority

8.5

Essex County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
Having reviewed the Surface Water Drainage Strategy and the associated documents which
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of the planning
permission UTT/20/3419/DFO.

8.6

ECC Place Services Archaeology
I can confirm that the archaeological fieldwork for Areas 1-5 of UTT/13/2107/OP (Land West
of Woodside Way, Woodside Way) have been completed and monitored by the historic
environment advisors. If a request is made for the partial release of part 2 of Condition 12, I
can confirm this has been fulfilled for Areas 1-5.

8.7

UDC Environmental Health
It is noted that there will be building services plant and a substation, to control noise
emissions I recommend a planning condition.

8.8

NATS Safeguarding
The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding aspect and
does not conflict with our safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS (En Route) Public
Limited Company ("NERL") has no safeguarding objection to the proposal.

8.9

Sport England
An objection is made to the planning application due to potential concerns about how the
development layout may prejudice the use of the proposed sports ground.
LPA Response
The detailed proposals for the design and layout of the sports ground are to be progressed
through a future reserved matters application for the sports ground asset out in the S106
Agreement; the sports pitch layout submitted as part of this application is therefore indicative
only

.

Page 24

8.10

Essex Police Crime Prevention
We would welcome the opportunity to consult on this development to assist the developer
with their obligation under this policy and to achieve a Secured by Design Homes award.

8.11 London MAG Stansted
We have no aerodrome safeguarding objections to the proposal subject to conditions.
8.12

ECC Place Services Ecology
No objections subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.

8.13

CLH Pipeline Systems Ltd
Advise of the presence of a pipeline in proximity to the development

8.14

Great Dunmow Town Council
Members are supportive of the new plans, including the removal of some of the parking
courts and additional buffer screening to the west and High Wood. The Council would
support a further reduction of parking courts if it were proposed.
Further information is requested to clarify the access and parking arrangements for the
properties immediately to the east of the new community building.
There are outstanding concerns that the proposed walking route to the new all-through
school on the opposite side of the Stortford Road will not be safe.
There have been discussions with the developer and ECC Highways to discuss
recommendations of our transport consultant on the attached report.

8.15

Third Party Representations
1 Cedar Close - The original plan for this site was for 790 houses WITH community benefit
provision. By 'selling' off the land into smaller parcels to 'other' developers they are allowing
it to be developed piecemeal with no community provision. The developer has already
diluted the original promised sports provision but even that is not included in this application,
meaning nearly 500 houses will be built with none of the promised benefits, including a
school. All of these residents will need to access the existing town infrastructure which is
already creaking at the seams. We cannot prevent this development now but There should
be a limit on how much housing is completed before the commitments promised by the
developer are also provided.
36 North Street - strongly oppose this plan's proposal to fell 5 healthy, established trees
and 5 areas of native hedging, with partial removal of a further group of each. The
Arboricultural Impact Assessment states that removal of these is "to accommodate the
layout", indicating the applicant's disregard for their value to the natural environment. I
suggest it is the layout which instead needs changing to accommodate these pre-existing
trees and hedging. The Tree Works Schedule shows the remaining life expectancy of the
trees in question to total in excess of 80 years. Similarly, the hedging has a combined
predicted further life expectancy of 120+ years. 2 centuries of benefit to the environment
cannot be disregarded: - trees clean the air we breathe, alleviate flooding, give structure and
stability to the subsoil and support all manner of ecosystems and wildlife. Each of these
presents an indisputable and increasing problem in today's climate. The threatened hedging
is mixed, native and fruit-bearing providing food and shelter to our birds through the winter
and nesting opportunity in the spring and summer months. The schedule attributes value in
simple terms of life expectancy; it fails to recognise that a tree’s contribution to biodiversity

Page 25

increases exponentially as it matures. Any argument that 'only' a relatively small number is
under threat of removal fails to acknowledge the huge net loss to the environment of current
development ambition and redundant local authority policy which combined have already
allowed substantial damage to be inflicted on our landscape through loss of green spaces,
trees, hedgerow and wildlife habitat. Each felled tree has individually contributed to this
situation. The natural environment is not a disposable luxury - it supports all of life. Nor
should it be viewed as a profit-making asset. There is no justification for the removal of the
trees or hedging and I urge you to require the applicant to amend their plan to ensure they
are retained and protected in the long-term.
16 Pine Avenue - Having previously commented on the Barratt planning application
UTT/20/2220/DFO for 326 homes I now see there are applications in place for the full 790
homes and feel the need to comment further. I accept that the developments in question
should, and will, ultimately go ahead as the points raised below are not insurmountable.
Therefore, whilst this comment is listed as an objection, in practice I'm simply asking that the
applications be upgraded to accord with the original outline planning permission.
In so doing I note that the application for 77 homes (UTT/20/0901/DFO) and 105 homes
(UTT/20/1816/DFO) appear to have been superseded by the application for 464 homes
(UTT/20/3419/DFO) from Bellway. This is all very confusing, but I assume the 326 homes
from Barratt on (UTT/20/2220/DFO) and the 464 from Bellway on (UTT20/3419/DFO) will be
the final applications and that the others are no longer relevant. If that understanding is
incorrect then I ask for further guidance.
By way of a reminder, outline planning permission was granted on 27 October 2015, with all
matters reserved, for the redevelopment of the site for up to 790 homes, including primary
school, community buildings, open space including playing fields and allotments and
associated infrastructure (LPA Ref: UTT/13/2107/OP). Applications from both developers
also reference this within their planning statements.
However, apart from the sports fields, nether application includes these commitments within
their development proposals. I can see from the plans there is space reserved for a school
but no commitment to build one. I can't see anything resembling "community buildings" or
anything that might be described as "associated infrastructure".
I understand the economic reality of such a development, in that the developer will need to
generate a revenue stream as soon as possible. However, these provisions cannot be left
until the project nears completion, at which point there would be little or no motivation on the
part of the developers and the council would have little or no power of enforcement.
We need to have a clear and binding commitment, from the developers, to deliver these
infrastructure provisions at a reasonable stage within the development prior to granting
approval.
Also, of note are the independent reports commissioned by Dunmow Town Council relating
to ecology and traffic, for which I commend them and urge the planning committee to take
note of.
The TN1 traffic report particularly highlights the fact that the section of Stortford Road which
is to provide access to the Barratt/Bellway development is the major route for all vehicles
including HGV to the towns and villages north of Great Dunmow, therefore in the absence of
any other road developments traffic flow will become heavier.
This together with the new school being built to the south side of the same stretch of road
makes the intended left in left out road junction with Stortford Road unsuitable as it will result
in additional and unnecessary traffic running up to the existing roundabouts at each end of
that section of Stortford Road. It therefore seems imperative to mitigate the danger by

Page 26

upgrading that junction as recommended by report TN1.
38 Maple Way - This is another development built without any consideration for residents of
Dunmow. It's little more than a parasitic development tacked on to Dunmow with little to no
additions to services in the town. Along with the new Quarry development planned, UTC is
trying to force through Easton New town piecemeal. Dunmow, 1000 years to develop, 10 to
destroy. Destruction of a beautiful town into a carpark simply to line the pockets of
developers.

LPA Response
The application site is allocated for housing development, both within the adopted Uttlesford
Local Plan 2005 and the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan. The s106 covers delivery of
community infrastructure, including a school, community centre and sports pitches. The
timing of delivery of infrastructure provided by the wider development is linked through the
agreed S106 to ensure it is brought forward at the agreed appropriate stage of the
development. The community centre, for example, is required to be completed prior to
occupation of 50% of all dwellings.

9.
9.1

APPRAISAL
The issues to consider in the determination of this Approval of Reserved Matters application
are:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

A

Principle of development
Layout
Scale
Landscaping
Appearance

Principle of development

9.2 Compliance with the above policies as set out in Section 7 of this Report was addressed at
the outline stage under reference UTT/13/2107/OP, whereby the principle of the
development was agreed, subject to a series of pre-commencement conditions relating to
the following:












9.3

Site Phasing
Surface and foul water provision
Site Waste Management
Construction Environmental Management
Construction Traffic Management
Wildlife Protection Plan
Biodiversity Management Plan
Archaeological works
Lighting scheme
Deer fencing
Junction to Woodside Way
Roundabout to Stortford Road

Further, and as set out in Section 3 of this Report, the outline approval was granted subject
to an Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as
amended, which covered the following matters:

Page 27














Affordable housing
Contribution to education provision
Transfer of land for primary school and community facilities
Contribution to healthcare provision
Provision of LEAPS, NEAP, public open space and associated maintenance
payment
Provision of sports pitches, pavilions and associated maintenance payment
Provision of allotments
Payment of commuted sum in relation to the proposed signalised pedestrian/
cycle crossing, and associated Highway works
Residential Travel Plan
Provision of bus service
Maintenance fencing to High Wood SSS1
Monitoring fees and Councils costs

Overall, the Reserved Matters application is considered to accord with the principles of the OPP
and the associated parameter plans. The proposals have developed in response to the iterative
design process undertaken between UDC officers and the applicant, resulting in a high-quality
scheme which accords with the principles established through the Outline Planning Approval
Regard has also been had to the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan, with which the scheme is
in accordance. Further, the applicant has engaged positively with Great Dunmow Town Council
who have shown their support for the development.
B

Layout

9.4

The layout has been designed to comply with the approved parameter plans forming part of
the outline consent, following discussion with Officers, Members of Uttlesford District
Council, Sport England and Great Dunmow Town Council.

9.5

The arrangement of buildings has taken into account the site’s specific context, specifically
with respect to providing an appropriate interface between the proposed residential
development, Stortford Road to the south, and the location of green infrastructure within,
and adjoining, the proposed development. The layout comprises a mix of attached,
detached and semi-detached houses and bungalows, together with detached two storey
blocks of flats. All of the proposed houses and flats are provided with generous outdoor
amenity space in the form of rear gardens, which have been designed to ensure they are
not overlooked by neighbouring dwellings.

9.6

The layout is characterised by three distinct character areas, being “Woodside”, to the north
of the playing fields, “Parkside” in the south western corner and enclosed by woodland to
two sides, and “Dunmow Edge” to the south east, wrapping around the finger of land at
Canada Cottages and forming the new street frontage to Stortford Road. On the north side
of the playing fields, “Woodside” creates a character which confirms that it is part of the
centre of the overall scheme. Positioned alongside the community centre and to the north of
the playing fields, the built form reads as part of the hub of uses that marks the centre of the
site. In accordance with the parameters plans, the density of development is at its highest
and the rigid layout of the streets sets them apart from the gently flowing form of the streets
to the south.

9.7

To the south west, “Parkside” is the first part of the scheme that comes into view when
approaching Great Dunmow from the west. It sits between the Stortford Road frontage and
the retained plantation woodland that runs along the ridge through the centre of the site, with
new homes facing outwards and built at a low density of development as part of the

Page 28

transition between the built-up area of the town and the countryside beyond, using the
woodland on its west side as a new and permanent edge to the town. A densely planted
landscape buffer is proposed to prevent pedestrian access to the woodlands beyond,
ensuring their ecological protection.
9.8

The south eastern part of the site, “Dunmow Edge”, creates the connection between the new
edge of the town and the existing built-up area. The same density of development as
Parkside follows the Stortford Road frontage, taking advantage of views across the high
quality public realm created by the green infrastructure against the main road, but increases
northwards to the new playing fields where a more urban form of development is proposed.
In addition, areas of open space, including land for sports pitches; amenity space; and
natural and semi-natural open space are provided in accordance with the OPP. An
indicative layout has been provided for the sports pitches, although the pitches themselves
do not form part of this application. In accordance with the s106 Agreement, this land will be
provided with drainage, and grassed to the standards required by 'Planning and Design for
Outdoor Sport and Play' published by Fields in Trust in August 2008.

9.9

It is concluded therefore that the proposed layout adopts many of the positive design
principles incorporated in the approved Parameter Plan set out within the Outline Planning
Approval. Further, these proposals have been assessed against the Design Council/ CABE
Building for Life principles. The proposal is therefore considered to be consistent with the
provisions of Policies GEN2 and GEN4 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, Policy
DS8 of the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan, and the Essex Design Guide.

C

Scale

9.10

The master plan has been designed to comply with the building heights parameter plan
which is an approved plan and forms part of the outline consent UTT/13/2107OP.

9.11

The scale of the buildings within this phase has been established in the Building Heights
Parameter Plan approved through the Outline Planning Permission which provides for
building heights ranging from 5m to 11m / 13m across the application site. The proposed
development comprises predominantly two storey houses or blocks of flats, with 16 singlestorey bungalows interspersed throughout the development. All of the proposed buildings
are within the height range provided by the approved parameter plan.

9.12

The massing of individual and collective buildings has also been considered to correspond
with the scale parameters. A higher proportion of terraced and semi-detached forms have
been adopted in the higher ridge heights area. In contrast, more detached dwellings are
located within the lower ridge height areas.

9.13

It is therefore concluded that the proposed master plan complies with the approved building
heights parameter plan. The proposals are therefore considered to be generally consistent
with the provisions of Policies GEN2 and GEN4 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005,
Policy DS10 of the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan, and the Essex Design Guide.

D

Landscaping

9.14

The landscape strategy addresses the landscape, arboricultural and ecological constraints
and opportunities afforded by the site. These elements have been taken into account in
order to formulate a robust and holistic landscape strategy for the site. The overall vision for
the Site’s proposed new landscape and public realm is to create a distinctive, high quality
place, which is informed by best practice design guidance. Central to these proposals is to
create a pedestrian friendly environment with a strong sense of place. A new ‘entrance
green’ public open space featuring a SuDs attenuation basin is proposed adjacent to the
main Site entrance. This new public open space will create a positive and expansive green

Page 29

gateway at the main entrance into the Site (and to the wider masterplan area).
9.15

A LAP/LEAP Children’s Play area is to be provided within a new recreation ground that will
include a number of football pitches. In addition, a new pocket park with a LAP Play Area
will also be provided in the centre of the western half of the Site, providing play facilities and
public open space for new residents. A proposed new area of woodland and scrub planting
will provide a positive ecological corridor providing a link between the existing area of
relatively young woodland plantation and the SSSI woodland to the west.

9.16

A planted 20m buffer will be maintained between the edge of the development and the SSSI
Woodland. The buffer will be planted with a new boundary hedgerow and a substantial
linear belt of thorny scrub species as well as a new tree belt planting to protect the edge of
the woodland. The existing bridleway will be retained, but access to it will be discouraged
from within the development. A new path will be created within the eastern edge of the
buffer so this new landscape feature can be enjoyed by the public.

9.17

At the eastern end of the existing woodland block, the scalloping will create a small green at
the edge of the Spine Road. Again, some of the existing trees will be retained as standalone specimens which along with new tree planting will help create an instant landscape.
Street trees will largely comprise of varieties of indigenous trees. Different species will be
planted within different parts of the Site in order to both help with legibility and also to help to
define the different character areas that are being created.

9.18

Overall, the proposals provide a high quality multi-functional open space, which will serve a
range of requirements from toddlers to adults, whilst also providing a range of recreational
opportunities, and this arrangement is considered acceptable to the Local Planning
Authority. The proposals are therefore considered to be consistent with the provisions of
Policies ENV3 and LC4 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and Policy LSC1 of the
Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan.

E

Appearance

9.19

The proposed development draws upon the characteristics of the local vernacular to
reinforce the sense of place established by the layout of the development. The appearance
of the proposed residential units has been informed by the development of the different
character areas identified above. Within the “Woodside” character area, the continuity in the
built form is matched by repetition in the appearance of the house types, forming a backdrop
to the public space and highlighting the linear character. The northern side is finished in the
Forterra Atherstone Red brick (including additional brick detailing) with Gemini Forticrete
roof tiles in Mixed Russet (dark red/brown mix) above. The southern side comprises the
Forterra Kensington Cream brick with the Forticrete Gemini roof tile in Sunrise Bend
(red/orange mix). Render and pargeting marks the western end of the group, altering the
character where the houses face the entrance from Parkside Way.

9.20

Within “Dunmow Edge”, A wide palette of materials is proposed but grouped so that each
street uses one brick and one roof tile, making each one different from the next to assist in
navigation and wayfinding. Additional detail is added by render and pargeting, although this
can only be found on the east-west “main street” and the street scenes facing the spine road
and Stortford Road: areas where the built form reflects the main routes into Great Dunmow.
Within “Parkside”, materials are used to add to the “sense of place”, with houses on the
outer edges (including plots facing the pipeline easement and the retained field boundary)
finished with render and pargeting, feature brick detailing only used in the middle of the
three streets that spur off the spine road and weatherboarding restricted to houses that mark
the edge of the open space around the retained field boundary.

9.21

Overall, a simple palette of materials that includes variation in facing bricks, roof tiles and

Page 30

render is proposed, enlivened by weatherboarding, bay windows, a detailed roofscape, door
canopy detailing, and pargeting in specific locations throughout the site. In addition, selected
variations in house design respond to the constraints of the site, ensuring that a neighbourly
relationship is created with future phases to the north and east and that a strong frontage is
created along the southern boundary to Stortford Road.
9.22

In general terms, the proposed choice of materials will give a good variety of treatments
across the site, which would enhance the setting of the development. The proposals are
therefore considered to be consistent with the provisions of Policies GEN2 of the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and Policy DS11 of the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan.

10.

CONCLUSION

10.1 The submitted Reserved Matters would accord with the development plan and National
Planning Policy Framework 2019, and no material considerations indicate that the
application should be refused. Further, the scheme has the support of Great Dunmow
Town Council. The application accords with policy, will provides an important contribution
to housing land supply position in a high-quality design led scheme.
10.2 It is therefore recommended that approval be granted subject to conditions.
RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

1.

If within a period of 10 years from the date of planting the tree (or any tree planted in
replacement for it) is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies or becomes, in the opinion of the
local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same size and
species as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place within the first planting
season following the removal, uprooting, destruction or death of the original tree unless the
local planning authority gives its written consent to any variation.
REASON: To ensure the suitable provision of landscaping within the site in accordance with
Policies GEN2, GEN7 and ENV8 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

2.

Dwellings shall not be occupied until such time as their associated vehicle parking area
indicated on the approved plans, has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking
bays. The vehicle parking areas and associated turning areas shall be retained in this form
at all times. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of
vehicles that are related to the use of the development unless otherwise agreed with the
Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not
occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided in
accordance with Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as
County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.

3.

Dwellings shall not be occupied until such time as their associated cycle parking
indicated on the approved plans, has been provided.
REASON: To ensure appropriate bicycle parking is provided in accordance with Policy
DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

4.

Prior to first occupation of the dwellings they serve the private drive accesses from the

Page 31

spine road shall be provided with visibility splays of dimensions 2.4m by 43m in both
directions as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such
visibility splays shall be retained free of obstruction above 600mm at all times.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the accesses and
those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety in accordance with
policy DM1 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1. .
5.

The walking and cycling network (including links to the cycleway on to the B1256) shall
be provided as shown in principle on submitted plans PR187-01B, PR187-02-C, PR18703B and Pedestrian Connectivity 13/11/2020, the proposed shared cycle/footways
within the landscaped areas to have a minimum width of 2.0m.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policy DM9 of the Highway
Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

6.

The footway cycleway to the west of the left in left out access road shall be provided at a
minimum effective width of 3m and connect to the cul-de-sac adjacent to plot 14
REASON: In the interests of highway safety and reducing the need to travel by car and
promoting sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 of
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

7.

The proposed hedging adjacent to the PROW 15 to be included in the maintenance
regime for the development, to ensure the is kept hedging clear of the definitive route of
the Public Right of Way.
REASON: To ensure the continued safe passage of pedestrians on the public right of
way and accessibility in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM11 of the Development
Management Policies as adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in
February 2011, and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1..

8.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance
with the details contained in the Updated Ecological Impact Assessment (SES, December
2020), the Bird Hazard Risk Assessment (SES, December 2020) Landscape Masterplans
(Matt Lee Landscape Architecture, December 2020), the Lighting Planning Layouts (WLC,
December 2020) and the Biodiversity Net Gain Calculator as already submitted with the
planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to
determination. This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g.
an ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried
out, in accordance with the approved details
REASON: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge
its duties under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006

Page 32

(Priority habitats & species).

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Date: 17th March 2021
Department:

Planning

th
20and
January
2021rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688
©Date:
Crown copyright
database

Page 33

Agenda Item 4
UTT/19/1744/OP
Proposal:

Hybrid application consisting of full details for development of 30
dwellings utilising existing access, re-provision of swimming pool with
new changing rooms, artificial grass pitches, sports pavilion, multi-use
games area (MUGA), local equipped area for play (LEAP), local area
for play (LAP), associated parking and demolition of gym building.
The remainder is in outline for up to 70 dwellings with associated
infrastructure, public open space, forest school and perimeter path.

Location:

Former Friends School, Mount Pleasant Road, Saffron Walden,
CB11 3EB

Applicant:

Chase (SW) Ltd

Agent:

Savills (UK) Ltd, Unex House, 132-134 Hills Road, Cambridge.
CB2 8PA

Expiry date:

18 December 2020 (Extension of time agreed to 25/3/2021)

Case officer:

Terry Garner

1.

NOTATION

1.1

UDC Adopted Local Plan within:
 Air Quality Management Area;
 Saffron Walden Conservation Area;
 Tree Preservation Order (7/07/38 Friends School Mount Pleasant Road
Saffron Walden);
 AoCV & Locally Listed Buildings;
 Protected Open Space.
Neighbourhood Plan (Saffron Walden).

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site, has an area of 7.16 hectares, see Fig: 1, comprising the playing
fields associated with the former Friends’ School and includes the existing red brick
gym building; a single storey brick-built swimming pool and a parking area.

2.2

The site is approximately 1.2 kilometres south from Saffron Walden town centre, it is
generally a rectangular grassed area of land which slopes gently from Mount
Pleasant Road towards Greenways and St Johns Close.

2.3

The majority of the Site comprises relatively flat, former sports fields, see Fig: 2,
which are bordered by mature trees for a large part of the site boundary. Mount
Pleasant Road runs along the northern boundary of the site with a line of mature
trees and hedgerow separating the site from the road. The northern half of the
western site boundary is defined by a high mesh security fence separating the site
from the former school playing fields.

Page 34

Application site boundary

Adjoining land ownership

Fig: 1 – Site Location
Plan

Fig: 2 – Aerial View of Application site
2.4

To the south west of the site is The Avenue, a fairly recent development of residential
properties. The garden walls and fencing of the Avenue delineate the southern half of
the western boundary of the application site.

2.5

The western boundary is overlooked by several properties located within the
residential development off The Avenue. The site boundary at this point is defined by
close board fencing, with the side elevations and gable ends of several properties
allowing views into the Site. Further north the boundary is marked by the fenced ball
courts and ancillary buildings which lie to the rear of the former school, with the main
school buildings and the tree enclosed area of open space at the school frontage
beyond.

Page 35

Accessibility
2.6

The existing vehicular access into the site is directly from Mount Pleasant Road,
which provides links to Thaxted Road to the east and Debden Road to the west. The
road has footpaths at either side and links to the wider network of footways in the
area.

2.7

In regard to public transport, the closest bus stop to the site is located on Mount
Pleasant Road, directly opposite the application site entrance. The No: 6 bus route
provides access to Debden and Stansted airport and the 414 service gives access to
Saffron Walden and Great Dunmow via Thaxted and Wimbish. Winstanley Road bus
stop, a short walk from the site, provides an extra hourly service to Bishop’s Stortford
and Stansted Airport.

2.8

Audley End railway station is located within 5km of the site and provides access to
Greater Anglia and Cross-Country services, with links to destinations including
Stansted Airport, Cambridge, London Liverpool Street and Birmingham New Street.
Services to London are frequent at peak times, with trains at 10-20 minute intervals,
with less frequent services outside of peak times. Bus services between the station
and the town centre run at least every hour.
Heritage

2.9

The application site falls entirely within the Saffron Walden Conservation Area, as
such the site is considered to make a significant contribution towards the character
and appearance of the Conservation Area, not least through its contribution to its
openness. The swimming pool building and open space at the northern end of the
site both make similar positive contributions to the character of the conservation
area.

2.10

The two towers, one associated with the main school building and the water tower,
are both visible from vantage points within the Site. There is a relatively clear east –
west view of the water tower which is seen to the rear of the school buildings from
the northern part of the site.
Protected Open Space Area

2.11

The site is within the local plan Protected Open Space Area. LC: 1/ ENV: 3 - Saffron
Walden (Friends school/Chichester Rd), as such the policy would have a
presumption against any loss of the open space area to development other than
sports and recreation related uses.
Buildings of Local Interest

2.12

As mentioned above, the applicant also has control over the former school buildings
and land located to the north west of the application site, see Fig: 2 and 3. The
school buildings are not part of the application. This group of buildings comprise a
number of buildings in poor state of repair, which are subject to vandalism and illegal
occupation. The buildings whilst not being statutorily listed, are locally listed and are
an intrinsic part of the character of the site currently being considered for
development.
Air Quality Management Area

2.13

The northerly end of the application site falls within the Saffron Walden Air Quality
Management Area.

Page 36

Ecology and Bio-diversity
2.14

The site is dominated by grass sports fields which are considered to be of limited
ecological interest. However, areas of greater ecological interest include the
established boundary hedgerows and tree belts, a pocket of deciduous woodland to
the south east, individual mature trees and a small number of on site buildings. Offsite, adjacent to the application boundary are the buildings of Friends’ School, within
which a brown long-eared bat roost has been identified.
Arboriculture & Tree Preservation Orders

2.15

Around the boundaries of the site there exists a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) Ref:
7/07/38 Friends School Mount Pleasant Road Saffron Walden Essex. The TPO
includes for a good level of tree cover around the application site, as well as
separating the woodland area located in the very south east corner of the site, from
the main application area. This TPO also separates the southern boundary of the site
from existing residential development further to the South.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This application is a ‘hybrid’ application and as such includes for a detailed
submission pertaining to a 2.68ha area of the site, but also includes outline proposals
for the remaining 4.48ha’s of the site. Fig: 1-2 illustrate the overall boundary for the
application and Fig: 3, illustrates the boundaries for each aspect of the application. It
illustrates the difference between the area of the site for the fully detailed application
and the area for the outline application. It also illustrates the vacant school site
boundary located to the north-west.

Fig: 3 – Application boundaries
3.2

The proposed masterplan layout seeks to provide for 100 dwellings in total, with
2.03ha of public open space within the site, including landscaping, informal
recreation, sports provision, and car parking. Fig: 4 illustrates the overall site layout
being proposed in detail and outline.

Page 37

F

Fig: 4 – Masterplan for the site
3.3

Fig: 5, illustrates the detailed access point entering the site as previously, but with
alterations to accommodate the new development.

Fig: 5 proposed revised entrance layout
3.4

The new access arrangement is also intended to allow for a safer walking and cycling
environment around the junction.

Page 38

Detailed Application
3.5

The 2.68ha area to the north of the site, forms the detailed part of the hybrid
application and includes:










full details for the development of 30 dwellings utilising the existing access with
modifications;
the re-provision of the swimming pool with new changing rooms;
the formation of an artificial grass pitch;
a sports pavilion;
multi-use games area (MUGA);
local equipped area for play (LEAP);
local area for play (LAP);
associated parking;
demolition of the existing gym building, which makes way for the apartment block.

Residential element of the scheme
3.6

The 30 dwellings proposed include for 12 x 2 bedroom apartments in one block at the
entrance to the site and 18 x 3 bedroom houses in the remaining 4 blocks which lie to
the south/south-west of the proposed sports pavilion and all weather sports pitches.

3.7

All 30 units are proposed to be affordable housing units. This will represent a 30%
affordable housing contribution when regard is paid to the overall number of houses
being proposed for the site as outlined in the masterplan.
Design materials and layout

3.8

The apartment block, at the entrance to the site, is to be a three storey building
including for a central tower having a tiled and hipped roof with eaves brackets. The
remaining roof area will in fact be a basic flat roof design, see Fig 6.

Fig 6 – Front and rear elevations of apartment block

Page 39

3.9

Other details for the block include full height multi-paned glazing, brick banding,
header courses and key stones. The principal entranceway will be an arched design
with brickwork detailing and a central key stone. There are black metal balconies with
glazed balustrading to the corners of the building, providing private external amenity
space for each of the apartments.
The two blocks of 4 terraced properties.

3.10

The two residential terraced blocks; to the south-west boundary of the site, are to
include four x 3-bedroom properties in each block. The blocks will be two storey and
will have a tiled hipped roof with chimneys, see Fig 7.

3.11

Other details for the two blocks include red brick walling with artificial detailing and
red brick dentil coursing. The fenestration will be painted timber casements with
external glazing bars. Fascias and eaves boards will be black.

Fig 7: Typical façade to front and rear of 4 terraced block.

The two blocks of five bed terraced properties.
3.12

The two residential terraced blocks; to the southern boundary of the site, are to
include five x 3-bedroom properties in each block. The blocks will be two storey, with
the end properties recessed and will have a tiled and hipped roof with chimneys, see
Fig 8.

3.13

Other details for the two blocks include red brick walling with artificial detailing and
red brick dentil coursing. The fenestration will be painted timber casements with
external glazing bars. Fascias and eaves boards will be black.

Page 40

Fig 8: Typical façade to front and rear of 5 terraced block
Parking
3.14

The scheme proposes to provide all vehicular parking and cycle parking provision to
comply with the Essex Parking Standards Design and Good Practice and Uttlesford’s
Local Residential Parking Standards. This includes for residential standards and the
sports facilities parking provision as shown on Fig: 9. Overall the parking provision
will comprise:






Residential Parking 60 spaces,
Visitor parking - 8 spaces
Disabled parking – 3 spaces
Playing fields and pavilion parking –
44 spaces
Swimming pool parking – 20 spaces.

Fig 9: Car parking arrangement

Page 41

Emergency, Servicing and Refuse Vehicle Collection
3.15

A swept path analysis for the proposed scheme has been carried out to ensure that
emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles can gain access and egress to the various
streets within the site in a forward gear.
Sports Provision

3.16

The scheme is to include 1.75 hectares of sports provision including a range of
facilities, such as the refurbishment of the swimming pool and provision of new
changing rooms together with a new 0.18ha surfaced car park. The arrangement for
each of the activities is outlined in Fig 10 below.

Fig 10: location of sports facilities and buildings.
Refurbished Swimming Pool
3.17

The former swimming pool building is to be retained/renovated and extended to
accommodate new changing rooms, see Fig 11. The building extension will be single
storey and constructed of red brick, with black cladding. The roof is to be in roofing
felt with black aluminium window and door frames.

Fig 11: Swimming pool elevations and floor plan

Page 42

Sports Pavilion
3.18

The proposed sports pavilion, see Fig 12, is to be constructed of red brick ground
floor elevations and is to have black cladding and standing seam construction at first
floor level. The fenestration and doors will be in black aluminium, with casements and
external glazing bars. Fascias and eaves are also to be in black. The roof of the
building is to be pitched with grey slate tiles.

Fig 11: Sports Pavilion

3.19

In addition to the above, an area of 1.4ha is proposed to allow for the provision of
artificial grass pitches, to provide Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA), Local Equipped
Area for Play (LEAP), and a Local Area for Play (LAP).

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

In regard to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017, The proposal is not a Schedule 1 development. However the
masterplan boundary exceeds 5 hectare in total area which is the threshold criteria
for Schedule 2 development. In addition, the masterplan shows a development of
100 houses in total, plus whatever the school site development may involve, as such
the whole scheme could have a significant impact on the area, should planning be
granted for the whole scheme of development. The applicant has not at this stage
submitted a screening application to assess the need for an EIA but this is an issue
which will need to be addressed.

Page 43

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and
Article 8 of the First Protocol regarding the right of respect for a person's private and
family life and home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these
issues have been taken into account in the determination of this application.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant considers that the application as submitted is in accord with paragraph
11 of the NPPF in that the scheme will provide valuable housing for the area,
including 30 affordable homes, and reference is made to the 5 year land supply
shortfall which this scheme would go some way to meet. Consequently, they have
submitted the following documents in support of their proposal:












Air Quality Assessment
Transport Assessment
Design and Access Statement – Part 1 and 2
Flood Risk Assessment
Heritage Statement
Transport Assessment
Archaeology Assessment
Ecological Survey
Planning Statement
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Site and Other Planning Drawings

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The majority of the application site has no planning history, however, there are
approvals for the sports hall, changing rooms and car park which are to the north
west of the site:




7.

SWB/0043/61 - Extensions to changing rooms – Approved – 6/9/1961
SWB/0077/65 - Construction of a car park – Approved 7/9/1965
UTT/0155/82 - Construction of a Sports Hall and linking/storage areas
plus music school and the relocation of existing garages – Approved
2/3/1982

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
National Design Framework
Uttlesford local plan (2005)
ULP Policy E3 – Access to Workplaces
ULP Policy S1 – Settlement boundaries for the Main Urban Areas
ULP Policy S7 – The countryside
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design

Page 44

ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood protection
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN5 – Light Pollution
ULP Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
ULP Policy GEN7 - Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
Policy H9- Affordable Housing
Policy H10- Housing Mix
Policy ENV1- Design of development within the conservation area
Policy ENV2- Development affecting Listed Buildings.
Policy ENV3- Open Space and Trees
Policy ENV5- Protection of Agricultural Land
Policy ENV11 – Noise generators
Policy ENV12 Protection of Water Resources
Policy ENV13- Exposure to poor air quality
Policy ENV14- Contaminated land
Policy ENV15 Renewable Energy
ULP Policy RS1 – Access to Retailing and Services
ULP Policy RS2 – Town and Local Centres
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance









Supplementary Planning Document- Accessible homes and play
space homes
GDNP Policy DS1: TDA – Town Development Area
GDNP Policy GA3 – Public Transport
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex County Council parking Standards (2006)
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice” (September
2009)
Other Material Considerations

Saffron Walden Neighbourhood Plan
The emerging Neighbourhood Plan is at an early still stage in its preparation
and therefore, carries limited weight. In the context of the application site, the
emerging Neighbourhood Plan notes that the site is not allocated for development
being within an area identified for amenity and open space and within the Saffron
Walden conservation area Zone 6.
8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

Page 45

8.1

SAFFRON WALDEN TOWN COUNCIL – OBJECT TO THE PRINCIPLE OF
DEVELOPMENT ON THE SITE (Full copy of comments at Appendix – A)
1.

Loss of sports fields and hall.

2.

Loss of character and detrimental impact on Conservation Area

3.

Insufficient capacity on the road network for additional vehicles

4.

The applicant cannot demonstrate that this is the only possible
alternative use

5.

Layout of affordable housing is unacceptable and not sufficient in
number of units

6.

Inefficient Use of land

7.

Inaccurate Transport Assessment

8.

Outline Planning Applications not allowed in Conservation Areas

9.

The applicant did not adequately liase with the Parish Council in
regard to the scheme as submitted

Conclusion
We hope that you will refuse this planning application on the grounds of our
objections numbered 1-4 which deal with objections to the principle of development
on this site.
Should you consider that these objections can be overcome, then we request that
you note our objections numbered 5-9 which deal with specific details of the
application, and our requested mitigation measures numbered 1-7.
9.

CONSULTATIONS
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

PLANNING POLICY
NHS WEST ESSEX CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
UK POWER NETWORKS (OPERATIONS)
ESP UTILITIES GROUP
NATS SAFEGUARDING
ECC - DEVELOPMENT AND FLOOD RISK WASTE & ENVIRONMENT
SPORT ENGLAND - LOSS OF SPORTS FACILITIES
ECC ARCHAEOLOGICAL
AFFINITY WATER
ANGLIAN WATER
STN AERODROME SAFEGUARDING
ESSEX POLICE
ECC SUDS
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
ECC MINERALS & WASTE PLANNING
ECC COUNTY HIGHWAYS
ECC HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION ADVICE
UDC – EDUCATION
ECC ECOLOGY AND BIO-DIVERSITY

Page 46

•
9.1

NATURAL ENGLAND

PLANNING POLICY
The application as submitted is seeking planning approval on unallocated land within
the development limits of Saffron Walden. The site is a protected amenity area and is
within the conservation area, as such development is restricted other than for the
purposes of sports and recreation.
Housing land supply needs to have regard to para’s 11 and 73 of the NPPF and the
importance of maintaining a five-year land supply. The most recent housing trajectory
estimate, as of January 2021, estimates the councils housing land supply at 3.22
years, therefore the proposed contribution of up to 100 dwellings must be regarded
as a positive effect.
The proposal is not however considered to represent sustainable development in the
context of Paragraph 8 of the NPPF, as it cannot show that the economic, social and
environmental aspects of the development are satisfied in a positive and beneficial
way.
The development scheme as submitted, will involve a detrimental impact on the
conservation area, the loss of protected open space and sports facilities, and an
impact on the locally listed school buildings. Such impacts do not tilt the balance for
development as at paragraph 11 NPPF, which requires full assessment of the
benefits that will accrue from the development to show that it is has a positive impact
which would override the disbenefits associated to the scheme.
The loss of the protected sports fields, the impact on nearby locally listed buildings
and the conservation area would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits of the scheme, especially with the limited level of mitigation being proposed.
Notwithstanding the fact that the council does not have a 5 year housing supply at
present, the type of housing being proposed is not compliant with the housing officers
requirements in terms of mix, layout, scale and design.
The proposed development clearly conflicts with policies on housing location, the
development of this site would erode a long standing significant and distinctive open
space of importance within Saffron Walden in conflict with policy S7, Gen 2, ENV2,
and ENV3 of the Uttlesford local plan and the NPPF.
In this instance the proposal to develop the site for residential purposes would be
opposed, notwithstanding the NPPF.

9.2

NHS WEST ESSEX CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
The proposed development is likely to have an impact on the services of two GP
practises operating within the vicinity of the application sites The GP practises do not
have capacity for the additional growth resulting from this development The proposed
developments will likely have an impact on the NH S funding programme for the
delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and specifically within the
health catchment of the development West Essex CCG would therefore expect these
impacts to be fully assessed and mitigated
The planning application does not include a health impact assessment (HIA) or
propose any mitigation of the healthcare impacts arising from the proposed

Page 47

development. A health care impact assessment has been prepared by West Essex
seek to provide the basis for a developer contribution towards capital funding to
increase capacity within the GP catchment area. The development could generate
approximately 250 residents and subsequently increased demand upon existing
constrained services.
9.3

UK POWER NETWORKS (OPERATIONS) – No objections at this stage.

9.4

ESP UTILITIES GROUP - As your plans for the proposed work develop you are
required to keep ESP regularly updated about the extent and nature of your
proposed works in order for us to fully establish whether any additional precautionary
or diversionary works are necessary to protect our gas network.

9.5

NATS SAFEGUARDING - The proposed development has been examined from a
technical safeguarding aspect and does not conflict with our safeguarding criteria.
Accordingly, NATS (En Route) Public Limited Company ("NERL") has no
safeguarding objection to the proposal.

9.6

ECC - DEVELOPMENT AND FLOOD RISK, WASTE & ENVIRONMENT
Lead Local Flood Authority position - Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment
and the associated documents which accompanied the planning application, we do
not object to the granting of planning permission based on the following conditions:
Condition 1 - No works shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of
the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
should include but not be limited to:
•

Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the
development. This should involve more detailed testing in specific
locations in line with BRE365.

•

If infiltration is not viable then discharge rates should be limited to the
1 in 1 year greenfield rate for all storm events up to an including the 1
in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.

•

Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of
the development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in
100 year plus 40% climate change event

•

Demonstrate that a suitable half drain time can be met.

•

Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.

•

The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line
with the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.

•

Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage
scheme.

•

A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance
routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage
features.

Page 48

•

A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any
minor changes to the approved strategy. The scheme shall
subsequently be implemented prior to occupation.

Reason: -to prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal
of surface water from the site.
•

To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of
the development.

•

To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be
caused to the local water environment

•

Failure to provide the above required information before
commencement of works may result in a system being installed that is
not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring during rainfall events
and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the
site.

Condition 2 - No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite
flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works
and prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.
Reason - The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph
170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development does not
increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.
Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering
takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will
cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore, the removal of topsoils during
construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to
increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during
construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and
groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the development.
Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods
for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.
Condition 3 - No works shall take place until a Maintenance Plan detailing the
maintenance arrangements including who is responsible for different elements of the
surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been
submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term
funding arrangements should be provided.
Reason - To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to
enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure
mitigation against flood risk.
Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works
may result in the installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may
increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.

Page 49

Condition 4 - The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of
maintenance which should be carried out in accordance with any approved
Maintenance Plan. These must be available for inspection upon a request by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason - To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as
outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as
intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.
9.7

SPORT ENGLAND
Sport England objects strongly to the application in its current form because it is not
considered to accord with any of the exceptions to Sport England’s Playing Fields
Policy or with Paragraph 97 of the NPPF. The proposal would also be considered to
be contrary to policy LC1 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan and policy INF2 of the
emerging Uttlesford Local Plan which both take a similar policy approach to playing
fields policy and the NPPF.
Sport England have considered the proposals with regard to the specific exception
criteria identified in the above policy and would made the following assessment:
1. Exception 1 – Not applicable. It has not been demonstrated that there is an
excess of playing pitches in the catchment in terms of community playing pitch
provision. In this regard, to inform current and future playing pitch needs,
Uttlesford District Council have recently (May 2019) completed a Playing Pitch
Strategy & Action Plan https://www.uttlesford.gov.uk/article/4942/Infrastructure
which has assessed current playing pitch provision across the district and for the
Saffron Walden sub-area of the district. The needs assessment has been
prepared in accordance with Sport England’s playing pitch strategy guidance and
the strategy was endorsed by Sport England and the sports governing bodies
which represent the pitch sports. The strategy is therefore considered to provide
an up-to-date and robust evidence base to support the implementation of local
plan policies and the determination of planning applications.
While the strategy documents provide full details of the conclusions, key data on
football pitch provision is provided in Table 2.16 of the strategy’s assessment
document which shows that there is a total deficiency of 14 natural turf football
pitches in the Saffron Walden sub-area in relation to meeting current demand
which would extend to 18 pitches after future demand is accounted for. In relation
to cricket, Table 5.16 of this document shows a current deficiency of 8 cricket
match sessions in relation to meet current demand which would extend to 66
match sessions after accounting for future demand. In relation to rugby union,
Table 4.13 shows a a deficiency of 3.75 match sessions for the rugby pitches that
serve the Saffron Walden sub-area in relation to meeting current demand which
would extend to 8.25 pitches after future demand is accounted for.
Consequently, there are significant current and future playing pitch deficiencies in
the Saffron Walden sub-area relating to all of the playing pitch types that were
accommodated on the playing fields when Friends School’s playing fields were
last in use. As set out below, the Playing Pitch Strategy’s recommendation was
for the pitches on the application site to be brought back into use to meet current
and future community playing pitch needs. The deficiencies in playing pitch
provision and the strategy’s recommendation are acknowledged in the Planning
Statement.

Page 50

2. Exception 2 – Not applicable. The majority of the proposed development is not
ancillary to the principal use of the site as a playing field;
3. Exception 3 – Not applicable. The majority of the area proposed for the
development is capable of being used for a range of playing pitches and was
historically used by Friends School and the local community for a wide range of
pitches including football, cricket and rugby;
4. Exception 4 – Not applicable. No replacement playing field provision is currently
proposed;
5. Exception 5 – Not applicable. The majority of the development proposal is not for
an indoor or outdoor sports facility. While an artificial grass pitch is proposed on
the northern part of the playing fields, this only represents a small proportion of
the site (0.74 ha of the 4.56 ha playing field area) and regardless of this, the
benefits of the proposed artificial grass pitch to community sport are questioned
as set out below. The proposed MUGA, LAP and LEAP facilities are children’s
play or informal sport/recreation facilities that would not represent formal sports
facilities and would appear to have been proposed more to meet the needs of the
residential development than to mitigate the loss of the playing fields.
6. The proposals for refurbishing and extending the former Friends School’s
swimming pool represent improvements to an existing indoor sports facility to
facilitate re-opening the facility. While the swimming pool proposals are
welcomed in principle, as set out in paragraph 75 of our policy, to meet exception
5 proposals need to demonstrate that the loss of any area of playing field will not
have an unacceptable impact on the current and potential playing pitch provision
on the site. In view of the scale of the impact on the playing field and the scale of
playing pitch deficiencies that exist in the local area, re-opening of the swimming
pool facility would not in Sport England’s view offer benefits that would outweigh
the significant loss of playing fields. The benefits to indoor sports facilities
associated with the swimming pool proposals are also negated by the proposals
to redevelop the former school’s sports hall.
7. On the basis of the above assessment, the proposal would not, in its current
form, accord with any of the exceptions to Sport England’s playing fields policy or
paragraph 97 of the NPPF.
Options for addressing the objections are limited on this occasion due to the scale of
the loss of playing fields and the importance attached in the Council’s Playing Pitch
Strategy to reinstating the playing fields to community use to address local playing
pitch deficiencies. The only clear option would be for the applicant to make direct
replacement playing field provision off-site in accordance with exception 4 of our
policy e.g. an existing playing field in Saffron Walden could be extended or a new
playing field created to mitigate the impact but it is acknowledged that opportunities
for this in the local area are likely to be limited.
Any on-site mitigation solution would need a much larger proportion of the playing
fields to be maintained to allow a range of sports to take place on the site and would
need to include a floodlit 3G AGP which addresses the above issues to mitigate any
net loss in provision. I would be happy to discuss such options with the applicant
and/or the District Council.
Should the local planning authority be minded to grant planning permission for the
proposal, contrary to Sport England’s objection, then in accordance with the Town
and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, the application should

Page 51

be referred to the Secretary of State, via the National Planning Casework Unit. This
is because the land has been used by an educational institution as a playing field
within 5 years of the planning application being received. For the avoidance of doubt,
the application would need to be referred on the basis that Sport England is objecting
in accordance with section 7b(i) of the Direction i.e. objecting on the grounds there is
a deficiency in the provision of playing fields in the area of the local authority
concerned.
If this application is to be presented to a Planning Committee, we would like to be
notified in advance of the publication of any committee agendas, report(s) and
committee date(s). We would be grateful if you would advise us of the outcome of the
application by sending us a copy of the decision notice.
9.8

ECC ARCHAEOLOGICAL
The historic environment record and the submitted desk based assessment shows
the proposed development area contains potentially significant archaeological
remains. A number of Roman burials have been recorded including two burials found
to the west of the site in recent years (EHER 48579) which are likely to form part of a
larger cemetery with further bodies identified in the area of the water tower within the
Friends School. Immediately to the south of the school there are records of
prehistoric remains being discovered (EHER 14594)
It is recommended that Archaeological Trial trenching followed by Open Area
Excavation:
1. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence until a programme of
trial trenching has been secured and undertaken in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, and approved by
the planning authority prior to reserved matters applications being submitted.
2. A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation/preservation strategy shall be
submitted to the local planning authority following the completion of this work.
3. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas
containing archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as
detailed in the mitigation strategy, and which has been signed off by the local
planning authority through its historic environment advisors.
4. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post-excavation
assessment (to be submitted within three months of the completion of fieldwork,
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority). This will result in
the completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and
report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication
report.

9.9

ANGLIAN WATER - ASSETS
Section 1 - Assets Affected
There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption agreement
within or close to the development boundary that may affect the layout of the site.
Anglian Water would ask that the following text be included within your Notice should
permission be granted.

Page 52

Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to
an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public
open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the
developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of
apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It
should be noted that the diversion works should normally be completed before
development can commence.
Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Saffron Walden Water
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows
Section 3 - Used Water Network
This response has been based on the following submitted documents: Flood Risk
Assessment Development will lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding downstream.
Anglian Water will need to plan effectively for the proposed development, if
permission is granted. We will need to work with the applicant to ensure any
infrastructure improvements are delivered in line with the development. We therefore
request a condition requiring a phasing plan and on-site drainage strategy
Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable drainage
system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option. Building
Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England includes a surface
water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the preferred disposal option,
followed by discharge to watercourse and then connection to a sewer.
From the details submitted to support the planning application the proposed method
of surface water management does not relate to Anglian Water operated assets. As
such, we are unable to provide comments on the suitability of the surface water
management. The Local Planning Authority should seek the advice of the Lead Local
Flood Authority or the Internal Drainage Board. The Environment Agency should be
consulted if the drainage system directly or indirectly involves the discharge of water
into a watercourse. Should the proposed method of surface water management
change to include interaction with Anglian Water operated assets, we would wish to
be reconsulted to ensure that an effective surface water drainage strategy is
prepared and implemented.
Section 5 - Suggested Planning Conditions Anglian Water would therefore
recommend the following planning condition if the Local Planning Authority is mindful
to grant planning approval.
Used Water Sewerage Network (Section 3) Condition Prior to the construction above
damp proof course, a scheme for on-site foul water drainage works, including
connection point and discharge rate, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Prior to the occupation of any phase, the foul water
drainage works relating to that phase must have been carried out in complete
accordance with the approved scheme. Reason To prevent environmental and
amenity problems arising from flooding We have no objection subject to the following
condition: Condition Prior to construction above damp proof course a Phasing Plan

Page 53

setting out the details of the phasing of the development shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved Phasing Plan. Reason
To ensure the development is phased to avoid an adverse impact on drainage
infrastructure.
If a foul or surface water condition is applied by the Local Planning Authority to the
Decision Notice, we will require a copy of the following information prior to
recommending discharging the condition:
Foul water:
Feasible drainage strategy agreed with Anglian Water detailing the discharge
solution including:
Development size: Proposed discharge rate (Should you require a pumped
connection, please note that our minimum pumped discharge rate is 3.8l/s)
Connecting manhole discharge location (No connections can be made into a public
rising main)
Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water
Industry Act (More information can be found on our website) Feasible mitigation
strategy in agreement with Anglian Water (if required)
Surface water: Feasible drainage strategy agreed with Anglian Water detailing the
discharge solution, including: Development hectare size - Proposed discharge rate
(Our minimum discharge rate is 5l/s. The applicant can verify the site’s existing 1 in 1
year greenfield run off rate on the following HR Wallingford website http://www.uksuds.com/drainagecalculation-tools/greenfield-runoff-rate-estimation .
For Brownfield sites being demolished, the site should be treated as Greenfield.
Where this is not practical Anglian Water would assess the roof area of the former
development site and subject to capacity, permit the 1 in 1 year calculated rate
Connecting manhole discharge location: Sufficient evidence to prove that all surface
water disposal routes have been explored as detailed in the surface water hierarchy,
stipulated in Building Regulations Part H (Our Surface Water Policy can be found on
our website)
9.10

AFFINITY WATER
You should be aware that the proposed development site is located within an
Environment Agency defined groundwater Source Protection Zone (GPZ)
corresponding to Debden Road Pumping Station. This is a public water supply,
comprising a number of Chalk abstraction boreholes, operated by Affinity Water Ltd.
The construction works, and operation of the proposed development site should be
done in accordance with the relevant British Standards and Best Management
Practices, thereby significantly reducing the groundwater pollution risk. It should be
noted that the construction works may exacerbate any existing pollution. If any
pollution is found at the site then the appropriate monitoring and remediation
methods will need to be undertaken.

9.11

ESSEX POLICE
Whilst there are no apparent concerns with the layout, we would require the finer
detail such as the proposed lighting, boundary treatments and physical security

Page 54

measures. We would welcome the opportunity to consult on this development to
assist the developer with their obligation under this policy and to assist with
compliance of Approved Document "Q" at the same time as achieving a Secured by
Design award.
9.12

STN AERODROME SAFEGUARDING
The Safeguarding Authority for Stansted Airport has assessed this proposal and its
potential to conflict with aerodrome Safeguarding criteria. - We have no aerodrome
safeguarding objections to this proposal.

9.13

ECC SUDS
Development and Flood Risk - As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) this Council
provides advice on SuDS schemes for major developments.
Lead Local Flood Authority position
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning
permission based on the following:
Condition 1
No works shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site,
based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and
hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited
to:
• Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the
development. This should involve more detailed testing in specific locations in
line with BRE365.
• If infiltration is not viable then discharge rates should be limited to the 1 in 1
year greenfield rate for all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100 year
rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
• Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the
development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year
plus 40% climate change event.
• Demonstrate that a suitable half drain time can be met.
• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
• The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with
the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.
• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL
and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.
• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor
changes to the approved strategy.
The scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to occupation.

Page 55

Reason
• To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of
surface water from the site.
• To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the
development.
• To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to
the local water environment
• Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of
works may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with
surface water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood
risk and pollution hazard from the site.
Condition 2
No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding
caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and
prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.
Reason
The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph 170 state
that local planning authorities should ensure development does not increase flood
risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.
Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering
takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will
cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal of topsoils during
construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to
increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during
construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and
groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the development.
Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods
for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.
Condition 3
No works shall take place until a Maintenance Plan detailing the maintenance
arrangements including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water
drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to
and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term
funding arrangements should be provided.
Reason
To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the
surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against
flood risk.

Page 56

Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works
may result in the installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may
increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.
Condition 4
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance
which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan.
These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in
any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to
ensure mitigation against flood risk.
Summary of Flood Risk Responsibilities for your Council
We have not considered the following issues as part of this planning application as
they are not within our direct remit; nevertheless these are all very important
considerations for managing flood risk for this development, and determining the
safety and acceptability of the proposal. Prior to deciding this application you should
give due consideration to the issue(s) below. It may be that you need to consult
relevant experts outside your planning team.
• Sequential Test in relation to fluvial flood risk;
• Safety of people (including the provision and adequacy of an emergency
plan, temporary refuge and rescue or evacuation arrangements);
• Safety of the building;
• Flood recovery measures (including flood proofing and other building level
resistance and resilience measures);
• Sustainability of the development.
In all circumstances where warning and emergency response is fundamental to
managing flood risk, we advise local planning authorities to formally consider the
emergency planning and rescue implications of new development in making their
decisions.
9.14

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
AIR QUALITY
The proposal site is within Saffron Walden Air Quality Management Area (AQMA),
close to the southern extent. The AQMA has been declared to prevent exceedance
of national annual mean objectives for concentrations of nitrogen dioxide. Traffic
generated by the proposal will impact on the AQMA.
An Air Quality Assessment (AQA) in support of the proposal has been prepared by
RSK, informed by traffic data provided within the transport assessment prepared by
EAS, and assumes an opening year of 2023. Local committed development has
been accounted for within the dispersion modelling of future levels of pollutants.

Page 57

The findings of the assessment are accepted, nevertheless, the proposal will be
contributing to an upward trend in emissions, and in accordance with national
planning guidance, measures should be addressed at any detailed stage to reduce
emissions to a minimum, including those to support non car travel as the site is within
acceptable cycling/walking distance to amenities.
In the event of approval the following conditions are recommended:
1. All dwellings with a garage or allocated parking space shall have an electric
vehicle charging point provided. Elsewhere on the development hereby approved
20% of parking bays shall have electric vehicle charging points, with additional 40%
having capacity for future conversion. All points are to be fully wired and connected,
ready to use before first occupation of the site and retained thereafter
2. Cycle / powered two-wheeler storage shall be provided at each house without a
garage and a minimum of one storage space per 8 parking spaces elsewhere on site.
The storage shall be secure, convenient, covered, provided prior to occupation and
retained at all times.
3. Any domestic or commercial installation for heating shall incorporate best available
techniques to reduce NOx emissions.
The construction and demolition phase could give rise to dust and fine particulate
impact on neighbouring properties, and a condition to require a Construction
Management Plan should be considered, or an Informative to refer the developer to
UDC guidance on development practice.
NOISE
Existing nearby residents and future occupiers of the development will be subject to
noise from activities and traffic associated with the proposed MUGA facility,
potentially until late in the evening. No details of mitigation to prevent loss of amenity
have been submitted at this stage, and a condition in the event of approval is
suggested :
1. No development shall take place until a scheme for protecting existing dwellings
and the proposed dwellings from noise from MUGA facilities has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The MUGA facility shall
not be operated until such a scheme has been implemented in accordance with
the approved details, and shown to be effective, and it shall be retained in
accordance with those details thereafter.
LIGHT
Artificial external lighting provided at the proposed development may have an
adverse impact on nearby existing occupiers and future occupiers of the
development, particularly that associated with the proposed leisure facilities. No
details have been provided at this stage, and a condition in the event of approval is
suggested:
No fixed lighting shall be installed until a detailed scheme of lighting has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall be include the design of the lighting unit, any supporting structure, the extent of
the area to be illuminated, and the intensity of the lights specified in Lux. All external
lighting shall be installed in accordance with the details approved. The intensity of

Page 58

illumination of the lighting shall at all times be at the minimum level necessary to
ensure safe and secure operational use of the site.
Informative
The developer is referred to the UDC Code of Development Practice to minimise the
impact on amenity of nearby residents during the construction phase.
9.15

HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
The delivery of affordable housing is one of the Councils’ corporate priorities and will
be negotiated on all sites for housing. The Councils policy requires 40% on all
schemes over 0.5 ha or 15 or more units.
The affordable housing provision on this site will attract the 40% policy requirement
as the site is for 100 (net) units. This amounts to 40 affordable housing units and it is
expected that these properties will be delivered by one of the Council’s preferred
Registered Providers.
I understand that this scheme will be delivering sports facilities for the local
community and therefore suggests a lower quota of affordable housing by 10 units
which does not meet the Council’s policy. The Sports facilities are not a credible
reason for a reduction of 10 homes which would be used to house local families.
However, if the sports facilities are delivered, the Housing Strategy Team will be
seeking full, free membership for residents and children of the affordable homes with
protections are part of the S106.
The Council’s preferred mix is given below. This is based on evidenced need within
the District and will provide homes for local families and households with an eligible
connection to Uttlesford. The homes proposed should meet the following standards
as per Universal Credit and Housing Benefit regulations. 1 bed property house 2
people, 2 bed properties house 4 persons, 3 bed properties house 5 persons and 4
bed properties house 6 persons. Homes should be integrated within the scheme,
tenure blind, in clusters of no more than 10 and not contiguous.
1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed Total

Affordable Rent

6

14

11

1

32

Shared Ownership

0

5

3

0

8

Totals

6

19

14

1

40

It is also Councils’ policy to require 5% of the whole scheme to be delivered as fully
wheelchair accessible (building regulations, Part M, Category 3a homes) as well as
5% of all units to be bungalows delivered as 1 and 2 bedroom units. The Council
would accept changing 2x2 bed ground floor flats to 2x1 bed (ground floor) flats to be
delivered as fully wheelchair accessible (M4(3a) homes with wet rooms and
automatic external doors, both to the flats and outer building, with a full maintenance
contract agreement as part of the S106 agreement to ensure accessibility and
inclusivity. Three wheelchair accessible properties for private sale should be part of
the housing offer on this scheme, these could be houses or bungalows.
The flatted development would attract the Council’s lift policy as it is above 2 stories.
The Council will require a fully maintained and working lift to be included within the
scheme, with protections stated within the S106.

Page 59

I also note from the Design and Access Statement that 18x3 bed houses are
proposed in terraced formation. This will meet the housing needs of local families
with children, however, the Council also has a high need for 1 bed properties.
Therefore, the Council would accept converting the 2x3 bed houses are to 4x1 bed
maisonettes to meet this need.
9.16

ECC MINERALS & WASTE PLANNING
The application site is located within land which is designated as a Mineral
Safeguarding Area (MSA) for chalk. However, Essex County Council in its capacity
as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority has no comment to make with regard
to this application.

9.17

ECC COUNTY HIGHWAYS
From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is NOT
acceptable to the Highway Authority for the following reasons:
1. The developer has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the highway authority
that the impact on the local highway network caused by this proposal is acceptable in
terms of highway safety, capacity and accessibility with particular regard to the
following:
a. Access a. As far as can be ascertained from the submitted
drawings the proposed visibility cannot be provided due to the
presence of structures and vegetation
b. The maximum visibility within in a vertical visibility envelope of
between 600mm and 1200mm is required. See note (i), (ii) and (iii)
2. Impact on the surrounding highway network
a. Traffic growth and committed development
i. The detailed calculations for traffic growth and committed
development are have not been provided
ii. Information is required to clearly demonstrate what is being
used in TEMPRO as the 2023 base diagrams and 2028 base
diagrams cannot be recreated.
b. Trip Generation:
i. The flow diagram 6a does not appear to be accurate.
ii. Information on the trip generation of the swimming pool and
sports fields is required
c. Trip Distribution:
i. The census data is required to check the trip distribution for
the out of town trips 0
ii. Distribution data for the trips within town is required
d. Assessment modelling:
i. The model output reports are required to assess the impact
on the adjacent network

Page 60

ii. Further junctions should be assessed in order to determine
the cumulative impact on the network:
1. Borough Lane / London Road (Junction 4);
2. London Road / Newport Road / Audley End Road
(Junction 5);
3. Debden Road / London Road (Junction 6);
See note (iv)
3. Site layout and Parking
a. At a number of points the swept path analysis on drawing number
19 0037-660A shows cars having to encroach on areas outside the
car parking area
b. As far as can be ascertained from the submitted plans no secure,
covered cycle parking has been provided for any of the proposed uses
of the site.
c. The public area of the swimming pool is more than 350m2 therefore
the parking should be in the order of 35 spaces.
4. Mitigation
a. No information has been provided to mitigation for the site, in
particular for sustainable transport options
In conclusion, the Highway Authority is unable to determine whether the impact of the
proposed development will have a severe impact on the operation of the local
highway network and be contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework and
Essex County Council Development Management Policies, adopted as
supplementary guidance in February 2011.
NOTES
i
(i) Drawing number 19 0037-605 shows the visibility splay to the west being
interrupted by a pillar which is higher than 600mm and therefore obstructs the
visibility splay. The wall itself is increases in height to above 600mm. There is also a
hedge which is higher than the wall and obstructs the visibility splay, this is not noted
as being removed.
ii
(ii) There is a change in height to the east of the site, with a bank beyond the
wall, that does not appear to be accounted for in the drawings.
iii
(iii) Please note that although drawing number 19 0037-605 shows the
vegetation to the east of the access being cut back drawing number 19 0037-600 C
shows vegetation all the way along the boundary. This will have to be severely cut
back and maintained to achieve the visibility.
iv
(iv) Data is provided within the report for comparative purposes the school trip
rate appears to be too high. Latest data I was able to find on the school is shown
below
Day pupils

270

Page 61

Full Board pupils

20

Weekly Board pupils

30

Total pupils

320

TRICS trip rates for non-residential primary and secondary schools are lower than
the residential school trips presented in the TA. It is noted that the residential school
category is not available in the latest version of TRICS.
9.18

ECC HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION ADVICE
The above development concerns an undeveloped site at Former Friends School, a
non-designated heritage asset of local significance established in Saffron Walden in
1879. The application site is located within the Saffron Walden Conservation Area,
within which are located a number of listed buildings and places of historic interest,
and within the setting of a Grade II listed Water Tower (HE Ref: 1205709).
The proposed scheme is considered to largely remove the historic setting of the
former Friends School, infilling its historic amenity land with residential development,
where an open recreation area forms an important part of the building’s significance.
Whilst some space has been designated for recreational use within the current
proposal it is read within the context of an encroaching and dominant residential
development (with heights reaching three storeys in expansive blocks of flats
proposed) and legibly serving the proposed new dwellings, where its association with
the former School and its historic grounds is considered to be divorced. The
presently undeveloped land also forms an important open space within the Saffron
Walden Conservation Area and is partially designated as a Protected Open Space as
can be read in the Saffron Walden Conservation Area Appraisal and Management
Proposals (2018) which also states:
Open spaces are particularly important in a densely populated historic urban area
such as Saffron Walden. Frequently they provide settings for important groups of
Listed Buildings and tree cover and may also be associated with well used
pedestrian routes and footpaths. This consideration is particularly relevant in this
area. (p. 29)
[with regard to the application site and surroundings] Mapping from 1843-1893 shows
this area to be largely open except for some development on South Road at its
junction with West Road. At this time there was a Corn Windmill at the corner of
Mount Pleasant Road and South Road. Mount Pleasant Road was called Mill Lane at
this time. The area became built up after this date with large semi detached villas on
the north side of Mount Pleasant Road. The Friends School on the south was opened
in 1879. George Stacey Gibson provided the school site, described as being
“beautifully situated …on an open breezy hill above the town, near the railway station
and within a very easy distance of the Meeting House.” The area was bounded by
the Saffron Walden G. E. R. Branch Railway with its Station, Cattle Pen and Goods
Shed. There was a Cement Works, Iron and Brass Foundry, Saw Mill and another
Corn Mill on what is now Blyth Court and Cornmill Court. (p.69)
Former Friend's (Walden) School, Mount Pleasant Road. The area is dominated by
the Friends School, a large Victorian structure that opened in 1879. It is set in large
grounds fronting Mount Pleasant Road and surrounded by later additions. The tall
earlier structure, constructed of red brick with tiled roof has a prominent tower to

Page 62

front, refined architectural detailing, tall chimney stacks and window detailing.
Selected windows and chimney stacks may be candidates for additional protection by
possible Article 4 Direction, subject to further consideration and notification. The
asset is also worthy of consideration for inclusion a Local Heritage List. In addition,
the early-mid 20th century School Assembly Hall and Geography room and Biology
Laboratory, both in the modernist architectural style, are also considered to be good
surviving and little altered examples, and are unusual in the town. These have also
been highlighted on the relevant maps as they contribute positively to the historic
development and expansion of the school and architectural variety of the complex,
and wider conservation area. (p. 72)
The semi circular green sward to the front of the Friends School and the associated
playing fields to east of the school buildings are important in this area characterised
elsewhere by tight urban form. (p.76)
The grounds to the rear of the school, encompassing the avenue of lime trees and
adjacent playing field are also considered to represent an important area of open
space which juxtaposes the tight built form of the modern development and is
relevant to the school site. (p.77)
Whilst the above remains true, should the north extent of the site remain as open
recreational space, the potential to develop the lower south section has been
recognised, where harm to significance of surrounding heritage assets could be
negligible subject to appropriate design and detailing. It is encouraged that this be
explored by the applicant.
At present, the proposed scheme is considered to cause ‘’less than substantial harm’’
to the significance a the designated heritage asset (the conservation area) and as
such paragraph 196 of the NPPF is relevant; but with considerable harm to the
significance of a non-designated heritage asset as derived from its setting, paragraph
197 is relevant.
9.19

UDC – EDUCATION
For this particular application, it is felt that the case is not strong enough to sustain a
contribution request. The birth rate in the area has fallen, and extra spaces have
been provided, particularly for the secondary school picture.

9.20

ECC ECOLOGY AND BIO-DIVERSITY
Holding objection due to insufficient ecological information.
We have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (CSA Environmental,
December 2018) provided by the applicant, relating to the likely impacts of
development on designated sites, Protected & Priority species/habitats. We are not
satisfied that sufficient ecological information is currently available for determination
of this application.
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (CSA Environmental, December 2018) has
advised further surveys are to be undertaken in respect of bats to establish the need
for and details of any mitigation requirements. This includes detailed inspection of
individual trees and emergence/re-entry surveys of buildings to determine the
presence or likely absence of roosting bats. The results of these surveys will be used
to inform a full impact assessment and the need or otherwise for mitigation measures
of the final scheme.This information is required at this stage because, following

Page 63

paragraph 99 of the ODPM Circular 06/2005: “It is essential that the presence or
otherwise of protected species, and the extent that they may be affected by the
proposed development, is established before the planning permission is granted,
otherwise all relevant material considerations may not have been addressed in
making the decision.”
This further information is therefore required to provide the LPA with certainty of
impacts on legally protected and Priority species and enable it to demonstrate
compliance with its statutory duties, including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC
Act 2006.
10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

Support: 2

Object:

92 (plus 3 petitions)

Summary of representations as follows:















Extra housing being built when actual provisions of schools and roads are
being ignored. Saffron Walden is a beautiful town which will be destroyed if
housing estates continue to be built without proper provision of other facilities.
Both the Bell College and the Friends schools were left by the Gibsons to the
town for the benefit of the community, particularly educational benefit. There
is an existing modern purpose built school on the proposed development site
and a beautiful building, formerly the Friends secondary school. Neither
building is mentioned in this hybrid planning application as to what its future
use will be, or indeed whether they will be demolished.
Loss of playing fields, more houses that locals cannot afford, more congestion
on the roads and no mention of what is to happen to the former school.
Don’t build on more valuable limited open space.
Please leave the door open for a more community minded proposal for the
site.
Dentist and doctors surgery are already overloaded where will new residents
go.
This town needs schools, sports facilitates, and swimming pools to help
address the obesity crisis. It does not need more housing estates with zero
investment into roads, trains, doctors, hospitals, schools, clubs.
Given the proposed development includes a replacement swimming pool.
May I suggest consideration be given to this being a Lido. Having lost our
very popular outdoor pool at the high school, a well planned lido in such a
beautiful location would be a great asset for the whole town. The
neighbourhood plan is not yet complete. No new development, especially one
with such a significant impact on the town, should even be considered before
the plan is complete and in place.
The design lacks the fabric which integrates it into the town. I don't believe we
want more of this.
This site was always intended as an educational facility for the town and the
current need for increased educational capacity is clear. In addition, the loss
of the site as a community space and sports facilities again seems contra to
what the town needs. Chase have attempted to tick this box by providing a
limited sports area but I think that an opportunity is being lost to provide local
clubs with the space they really need.
The amount of increased traffic and pollution adding to an already busy area
(especially at peak times), will do nothing for the physical and mental wellbeing of the town's residents. Sitting in traffic queues around the town is

Page 64



almost an inevitability now. Is adding to this problem really the right thing for
the town? Finally, this phase of the development does not make it clear what
will happen to the beautiful and historic old school building.
Very concerned that only one part of the former school site is outlined in this
application and would question Chase New Homes intentions regarding the
significant remaining areas and buildings.

11.

APPRAISAL

11

The main issues to consider in the determination of this application are:
A

Location of the development and principle of housing (ULP Policies S7, ENV5
and the NPPF)

B

Scale, layout, Character and Design (ULP Policies S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2,
ENV3 and the NPPF

C.

Design and impact on adjacent locally listed buildings and character of the
Conservation Area. (ULP Policies S1, ENV1, ENV2, GEN2 and SPD.)

D

Housing provision and supply, affordable housing and housing mix (H9, H10,
SHMA & the NPPF)

E

Transport, Infrastructure, Access and Parking (GEN 1, GEN 6, GEN 8,
Uttlesford Local Parking Standards, Essex County Council Parking Standards
2009 PPG and NPPF)

F

Exposure to poor air quality (ULP ENV13, NPPF & PPG.

G

Protected species and biodiversity (ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF)

H

Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3 and the NPPF)

I

Protected amenity land, Sports fields

J

NHS Response

Detailed Appraisal
A

Location of the development and principle of housing (ULP Policies S7, ENV5
and the NPPF)

11.1

The site is located within the Development Limits of Saffron Walden where
adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 policy S1 applies. This specifies that
development within the existing built up areas, if compatible with the
character of the settlement will be supported.

11.2

Whilst located within the development limits of Saffron Walden, the site is not
identified for development other than as protected open space, wherein there
is a presumption against development unless the development scheme meets
the exceptions criteria within Policy LC1 of the UDC Local Plan. The
development is not considered to meet the exceptions criteria as further
discussed in Paragraph I below. In addition, the application does not mitigate

Page 65

the loss of the open space/playing fields or provide any adequate
replacement facilities.
11.3

The application is also located within the Saffron Walden conservation area
and the site forms what was sports and playing fields for the former Friends
school, having been associated to the school since 1879. This issue is
discussed further in Paragraph C, below. However, the scheme is considered
to conflict with the objectives of the conservation area.

11.4

Overall the issues outlined above and in the appraisal generally does not lend
support for the development as submitted.

B

Scale, layout, Character and Design (ULP Policies S7, GEN2, ENV1, ENV2,
ENV3 and the NPPF .

11.5

The scheme as submitted provides only a part of the layout and design in
detail for the site, bearing in mind the larger remaining area of the site is in
outline only.

11.6

In regard to the detailed aspect of the scheme, the layout is out of character
with the local area, see Fig: 6, providing for a large three storey block of flats
at the entrance into the site, which will be located between the carparks for
the swimming pool and the main car park for the flats with the access road
wrapping around the whole of the west side and along the southern frontage
of the building.

11.7

This will not be a quality environment for the flats, encountering noise from
the access road, the all-weather playing fields, the swimming pool and gym
building all which will be operating quite long hours especially in the
summertime. The proposed balconies to the flats will also have to endure
similar noise impact and fumes from cars, as well as flood lighting for the
sports pitches.

11.8

The layout of the site is significantly and detrimentally affected by the parking
arrangement and location, having little in the way of landscaping or screening,
the whole design for the site suffers significantly as a result of the parking
arrangement and large areas of hard surface. The footprint for the building
and the amenity space around it, have very little communal amenity area for
12 apartments.

11.9

In terms of the design of the buildings, the block of flats at the entrance to the
site have a disappointing external aspect having a large flat roof area and a
small hipped roof on the entrance tower. This incurs little in the way of the
local vernacular architecture and gives no importance to the entrance into the
site, especially with it being a large single block viewed directly from the road.

11.10 Internally the accommodation is adequate and complies with housing
standards, however, it does not provide for the housing mix that the council
housing officer requires in the comments outlined above.
11.11 The four x 3-bedroom terraced properties to the western boundary of the site,
will be two storey and will have a tiled and hipped roof with chimneys, see Fig
7.

Page 66

11.12 The design of the buildings appear adequate but greater detailing would
improve their presentation within the site. This is similar for the other two
terraced blocks to the centre of the site. These comprise 2 x five terraced
properties. Again these would benefit from better detailing and reflecting a
little more of the local character.
11.13 Notwithstanding the above, all the terraced blocks suffer with the level and
location of car parking, which introduces large areas of hard surface along all
frontages and to the sides, with little in the way of soft landscaping.
11.14 The internal arrangements are adequate for the terraced properties and
comply with housing standards however, the mix and type of units is not in
compliance with the housing officers requirements.
11.15 Overall the design of the scheme misses the opportunities that the site
affords.
C.

Design and impact on adjacent locally listed buildings and character of the
Conservation Area. (ULP Policies S1, ENV1, ENV2, ENV9, GEN2 and SPD.)

11.16 The conservation officer has expressed concern over the loss of the open
playing fields and its impact on the historic setting of the former Friends
School.
11.17 Whilst some of the open space has been designated for recreational use
within the current proposal, this is read within the context of an encroaching
and dominant residential development (with some blocks having heights
reaching three storeys) with the surroundings legibly serving the proposed
new dwellings. This will lead to the former School and its historic grounds
being divorced from each other and its original function and setting.
11.18 In addition, NPPF, Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic
environment, provides guidance on the government’s intent in relation to
heritage assets. Within this context, the site concerned is an irreplaceable
open space resource within the conservation area, which once lost cannot be
replaced. Any development of the site therefore needs to be fully considered
having available all relevant information.
11.19 The 2005 Local Plan policy ENV1 specifically provides that Outline
Applications for development within Conservation Areas will not be
considered. This is a hybrid application which includes an element of outline
approval for a larger area providing a further 70 dwellings, whilst seeking
detailed approval for 30 dwellings. In addition to this, the playing fields form
an important open space within the Saffron Walden Conservation Area and
they are designated as a Protected Open Space.
11.20 In its present form, the application being split between a detailed and an
outline application, ignore the adjoining locally listed structures of the school,
which are within the applicant’s control. The school buildings should be an
intrinsic part of this application as they are an important element within the
conservation area and to the playing fields.
11.21 Notwithstanding the hybrid nature of the application, it is considered that the
application in its current form, is unacceptable having regard to the number of
elements of the development which have not been addressed fully.

Page 67

11.22 Overall, the loss of the long standing playing fields and the replacement with
housing development is considered to be detrimental to the conservation
area, the protected amenity area (see paragraph P) and to the general setting
of the locally listed Friends School.
D

Housing provision and supply, affordable housing and housing mix (H9, H10,
SHMA & the NPPF)

11.23 The scheme includes for a total of 30 dwellings within the detailed part of this
hybrid application, whilst these are shown as 100% affordable housing
provision, the remaining area of the site, for which outline approval is being
sought, includes for a further 70 dwellings with no mention of any additional
affordable housing. On that basis the site appears to only provide for a 30%
affordable housing ratio, which would be a shortfall on the Councils
aspirations, as outlined in Policy H9 which would normally require 40%
affordable housing provision.
11.24 Further, the location of all the affordable housing for the scheme is located all
within the northern area of the site, this is not considered to be an acceptable
layout solution, the affordable housing should be located around the whole of
the site. In clusters of no more than 10 units and not contiguous. Further the
mix of housing proposed is not compliant with the Council’s Housing officers
requirements, which suggest that the mix of units should include for 5% of the
whole scheme to be delivered as fully wheelchair accessible, as well as 5% of
all units to be bungalows delivered as 1 and 2 bedroom units.
11.25 The scheme should also provide for 3 wheelchair accessible properties for
private sale, which should be part of the housing offer on this scheme, these
could be houses or bungalows.
11.26 In conclusion, the housing mix and location of affordable housing within the
overall hybrid application is not supported.
E

Transport and Infrastructure, Access and Parking (GEN1, GEN 6, GEN 8,
Uttlesford Local Parking Standards, Essex County Council Parking Standards
2009, PPG and NPPF)

11.27 The highways officer has objected to the application as t he developer
has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the highway authority that the
impact on the local highway network caused by this proposal is acceptable
in terms of highway safety, capacity and accessibility.
11.28 In terms of site layout and parking, there are issues with the swept path
analysis for vehicles within the site, the internal layout and parking
arrangements for the swimming pool area are inadequate and there is a
lack of covered and secure cycle spaces.
11.29 Overall, the scheme is unacceptable from a Highways aspect.
F

Exposure to poor air quality (ULP ENV13, NPPF & PPG.

Page 68

11.30 As mentioned previously, (9.14) The application site is within Saffron Walden
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), close to the southern extent. The
AQMA has been declared to prevent exceedance of national annual mean
objectives for concentrations of nitrogen dioxide. Traffic generated by the
proposal will impact on the AQMA.
11.31 The Air Quality Assessment (AQA) submitted by the applicant clearly
illustrates that on the opening year of 2023, it is clear that the proposal will be
contributing to an upward trend in emissions, and in accordance with national
planning guidance, such factors should be addressed at any detailed stage to
reduce emissions to a minimum, including those to support non car travel as
the site is within acceptable cycling/walking distance to amenities. However,
at this current stage and in the light of the information provided there is no
objection to the scheme of development from an AQMA aspect.
G

Protected species and biodiversity (ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF)

11.32 The ecology officer has a holding objection to the application at present
due to insufficient ecological information having been submitted.
H

Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3 and the NPPF) -

11.33 The lead local flood authority have not objected to the application and as such
there are no issues with the scheme from this aspect; subject to conditions
being included in any approval.
I

Protected amenity land, Sports fields

11.34 The 2005 Local Plan Policy LC1: states that development will not be
permitted if it would involve the loss of sports fields or other open space for
recreation, including allotments.
11.35 The UDC 2012 Open Spaces Report and the 2019 Uttlesford Sports Strategy
and supporting text in the Local Plan, all confirm that there is a deficit of
sports facilities in the Saffron Walden area.
The Town Council suggest:
‘that an aerial map of the town, clearly shows that apart from the
Common, this site is the only other substantial open and “green lung”
location in the town of Saffron Walden, therefore its loss would be of
great consequence to the environment and air quality of the town.
Additionally development on the open space will neither preserve nor
enhance the features and character of the Conservation Area.‘
11.36 Sport England have stated that of the 7.2 hectare application site, it is
estimated that when the school playing field was operational, approximately
4.56 hectares consisted of natural turf playing field area, which would be
capable of being used for marking out winter or summer playing pitches. They
also state that whilst the planning application indicates that 1.75 ha of sports
provision is proposed, Sport England would only consider that the proposed
artificial grass pitch would represent playing field provision as the remaining

Page 69

area would be used for the MUGA, Leap, and Lap children’s play areas as
well as the sports pavilion.
11.37 As an artificial grass pitch of approximately 0.74 ha is proposed (106x70
metres) this would only represent about half of the area of the proposed
sports provision, consequently, the proposals would be considered to result in
the net loss of around 3.82 hectare of playing field provision which would
have been available and capable of being used for marking out playing
pitches.
11.38 UDC Policy LC1 is concerned with total or partial loss of playing fields, open
space and allotments. It applies whether the facilities are still in active use or
whether through ownership, for example, the use is prevented.
11.39 It is clear that in this instance the proposed development will involve the loss
of 3.82hectare of sports fields with only around 0.74hectare of replacement
sports facilities being provided. Sports England have objected strongly to the
loss of the playing fields and would expect the application to be referred to the
Secretary of State should the application be considered for approval.
11.40 The scheme as submitted cannot however be supported due to the significant
loss of sports fields and facilities.
J

The proposed development is likely to have an impact on the services of two
GP practises operating within the vicinity of the application site.

11.41 The planning application does not include a health impact assessment (HIA)
or propose any mitigation of the healthcare impacts arising from the proposed
development. The development could generate approximately 250 residents
and subsequently increased demand upon existing constrained services. Any
approval will need to include for additional funding for GP practises.
12.

CONCLUSION
The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation to
refuse:












Impact on Conservation area and against conservation policy
Local Plan policy ENV1 specifically provides that Outline Applications for
development within Conservation Areas will not be considered
Loss of Protected amenity area
Loss of Sports fields and facilities
Unallocated land on Local Plan and site has not been put forward as a
possible development site through the Council’s ‘call for sites’.
Additional impact on Air Quality Management Area
Impact of proposed sports area on proposed dwellings, including Lighting and
Noise
Impact of Visitors and parking for sports facilities and swimming pool
Unacceptable Affordable housing provision, Housing mix and layout against
policy
Unsympathetic Design and choice of materials for new buildings which is
against character of the wider area
Impact on bio-diversity

Page 70




Lack of Health Impact Assessment (HIA)
Scheme overall is disjointed in its approach to the scheme development
adopting detailed submission for affordable housing, outline submission for
private housing and ignoring the associated locally listed school buildings
which are an intrinsic part of this whole site.

Furthermore, It is concluded that the proposal does not represent sustainable
development in the context of the NPPF, the tilted balance at paragraph 11 is
engaged because the relevant policies for the supply of housing including the
associated site allocations and development limits are out of date, in this case the
substantial adverse effect on landscape, settlement character and the adverse effect
on heritage assets would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits from
the proposals contribution towards housing land supply.
Taking into account the above conflicts with the development plan, the NPPF and all
other material considerations it is recommended that planning permission be refused.

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL
1. The scheme of development conflicts with ULP Policies S7, ENV2, ENV3, GEN1,
GEN2, GEN8 Essex Design Guide and the NPPF, as the design, layout, scale and
appearance of the development is considered inappropriate in terms of the character
of the site and surrounding area. In addition, the development would erode a
distinctive protected open space of significant importance to the character of this
area of Saffron Walden, as well as the conservation area and the locally listed school
buildings.
2. The submitted layout plans indicating the proposed sports uses and activities are
located such that the immediate environs of the new residential properties, will incur,
at close quarters, significant disturbance from noise, floodlighting, parking as well as
the general coming and going of visitors to the facilities which would be in conflict
with ULP Policies.
3. The proposal is not considered to represent sustainable development in the context
of Paragraph 8 of the NPPF, as it cannot show that the economic, social and
environmental aspects of the development are satisfied in a positive and beneficial
way. The development scheme as submitted, will involve a detrimental impact on the
conservation area, the loss of protected playing fields and sports facilities and the
locally listed school buildings. Paragraph 11 NPPF, requires full assessment of the
benefits that will accrue from the development to show that it will result in a positive
contribution. The loss of the protected sports fields, the impact on nearby locally
listed buildings and the conservation area would outweigh the benefits of the
scheme, especially with limited level of mitigation being proposed. Notwithstanding
the fact that the council does not have a 5 year housing supply at present, the type of
housing being proposed is not compliant with the housing officers requirements in
terms of mix, layout, scale and design. This is a further significant issue that weighs
against the development of the site and helps tilt the balance in the consideration of
para 11, NPPF.
4. The proposed highway access is considered to be inadequate and does not meet the
standards required by ECC policies GEN1, GEN8, parking standards, the NPPF and

Page 71

ECC Highways. In consequence it is considered that the access would be
detrimental to highway safety and the safety of pedestrians/cyclists movement in and
around the new junction.
5. The proposal does not show that the development of this site would involve a positive
contribution to bio-diversity and protected species in the local area, which is in
conflict with ECC policy Gen7.
6. The planning application does not include a health impact assessment (HIA) or
propose any mitigation of the healthcare impacts arising from the proposed
development, without this detail and assessment the application cannot be
supported..
7. The applicant has not established that this site is redundant in terms of its
longstanding sports use, nor has it been shown that there is an excess of sports
facilities and playing fields similar to the application site, consequently it is
considered that the loss of this open space area is considered unacceptable and
against UDP policy.

8. The 2005 Local Plan policy ENV1 specifically provides that Outline Applications for
development within Conservation Areas will not be considered, this application
incorporates the largest part of the site as an outline proposal which is considered to
be unacceptable without detailed information.

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Agenda Item 5
UTT/19/1789/FUL
MAJOR
PROPOSAL:

Residential development comprising 14 dwellings
(use class C3), vehicular access, public open
space, sustainable drainage systems and all other
associated hard/soft landscaping and infrastructure

LOCATION:

Land At Pound Hill, Little Dunmow

APPLICANT:

Enodis Group Ltd.

AGENT:

G L Hearn Ltd.

EXPIRY DATE:

04.11.2019 (Extension of time agreed until
26.03.2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Mr C Theobald

1.

NOTATION

1.1

ULP: Outside Development Limits.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site comprises an overgrown strip of undeveloped scrubland consisting of
1.25 hectares which fronts onto Pound Hill (Station Road) between Little Dunmow
village and Flitch Green. The site has a gentle fall from front to rear. A row of five
pairs of semi-detached post-war local authority constructed dwellings with long
back gardens (Pound Hill Villas) stand within an exposed frontage position along
the hill to the immediate east of the site as it descends down sharply on a gradual
bend towards Flitch Green, whilst three listed thatched cottages stand on level
ground to the immediate west of the site beyond a farm track leading to gently
rolling farmland behind the site. A further dwelling stands on the north side of
Pound Hill opposite the track entrance, whilst a replacement UDC social housing
scheme (The Moors) is in the process of being constructed on the corner of
Pound Hill and The Street.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This full application relates to the proposed residential development of the site for
the erection of 14 no. dwellings and garages, three of which would be affordable,
new vehicular access and rear service road, public open space, associated
hard/soft landscaping measures and sustainable drainage system. The scheme
has been reduced in size from 18 no. dwellings to 14 no. dwellings as now
proposed following negotiations which have taken place between Council officers
and the applicant’s planning agent during the course of the application
submission.

3.2

The application is accompanied by the following reports to inform the application
proposal which have been revised following the submission of revised drawings:


Planning and Consultation Report

Page 82












Design and Access Statement
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
Arboricultural Implications Assessment and Method Statement
Ecological Appraisal
Heritage Statement
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment
Transport Statement
Residential Travel Plan
Utilities Assessment
Phase 1 Contaminated Land Assessment

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development does not constitute 'EIA development' for the purposes of The
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant’s covering letter dated 22 December 2020 sets out the various
drawing revisions which have been made to the design and layout of this
proposed housing scheme since the application was first submitted, including the
reduction in the number of dwellings for the development from 18 no. residential
units to 14 units, the removal of a frontage terraced row of dwellings for the
scheme at the Council’s request as originally shown in favour of detached and
semi-detached units, subsequent layout revisions and the reinstatement of the
proposed landscaped attenuation basin to the western end of the development.

5.2

The revised Planning and Consultation Statement concludes as follows:


The application is accompanied by a full set of plans and technical
documents which demonstrate that the scheme is acceptable in principle
and in detail in relation to structural landscape and access.



It is acknowledged that the proposed development site is situated beyond
defined settlement limits as defined in the Adopted Uttlesford Local Plan
(January, 2005) and is therefore considered to be situated within the
Countryside. However:

(i)

An Appeal Decision has granted permission for a greater quantum of
development at the application site.

(ii)

The Adopted Uttlesford Local Plan is out of date by way of time expiry
– the plan period ran to 2011.

(iii)

Relevant policies for the supply of housing are out of date; and

(iv)

The Council are unable to demonstrate five years’ worth of housing
land supply.



As a result of these three key issues and in line with the recent Supreme
Court judgement Suffolk Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes Ltd and
Richborough Estates v Cheshire East Borough Council [2017] UKSC 37,
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged.

Page 83



Consequently in this case, the planning balance should be tilted in favour
of the grant of permission, except where the benefits are “significantly and
demonstrably” outweighed by the adverse effects. The revised proposal
has significantly improved the design quality of the scheme and addresses
the comments made by yourselves and consultees.



The proposed development provides significant benefits in the form of 14
much needed homes in Uttlesford, 21.5% of which are to be affordable
homes, which can importantly be delivered within the next five years,
contributing to the current supply shortfall of over 1,000 homes to 2020/21.
The revised proposal maintains a policy compliant quantum of affordable
housing at a more suitable development density in regard to the context of
the application site.



As a result of the landscape-led approach to the design of the submitted
proposal and extensive pre and post-application consultations with
Uttlesford District Council, Little Dunmow Parish Council and the local
communities, the application will deliver:



Housing – The development includes the delivery of 14 homes, 21.5% of
which are to be affordable homes. This will contribute to the Council’s five
year housing land supply shortfall as the proposed development site is
considered deliverable, i.e. it is available now, achievable with a realistic
prospect of being delivered within five years and suitable, in line with the
NPPF definition.



Landscaping – The proposed development would complement the existing
scale, historic settlement layout and linear development pattern without
adverse effects on the wider countryside character. The site provides a
soft defensible edge for the settlement boundary to the south and both the
orientation of the proposed built form, access points and open space
provide a defensible boundary to the countryside to the south and define
the settlement boundary.



Biodiversity – Enhancement of the site boundaries, as proposed through
the detailed structural landscaping, has the potential to enhance the site
as a commuting route for protected species. A sensitive lighting scheme
will encourage the use of new landscaping, boundary features and
protected species features within the site. The Landscape Planting Plan
targets locally native and important plant species for the area’s wildlife,
which are likely to result in a net biodiversity gain from the proposed
development.



Design – The design code submitted with the planning application will
ensure that the proposed development accords with the rules set out in the
Code. The design code will contribute to ensuring that the future design of
the scheme is in keeping with the surrounding character of the village of
Little Dunmow. The revised proposal also adheres to the majority of
guidelines set out in the Essex Design Guide.



We consider that the benefits of the scheme which are set out above, with
emphasis on the early delivery of much needed homes in the District,
outweighs any localised impact resulting from developing built form on

Page 84

Greenfield land and the balance should be tilted in favour of granting this
application, in line with the NPPF (paragraph 11).


In conclusion, in the words of the Planning Inspector (27th October 2017)
at the Inquiry at Land West of London Road, Newport (paragraph 77),
where the site was described as fallow agricultural land located in the
countryside, contained by ribbon development adjacent to the village with
a mature tree belt separating the site from the countryside, i.e. notably
similar to the proposal site in this instance:
“It is only through the approval of sites such as this, that the Council will be
able to improve its five year supply position”.



For the reasons set out in this Statement, this application is commended
and it is requested that planning permission be granted for the proposed
development.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

Outline planning permission with all matters reserved except access and
structural landscaping for the residential development of the site comprising 18
no. dwellings (use class C3), vehicular accesses, public open space, sustainable
drainage systems, associated hard and soft landscaping works and infrastructure
was refused by the Council on 13 December 2018 (UTT/18/0440/OP refers –
Enodis Group Limited) for the following stated reason:
1

The indicative development, in particular the indicative layout, would result
in an overdevelopment which would create a non-linear and cramped
development that would result in an adverse impact on the frontage street
scene and visually impact into the open space beyond contrary to
Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN2.

6.2

The indicative site layout plan for that proposed development showed a new
service road accessing from Pound Hill close to the western end of the site
running then parallel behind the existing highway which would serve a line of
dwellings set back deep from the road frontage leading to a spur road coming off
at right angles at the eastern end of the development to serve in turn a further two
opposing rows of dwellings. A narrow landscaping/public open space strip was
shown between the highway and the service road, whilst a landscaped
attenuation basin was shown at the site’s western end.

6.3

The delegated officer report for the submitted application remarked that the site
was situated reasonably close to local services located within the surrounding
settlements (a reference notably to those services and facilities available in Flitch
Green) whereby a pavement existed outside the site leading towards The Moors
and the village nucleus of Little Dunmow and also towards Flitch Green in the
other direction. The report summarised the planning merits of the submitted
scheme as follows;
“The applicant is considered to have established the principle of
development for the site. There are no issues relating to highways or biodiversity
within the site subject to conditions. The layout is not acceptable due to the visual
incursion into the countryside. A linear development is preferred. The layout mix
does not accord with the Council's requirements, in particular the need for at least
one dwelling to be an accessible bungalow”, concluding that, “The proposal is not

Page 85

in accordance with national and local planning policies and so it is an
unacceptable form of development”.
6.4

A subsequent appeal against the Council’s decision was allowed on 6 December
2019. The Planning Inspector considered that the main issue for the appeal was
the effect that the proposed development would have on the character and
appearance of the area with particular reference to layout, whereby the inspector
considered that the site “provides a pleasant relief in the largely open arable
landscape”. The Inspector noted that the building grain of Little Dunmow was
broadly characterised by a loose and irregular linear character with discernible
building lines, whereby this pattern of development was also present along Station
Road, although noting that the listed cottages along Moors Lane were arranged
more in depth. The Inspector further noted that the plan form of the proposed
development would have some “synergy” with the wider pattern of development in
Little Dunmow, but that various aspects of the indicative housing layout to the rear
would result in a cramped and unsatisfactory form of development. However, the
Inspector went onto say that layout was a reserved matter and that the final form
of the housing layout could be improved upon at reserved matters stage whereby
he added that; “Space could be created to give a stronger linear character if
smaller properties were proposed”….and that, notably, “In conclusion, 18 homes
at the appeal site would not result in an inherently unacceptable layout that would
harm the character and appearance of the area”.

6.5

The Inspector considered the visual impacts that the proposed development
would have on the rural setting of the site outside development limits,
commenting that the proposal would urbanise the appeal site resulting in some
adverse impacts on the character and appearance of the countryside. The
Inspector added that;
“However, the overall effect would be qualified by the retention of a strong
landscaped perimeter, the potential to keep the houses low and reflecting the
local vernacular, the presence of housing in the vicinity, including development
either side, and the potential for a broadly linear layout, which would permit the
proposal to integrate into its context and prevent a discordant incursion into the
field behind. Overall, the impact on the countryside would be an adverse impact
of moderate weight”.

6.6

With regard to other material matters, the Inspector commented that the Council
did not have a 5 year housing land supply (2.68 years stated), that the site was
within a sustainable location relative to local services, that the development would
preserve the setting of the adjacent listed buildings providing that an adequate
buffer could be retained if the western extent of the site was to be left
undeveloped with an attenuation basin in the way indicated on the indicated
layout, that the site was sufficiently far away from the Little Dunmow Conservation
Area to ensure its character and appearance would be preserved, that the
appellant’s ecological assessment had demonstrated that the proposal would not
harm protected species, that highway access could be provided safely and that
the impact on the wider road network would not be severe. In response to the
Parish Council’s stated concern that ribbon development such as that proposed
would result in harmful coalescence between Little Dunmow and Flitch Green, the
Inspector was not persuaded on this point, being of the opinion that Felsted,
Flitch Green and Little Dunmow were still distinct settlements being separated by
arable fields.

Page 86

6.7

The Inspector found for his overall conclusion that the layout of the appeal
scheme need not be at odds with the character and appearance of the area and
thus the development plan subject to an improved site layout submitted at
reserved matters stage. That said, he found that the location of the proposed
development would be contrary to the development plan in terms of the scheme’s
inconsistency with the countryside protection aims of ULP Policy S7, but that
there were other material considerations, namely the Framework, which
outweighed this finding.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (revised February 2019)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ULP Policy ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
ULP Policy ENV4 – Ancient Monuments and Sites of Archaeological Importance
ULP Policy H1 – Housing Development
ULP Policy H9 – Affordable Housing
ULP Policy H10 – Housing Mix
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
ULP Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD “Affordable Homes and Playspace”.
Other Material Considerations:
Essex Design Guide
Essex County Council Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice”
(September 2009)
Uttlesford District Council Parking Standards (February 2013)
Uttlesford District Council Interim Climate Change Planning Policy (February
2021)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Object: The site layout would accentuate the increasing linear development
between Little Dunmow village and Flitch Green. Note: Other comments were
expressed by the Parish Council concerning the number of dwellings proposed as
originally submitted prior to the proposed scheme being reduced in numbers.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
Essex County Council highways

Page 87

9.1

The impact of the proposal is acceptable to the Highway Authority from a highway
and transportation perspective subject to appropriate highway conditions.
Note:
The assessment of the application and Transport Statement was undertaken with
reference to the National Planning Policy Framework and the following was
considered: access and safety; capacity; the opportunities for sustainable
transport; and mitigation measures.
Given that there is potential for parking along Station Road as a direct result of
this development, it seems to be a reasonable request for a contribution towards a
Traffic Regulation Order to be secured to eliminate any potential safety issues
with regards to parking, should a parking issue arise.
Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA)

9.2

(revised comments received 14/01/2021):
As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) this Council provides advice on SuDS
schemes for major developments. We have been the statutory consultee on
surface water since the 15th April 2015.
In providing advice, this Council looks to ensure sustainable drainage proposals
comply with the required standards as set out in the following documents:
• Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems
• Essex County Council’s (ECC’s) adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems Design
Guide
• The CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753)
• BS8582 Code of practice for surface water management for development sites.
Lead Local Flood Authority position:
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents
which accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the proposal
subject to the imposition of sustainable drainage conditions.
Place Services (Heritage)

9.3

(revised comments received 21/01/2021):
This advice follows on from previous in the letter dated 09/08/2020 following
revised plans and further information being submitted.
As previously identified, there are four Grade II listed buildings to the west of the
site, namely Penash (list entry number: 1112812); Brights Cottage (list entry
number: 1168349); The Cottage (list entry number: 1322294) and Willow Cottage
(list entry number: 1112813). Therefore, the potential impact upon the setting and
significance of the heritage assets must be considered.
Upon review of the revised plans, the proposed layout of the development and the
location of the above ground SUDs feature is now largely similar to the previous
scheme allowed at Appeal (Ref: APP/C1570/W/19/3228069). As stated by the
Inspector, if the western extent is left undeveloped the proposal would preserve
the setting of the listed buildings. Therefore, in addition to the revised layout and

Page 88

the submitted planting plan, I consider the previous concern raised through the
inappropriate encroachment of the development to have been addressed.
With regards to the overall design and the layout of the dwellings, I do not
consider the previous concern raised to have been addressed. The ‘repetitive and
regimented’ manner of the proposed development is considered to not
sympathetically respond to local character and distinctiveness. In particular, the
creation of a rear access road with garages and parking is considered
incongruous and results in a distinctly urban development. It was stated by the
Inspector within the Appeal decision that ‘omitting garages and reducing the
extent of internal roads would also give more space around the buildings for soft
landscaping’. I suggest revised plans are submitted which better reflect local
character and distinctiveness, omitting the rear access road and garages.
Regarding the scale of the development and the units, the revised plans are
largely identical to previous, thus I do not consider previous concerns to have
been overcome and therefore previous advice is still relevant.
Whilst I have no objections, I believe the quality of this scheme could be improved
through an improved layout.
Place Services (Ecology)
9.4

(revised comments received 25/01/ 2021):
No objections subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Summary:
We have reviewed the documents supplied with the application, including the
Revised Site Block Plan, Design and Access Statement Addendum, and Revised
Planting Plan (Small Bim Architecture, July 2020), the Biodiversity Appraisal and
Reptile Survey Reports (Engain, May 2019) and the newly submitted Revised
Ecological Appraisal (Engain, December 2020); to help assess the likely impacts
of the development on designated sites, protected & priority species & habitats.
We note that the development site is situated within the Impact Risk Zone for
Hatfield Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/National Nature Reserve
(NNR) as shown on MAGIC map (www.magic.gov.uk). Therefore, Natural
England’s advice to Uttlesford DC should be followed to ensure that impacts are
minimised to this site from new residential development. As this application is
less than 50 or more units, Natural England do not, at this time, consider that is
necessary for the LPA to secure a developer contribution towards a package of
funded Strategic Access Management Measures (SAMMs) at Hatfield Forest.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable.
The Revised Ecological Appraisal (Engain, December 2020) advises the
development layout has been revised since the ecological assessment was

Page 89

undertaken and therefore a subsequent Phase 1 Habitat Survey was conducted
on the 1st December 2020 in order to provide an update assessment of the site
and the new layout to verify the original findings and to establish of the outcomes
or recommendations.
With regard to Reptiles, the reptile surveys in 2017 recorded a single female slow
worm at the same location during two consecutive surveys in September. No
other herpetofauna were recorded at the site. The subsequent Phase 1 Habitat
Survey advises the context of the site has changed very little in the intervening
period – reptile populations in surrounding areas are not likely to have changed
substantially in that time. As of the survey in December 2020, the habitats at the
site were similar with the exception that a swathe has been cut through the scrub
in the middle of the site. We are therefore satisfied that the precautionary
measures recommended for reptiles are relevant for this application and at this
time the surveys do not need to be repeated. This provides certainty to the LPA
on the impacts to Reptiles, Protected Species.
A detailed Working Method statement for Reptiles should be provided as part of a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for the proposed
development site. The Working Method will provide timings and protocols for the
protection of reptiles during vegetation clearance. The landscaping plan for the
site should include areas of enhanced habitat for reptiles within the site
boundaries and public open space, specifically maintaining a link between the site
and the arable habitat to the south.
We are satisfied that existing vegetation along all site boundaries will be retained
where possible, and there will be additional tree planting provided particularly
along the western and southern boundaries. Native trees will also be provided
throughout the public open space. The retention of the existing woodland /
scrubland along the site boundaries will seek to preserve existing on site habitats
and maintain wildlife connections to offsite habitats. Habitats will be enhanced
through native planting design, with additional provision from the proposed
attenuation pond and associated species-rich wildflower and marginal aquatic
planting. In addition, wildlife friendly fencing will be included throughout the
development.
We recommend that a bat sensitive lighting scheme should be secured as a
condition of any consent. Technical specification should be submitted prior to
occupation, which demonstrates measures to avoid lighting impacts to foraging /
commuting bats, which are likely present within the local area.
We support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined
under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. The
reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined within a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured. This should reflect the
loss of habitats onsite, and therefore include bird and bat boxes, reptile
hibernacula and plants that attract a wide range of invertebrates.
We also support the inclusion of a long-term Ecological Management Plan as
recommended in the Biodiversity Appraisal (Engain, May 2019), which should be
secured as a condition of any consent.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.

Page 90

Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to
conditions based on BS42020:2013.
Place Services (Archaeology)
9.5

(revised comments received 06/01/2021):
RECOMMENDATION: An Archaeological Programme of Trial Trenching followed
by Open Area Excavation.
Essex County Council Education

9.6

An education contribution will not be requested in this instance as the
development comprises of less than 20 dwellings. I would be grateful if we are
automatically consulted on any appeal or further application relating to this site.
Anglian Water

9.7

(revised comments received 09/01/2021):
ASSETS
Section 1 - Assets Affected:
There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption
agreement within or close to the development boundary that may affect the layout
of the site.
WASTEWATER SERVICES
Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment:
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Felsted Water
Recycling Centre which currently does not have capacity to treat the flows the
development site. Anglian Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from the
development with the benefit of planning consent and would therefore take the
necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity should the
Planning Authority grant planning permission.
Section 3 - Used Water Network:
This response has been based on the following submitted documents: REVISED
FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT AND DRAINAGE STRATEGY. T he sewerage system at
present has available capacity for these flows. If the developer wishes to connect
to our sewerage network they should serve notice under Section 106 of the Water
Industry Act 1991. We will then advise them of the most suitable point of
connection.
Section 4 - Surface Water Disposal:
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable
drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option.
Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the

Page 91

preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then
connection to a sewer. Anglian Water has reviewed the submitted documents
(REVISED FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT AND DRAINAGE STRATEGY) and can
confirm that these are acceptable to us.
Section 5 - Suggested Planning Conditions:
Anglian Water would therefore recommend the following planning condition if the
Local Planning Authority is mindful to grant planning approval:
Surface Water Disposal (Section 4):
No condition required. We require these documents to be listed as approved
plans/documents if permission is granted.
Essex Police
9.8

(revised comments received 11/01/2021):
(ULP Policy GEN2 (d) – “It helps to reduce the potential for crime”. We refer to our
earlier comments of 3/8/2020. We would welcome the opportunity to consult on
this development to assist the developer with their obligation under this policy and
at the same time achieve a Secured by Design Homes award.
MAG

9.9

(revised comments received 08/01/2021):
The Safeguarding Authority for Stansted Airport has assessed this proposal and
its potential to conflict aerodrome Safeguarding criteria. It does not have any
aerodrome safeguarding objections to the proposal.
Advisory:
The applicant’s attention is drawn to the new procedures for crane and tall
equipment notifications, please see:
https://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP1096%20E2.1%20September%202020
%20FINAL.pdf
UDC Housing Officer

9.10

(revised comments received 01/03/2021):
Thank you for your email. The provision of 20% affordable housing at this site is
acceptable given that the site has now reduced to 14 units. As there are only to
be 3 no. affordable units, it is best if they are all for affordable rent as a Registered
Provider would not want just a single shared ownership unit on a site which is
what it would be with the normal 70%/30% split between affordable rent and
shared ownership.
It would be preferable if the mix could change slightly so that there was a 2 bed
ground floor accessible M4(3) property and a 1 bed flat to the first floor as there is
a housing register applicant currently living with a family in Felsted who requires a
2 bed fully wheelchair accessible property as she requires a 2nd bedroom to allow
for overnight care and this site would be ideal if this could be provided.

Page 92

UDC Landscaping Officer
9.11

(revised comments received 25 February 2021):
I do not have any landscaping objections to the proposed scheme of landscaping
as submitted on the revised Planting Plan other than I would wish to see the
proposed planting of birch substituted with field maple.
UDC Environmental Health Officer

9.12

(revised comments dated 12/08/2020):
The scheme as amended for application UTT/19/1789/FUL remains broadly the
same as originally submitted and therefore our recommended contamination
condition requiring a Phase 2 investigation report as recommended by the
submitted Create Consulting Engineers Ltd report dated May 2019 (ref
CB/CC/P17-1319/07 Rev C) being submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority remains valid. Where found to be necessary by the
Phase 2 report, a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site shall also be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Note: Request for electrical charging points to be added to previous
recommendation.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

36 representations received. Neighbour notification period expires 22 August
2019 (25 January 2021 - revised plans). Advertisement expires 5 August 2019.
Site notice expires 17 September 2019.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:














10.3

The development would not sit comfortably within the local landscape
The development would cause inappropriate coalescence between Little
Dunmow and Flitch Green
The development as a gateway into Little Dunmow from the east would not
reflect the historic character of the hamlet (Doomsday Book)
Unprepossessing linear infill development
Density of the development for this site is too high
Would be harmful to the setting of three adjacent listed buildings
The development would be built on scrubland that serves as useful
ecology habitats for protected and priority species
Little Dunmow has no services or facilities apart from a restaurant
Would increase traffic onto Station Road
Issues of road safety, including access and egress to the site
Low water pressure in the area
The scheme of proposed landscaping is unconvincing
The development should not be measured against the UDC social housing
site now being built at The Moors on a brownfield site

It should be noted that several of the representations originally submitted made
reference to the original number of 18 no. dwellings for this submitted Full housing
scheme before this number was subsequently reduced to 16 and then 14 no. units

Page 93

whereby it was considered that 18 dwellings was too high for the site in terms of
housing density and the impacts that such a number would have in terms of
design and resultant appearance on the streetscene.
11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A

B
C
D
E
F
G
H

Principle of development having regard to sustainable development principles –
flood risk, accessibility to local services, countryside protection, heritage
protection and current LPA housing land supply status (NPPF, ULP Policies
GEN1, GEN3, S7, ENV2, ENV4 and H1);
Whether proposed access arrangements would be acceptable (NPPF and ULP
Policy GEN1);
Design (NPPF, ULP Policy GEN2);
Vehicle parking standards (ULP Policy GEN8);
Impact on neighbouring residential amenity (NPPF, ULP Policy GEN2);
Whether the proposed housing mix would be acceptable (NPPF, ULP Policy H10);
Affordable housing requirements (NPPF, ULP Policy H9);
Impact on trees / protected and priority species (NPPF, ULP Policies ENV3 and
GEN7).

A

Principle of development having regard to sustainable development
principles – flood risk, accessibility to local services, countryside
protection, heritage protection and current LPA housing land supply status
(NPPF, ULP Policies GEN1, GEN3, S7, ENV2, ENV4 and H1)

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that
planning applications must be determined in accordance with the planning policies
set out in the Adopted Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The planning policies contained within the National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework) are also a material planning consideration,
particularly where the policies in the Adopted Development Plan are considered to
be out of date whereby the revised NPPF provides the statutory guidance for
determining planning applications at a national level. The adopted development
plan for Uttlesford comprises the Uttlesford Local Plan which was adopted in
January 2005 and is therefore now over 15 years old and pre-dates both the
original NPPF (2012) and the latest version (2019). A neighbourhood plan does
not currently exist for Little Dunmow.

11.2

The NPPF emphasises that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development. The Framework also sets out
objectives for achieving this aim, including the need to deliver a sufficient supply
of homes in the right place at the right time to support the government’s objective
of significantly boosting the supply of homes. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF confirms
the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ and explains that there are
three dimensions to sustainable development, namely, economic; social; and
environmental.

11.3

Paragraph 11d) of the NPPF states that where there are no relevant development
plan policies, or the policies which are the most important for determining the
application are out of date (including applications involving the provision of
housing where the LPA cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply), the
LPA should grant planning permission unless (i) the application of policies in the
Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear

Page 94

reason for refusing the development (see Footnote 6); or (ii) any adverse impacts
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
11.4

It should be emphasised for the purposes of clarity that the current application is
an elected full application submission and not a reserved matters application from
outline application UTT/18/0440/OP allowed at appeal for 18 no. dwellings as
referenced above, even though it would still have been possible procedurally for
the applicant to have submitted a DFO application to the LPA for formal
determination as the time for reserved matters submission for such an application
does not expire until 13 December 2021. It is therefore necessary to consider the
principle of development again for the current application submission.
Flood risk:

11.5

The site falls within Flood Zone 1 meaning that the site is at low risk of fluvial
flooding. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and
Drainage Strategy (revised 23.12.2020) providing details of existing drainage
features at the site and sustainable drainage measures proposed for the
submitted scheme whereby the proposed scheme includes the provision of a
SuDS attenuation basin for the western end of the development site as shown on
the submitted drawings.

11.6

The submitted FRA and drainage scheme has been examined by the Lead Local
Drainage Authority who have not objected to the drainage report and associated
documents accompanying the application in their revised comments dated 14
January 2021 subject to drainage conditions, including the submission for
condition discharge of a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site
based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydro-geological context of the proposed development. No drainage
objections are therefore raised on this basis under the relevant provisions of the
NPPF and ULP Policy GEN3.
Accessibility to local services

11.7

Paragraph 78 of the NPPF notes that in order to promote sustainable
development in rural areas housing should be located where it will enhance or
maintain the vitality of rural communities. Paragraph 108 of the Framework states
that in assessing specific applications for development that it should be ensured
that (a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be
– or have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location, whilst
paragraph 111 advises that all developments that will generate significant
amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan.

11.8

The site is located equidistant between the nucleus settlement of Little Dunmow,
which contains no local services or amenities with the exception of a public house/
restaurant, and Flitch Green to the south, which has a good level of local service
and amenity provision, including a primary school and local supermarket to serve
the residents of that larger nearby settlement. Felsted village beyond as a
recognised sustainable settlement has additional local services and amenities,
including a further primary school. The site is located within 400m of bus stops for
the hourly No.133 bus service and also the No.16 service, both which run along
Station Road through Felsted and Little Dunmow, whereby bus stops are
conveniently situated on Pound Hill outside Pound Hill Villas to the immediate

Page 95

east of the site boundary and therefore within immediate walking distance of the
site.
11.9

This relatively sustainable position of the application site to local services and
amenities and also availability to public transport was recognised both within the
delegated officer report for refused application UTT/18/0440/OP and also by the
planning inspector for the subsequently allowed appeal. It is therefore considered
that the social objective of the NPPF is met by this assessment.
Countryside protection

11.10

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF seeks to protect and enhance ‘valued landscapes’ in
a ‘manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the
development plan’ whereby the Framework requires recognition to be given to the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. ULP Policy S7 states that the
countryside will be protected for its own sake and that planning permission will
only be given for development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to a
rural area, adding that there will be strict controls on new building. Policy S7 also
states that development will only be permitted if its appearance protects or
enhances the particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is
set or there are special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs
to be there. Policy S7 has been found, however, to be partially consistent with the
provisions of the NPPF following an independent policy review of the adopted
local plan against the NPPF (Ann Skippers) whereby its restrictive stance towards
housebuilding in the countryside contrasts with the more proactive stance taken
by the NPPF towards sustainable development within the rural areas. Policy S7,
however, is still a saved local plan policy and carries weight.

11.11

The site for the purposes of the land edged in red comprises an undeveloped and
overgrown frontage strip along Pound Hill between Brights Cottage and Pound Hill
Villas. The site and surrounding landscape are not covered by any statutory or
local landscape designation or identified within the development plan for its
particular landscape quality. Therefore, the site is not a ‘valued landscape’ in the
context of the Framework and its location means that it is generally representative
of the wider countryside in the area.

11.12

The delegated officer report for refused application UTT/18/0440/OP for 18. No
dwellings with associated infrastructure, including rear service road and which
represents the pre-cursor to the current full application assessed that that
development by achieving the desired number of dwelling units “would create a
visual intrusion into the countryside in that built form would be perpendicular to the
main road” whereby it was further stated that a more appropriate housing scheme
for the site “would be a single row of dwellings in a linear orientation along the
main road with comparable plot sizes to existing properties”. In assessing this
issue, the planning inspector for the resultant appeal considered that the conflict
with Policy S7 represented an adverse impact of the appeal scheme, but could
only apply moderate weight to Policy S7 in its aim to protect the countryside given
the need to recognise the Council’s lack of a 5 year housing land supply. The
proposed scheme as submitted originally for 18 no. dwellings, but now reduced to
14 no. dwellings purposely through its design now conforms with the planning
officer’s suggestion of having a single row of dwellings in linear orientation along
Pound Hill (Station Road) instead to overcome this objection.

11.13

The application is accompanied by a detailed Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment which has assessed the visual impact that the proposed

Page 96

development would have on the local landscape from various viewpoints and
settings and which concludes as follows:
“The LVIA also demonstrates that the proposed development would be
compliant with all national and local landscape planning policies. The retention
and strengthening of the mature vegetation around the site (and within the wider
local area), alongside the proposed landscape and ecological mitigation and
enhancement measures, help to contain the potential for wider landscape and
visual effects of the development. The LVIA demonstrates that the proposed
development could be successfully integrated within the existing site and
assimilated into the surrounding landscape without causing wide scale change to
landscape character and visual amenity”.
11.14

The LVIA conducted demonstrates that the visual impacts of the proposed
development within its localised setting both by the scale of the proposal and by
the landscaping measures which would be introduced to buffer the development,
particularly from the more exposed lower position to the south, would not be
significant and demonstrable and that only moderate weight can be afforded to
ULP Policy S7 in terms of countryside protection consistent with the view taken by
the planning inspector for application UTT/18/0440/OP. As such, it is considered
that the environmental objective of the NPPF is met in terms of assessing wider
environmental impacts.
Heritage protection

11.15

Section 16(2) and Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 state that LPAs should seek to protect the integrity
and setting of listed buildings. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of
a designated heritage asset that this harm should be weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal. ULP Policy ENV2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan relating to
heritage protection states that “Development affecting a listed building should be
in keeping with its scale, character and surroundings. Demolition of a listed
building, or development proposals that adversely affect the setting, and
alterations that impair the special characteristics of a listed building, will not be
permitted.

11.16

The site is located adjacent to three grade II listed cottages, namely Brights
Cottage, The Cottage and Willow Cottage. Therefore, the potential impact of the
proposed development upon the setting and significance of these heritage assets
must be considered. As previously mentioned in this report, the planning inspector
assessed for the 18 no. dwelling scheme indicated for outline application
UTT/18/0440/OP that that development would preserve the setting of the adjacent
listed buildings, which the Inspector referred to as being “vernacular cottages
intrinsically linked with the rural landscape”, providing that an adequate buffer
could be retained if the western extent of the site was to be left undeveloped with
an attenuation basin in the way indicated on the submitted layout.

11.17

The proposed housing layout as subsequently revised through the current
application acknowledges this layout preference whereby a good separation
distance of some 60m exists between the nearest dwelling within the development
(Plot 1) and the nearest of these listed buildings (Brights Cottage and The
Cottage) whereby the impact of the development on these nearby heritage assets
would be further mitigated by proposed boundary planting. These mitigating
effects are reflected in Place Services’ revised consultation response dated 21

Page 97

January 2021 whereby they state that “Therefore, in addition to the revised layout
and the submitted planting plan, I consider the previous concern raised through
the inappropriate encroachment of the development to have been addressed”.
11.18

Place Services are less complimentary regarding the design of the dwellings
proposed for the scheme whereby they state in their response that; “With regard
to the overall design and the layout of the dwellings, I do not consider the previous
concern raised to have been addressed. The ‘repetitive and regimented’ manner
of the proposed development is considered to not sympathetically respond to local
character and distinctiveness. In particular, the creation of a rear access road
with garages and parking is considered incongruous and results in a distinctly
urban development”. However, it is also noted that Place Services do not
specifically raise any heritage objections to the proposed design and layout of the
scheme.

11.19

Place Services’ comments regarding design have been noted, although it is
considered that the design and appearance of the dwellings, and also the spacing
between the dwellings, is such that any adverse impacts upon the setting of the
aforementioned listed buildings would be less than significant when assessed
under paragraph 196 of the NPPF whereby the housing benefits of the proposal at
this sustainable location are a material consideration. As such, it is considered
that no heritage objections can be reasonably raised to the proposal under ULP
Policy ENV2. The requirements for a programme of archaeological trial trenching
followed by open area excavation as required by Place Services given the site
has moderate archaeological potential to contain Late Prehistoric and Roman
remains within an area of known sensitive archaeological deposits can be
conditioned (ULP Policy ENV4).
Current LPA housing land supply status

11.20

The NPPF requires all local planning authorities to identify a supply of specific
deliverable sites to provide five years’ new housing supply against their
requirements as calculated under national policies. A housing trajectory is used
by Councils to calculate their 5-year housing land supply and demonstrate
whether anticipated housing delivery will meet or exceed those housing
requirements. Uttlesford District Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 Year
Housing Land Supply where the current housing deficit against statutory housing
requirements now stands as adjusted at 3.11 years for the 2020-2025 period as of
1 April 2020 following a UDC planning policy review and update of its housing
trajectory and 5 year housing land supply calculation where the deficit previously
stood at 2.68 years as at 1 April 2019. Accordingly, it remains the case that the
Council’s adopted policies which are most important for determining planning
applications must be considered out of date, including ULP Policy H1 of the
adopted Local Plan relating to the distribution of housing within the district.

11.21

The principle of housing development at this greenfield site is therefore still
considered acceptable when assessed against all of the above policy and
constraints criteria. Detailed considerations are now discussed.

B

Whether proposed access arrangements would be acceptable (NPPF and
ULP Policy GEN1)

11.22

Applicants and developers are required to show that their development would not
compromise the safety of the highway by ensuring that any additional traffic
generated by the development can be easily and safely accommodated within the

Page 98

existing highway network (ULP Policy GEN1). A Transport Statement (TA) has
been submitted with the application.
11.23

A new vehicular access would be formed to the proposed development from
Station Road (Pound Hill) towards the western end of the site and a new rear
service road created which would extend down close to the rear boundary of the
site before returning parallel with Pound Hill along the rear boundary behind the
proposed row of dwellings to an end turning circle at the western end of the
development site. Swept path analysis plans have been submitted to show that
refuse and emergency vehicles could enter and leave the site safely.

11.24

Station Road (Pound Hill) is a Class III highway. The proposed access point to the
development would be formed on the gradual inside of the curve of the road
thereby giving a good degree of forward visibility in each direction along the road.
ECC Highways have seen the submitted drawings for the proposal, including the
most recent revision set and have assessed the suitability of the proposed access
having regard to the submitted transport statement and considering issues of
access and egress, safety, capacity and the opportunities for sustainable
transport and mitigation measures.

11.25

ECC Highways have stated in their consultation response dated 10 February
2021 that the impact of the proposal is acceptable to the Highway Authority from a
highway and transportation perspective subject to conditions, including the
requirement to upgrade the two existing bus stops which exist at Pound Hill within
the immediate vicinity of the site as shown on the “Proposed Access General
Arrangement Plan” and also the requirement for an index linked commuted sum
payment to be paid to the Highway Authority to fund a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO), to include relevant signing, lining and all other statutory processes on
Station Road outside the development site to restrict casual parking and to
facilitate the safe and efficient movement of traffic along Station Road. The
proposal is acceptable under ULP Policy GEN1 subject to these highway
requirements whereby the applicant has agreed to enter into a Section106
agreement relating to the bus stop upgrade works and to provide a Travel
Information Pack.

C

Design (NPPF, ULP Policy GEN2)

11.26

The NPPF advises that the creation of high quality buildings and places is an
important part of the development process and a key aspect of sustainable
development. Paragraph 127 states that all new developments should “function
well and add to the overall quality of the area….; be visually attractive as a result
of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; be
sympathetic to local character and history including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting….; establish or maintain a strong sense of
place…; while optimising the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other public
space).” ULP Policy GEN2 states that development will only be permitted unless
its design meets all design criteria contained within the policy and has regard to
Supplementary Design Guidance and SPD’s, including the SPD “Accessible
Homes and Playspace”.

11.27

The proposed development would comprise the erection of 4 no. detached
dwellings (one of which would be affordable), 8 no. semi-detached dwellings and
2 no. horizontally divided flats (Plots 13 and 14) in an end detached dwelling (both

Page 99

of which would be affordable). An accommodation schedule is provided below
showing a breakdown:
Plot

Tenure

Type

Bedrooms

Amenity

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14

Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Market
Affordable
Affordable
Affordable

Detached
Detached
S/detached
S/detached
S/detached
S/detached
S/detached
S/detached
Detached
S/detached
S/detached
Detached
Flats
Flat

4
4
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
2
2

123sqm
185
135
150
149
118
122
161
205
154
152
174
52
52

Parking
4
4
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
1
2

Scale, Layout and Appearance
11.28

The proposed dwellings would be set back from Pound Hill behind a new
continuous front entrance footpath to provide pedestrian access to the frontage of
the dwellings, whilst a further connecting pathway which would be landscaped
would connect the front and the rear of the site at right angles between Plots 11
and 12. The linear footprint positioning of the dwellings would be broadly
consistent with the existing “building line” of Burgess Cottages and Pound Hill
Villas to the immediate east of the site. There would be a reasonable separation
distance between the dwellings, again which would be broadly consistent with the
separation distances for the adjacent dwellings, whereby the separation distances
for the proposed dwellings have been improved by the reduction in the number of
dwellings for the current scheme down to fourteen as now shown. The dwellings
would have private garden amenity spaces which would comply with the Essex
Design Guide.

11.29

The dwellings as shown on the proposed revised Site Section drawing would be a
mixture of house types and styles seeking to echo the local building vernacular.
Most roofs would be pitched, although a few would incorporate half-hipped roofs.
All of the dwellings would have a uniform ridge height to provide consistency of
roof heights within the street scene. The dwellings would be externally clad in a
mixture of finishes as shown on the Materials Palette drawing whereby the roofs
would be externally clad in a mixture of red clay tiles and artificial slate, whilst the
walls would be clad in a mixture of red facing brick with corbelled brick string
coursing, render and horizontal timber cladding. The dwellings would include a
good level of detailing and all would incorporate chimneys. The garages to the
dwellings would have half-hipped roofs incorporating low eaves lines and would
similarly be clad in a mixture of tile and slate roofs, red facing brickwork and
timber cladding walls.

11.30

It is considered that the scale, layout and appearance of the dwellings as shown
would be acceptable for this end of settlement location interfacing as it does with
more open countryside beyond and to the rear and no design objections are
raised under ULP Policy GEN2 in this regard whereby it is considered that the

Page 100

scheme would align with the design requirements of the NPPF. The applicant has
agreed to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to provide public open space (POS)
for the scheme, namely that to be provided around the proposed landscaped
attentiation basin as shown on the submitted drawings.
Submitted landscaping measures
11.31

It is considered important for this site to require a robust scheme of landscaping
for the proposed development to mitigate against visual harms which could arise
from a development layout such as this at this edge of settlement location,
particularly when viewing the site from mid to long views from lower farmland to
the south whereby footpaths exist within the valley below, including Footpath 35
which returns back up to Pound Hill. This was also commented on by the
planning inspector for outline application UTT/18/0440/OP.

11.32

A detailed planting plan has been submitted (BMD.19.022.DR.P002 E) which
shows how landscaping measures would be introduced to help assimilate the
development into its local setting. In this regard, new native tree planting would
be planted within the existing frontage hedgerow along Pound Hill to reinforce the
existing hedging which would be retained to screen and soften the development
from the road frontage. More substantial structural planting would extend along
the rear southern boundary of the site which would contain a mix of species and
size of trees which would serve to screen the development from the south in time,
whilst a landscaped area would be laid out around the proposed attenuation basin
at the western end of the development which would also serve as a public open
space feature whereby the provision of open space and its management would
from part of any s106 agreement.

11.33

The planting scheme as submitted has been seen by the Council’s Landscape
Officer who has not raised any landscaping objections to the planting scheme with
the provision that specified birch be replaced with field maple to help create a
more native field mix species for the planting specification. The planting plan has
subsequently been updated to meet this request. No policy objections are
therefore raised under ULP Policy ENV3 (ULP Policy GEN2).

D

Vehicle parking standards (ULP Policy GEN8)

11.34

Resident parking for the proposed development would be in the form of either
covered or hardstanding parking or a mixture of the two for each dwelling plot
whereby vehicular access to the parking spaces would be via the rear service
road. Parking allocation for each plot is set out in the accommodation schedule
above whereby parking provision across the development as a whole would be in
accordance with UDC adopted parking standards with the exception of the ground
floor flat for Plot 13 which is now to become a 2 bedroomed accessible flat rather
than as a 1 bedroomed flat as originally proposed at the request of the Council’s
Housing Enabling Officer (see section G below). However, this technical
deficiency of one parking space for this accessible flat against the standards is
made up for by the fact that 9 no. visitor parking spaces are shown allocated for
the development as a whole in the form of two rows of visitor parking along the
rear side of the internal service road whereby strictly only four visitor parking
spaces are required at a ratio of 14 dwellings x 0.25% (3.5 v.p. spaces rounded
up to 4 spaces). As such the parking provision shown for the development overall
would comply with ULP Policy GEN8.

E

Impact on neighbouring residential amenity (NPPF, ULP Policy GEN2)

Page 101

11.35

The proposed development by reason of its linear nature would not give rise to
any significant residential amenity issues in terms of overbearing effect, loss of
privacy, overshadowing or loss of light either between dwellings for the
development or for neighbouring dwellings. A service track currently exists
adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site meaning that a wide separation
distance would exist with the nearest residential property on this side, No.1
Burgess Cottages. No amenity objections are therefore raised under ULP Policy
GEN2.

F

Whether the proposed housing mix would be acceptable (NPPF, ULP Policy
H10)

11.36

The proposed 14 no. dwelling development would comprise 2 no. x 4 bed
dwellings, 10 x 3 bed dwellings, of which one dwelling would be an affordable unit,
and 2 no. x 2 bed flats, both of which would be affordable. Such a presented mix
having a propensity for 3 bedroomed dwellings rather than a dominance of 4 bed
units as is often the case for such presented schemes would be consistent with
the Council’s previous SHMA findings, whilst the 2 bed flat units would be
attractive to local affordable demand (see below). No objections are therefore
raised to the proposed housing mix under ULP Policy H10.

G

Affordable housing requirements (NPPF, ULP Policy H9)

11.37

The preamble to ULP Policy H9 of the adopted local plan states in relation to the
provision of affordable housing that “Elsewhere in the district, 40% of affordable
housing will be similarly sought on sites of 0.5 hectares or of 15 dwellings or
more, whilst Policy S9 itself states that the Council will seek to negotiate
affordable housing on a site to site basis.

11.38

The number of dwellings for this housing scheme has been reduced from 18 no.
dwelling units as originally submitted for the application to 14 no. units as now
proposed following negotiations between Council officers and the applicant to
provide for an improved linear housing layout. As a result, 3 no. affordable
housing units are being provided at the site, which represents 21.5% on-site
affordable housing provision. The applicant’s planning agent states in this regard
that it is considered that the total provision of affordable units at 21.5% is
acceptable as ULP Policy H9 of the adopted Local Plan sets the policy
requirement at 40%, but only for sites proposing 15 units or more, adding that the
development quantum as now proposed falls below the threshold of 15 units.

11.39

It is accepted that the site area for the proposed development at 1.25 hectares
exceeds the 0.5 ha maximum site area threshold as required in Policy H9,
notwithstanding the reduction in the number of overall dwellings for the site to less
than the maximum 15 dwelling threshold. However, given that the proposed
development represents a small housing scheme, and in view of the fact that the
majority of the market dwellings to be provided are 3 bedroomed, it is considered
that an exception can be made in this instance to the normal 40% provision where
notably the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer in his consultation response of 1
March 2021 has stated that the adjusted down affordable housing percentage for
the scheme at 21.5% representing 3 no. affordable dwellings as a reduced 14
dwelling scheme for the site is acceptable. This affordable housing requirement
would be subject to inclusion within a Section 106 agreement. The ability to be
able to provide on-site affordable housing units at this location is preferred over an
off-site equivalence commuted sum arrangement.

Page 102

11.40

The Housing Enabling Officer has advised that the three affordable units should
be for affordable rent given that a Registered Provider (RP) would not require just
a single shared ownership unit on a site which is what it would be with the normal
70%/30% split between affordable rent and shared ownership. The Housing
Enabling Officer has further advised that it would be preferable if the housing mix
indicated could change slightly so that there was a 2 bed ground floor accessible
M4(3) property and a 1 bed flat to the first floor for Plots 13-14 as there is a
housing register applicant currently living with a family locally who requires a 2
bed fully wheelchair accessible property and as this person requires a second
bedroom to allow for overnight care and that this site would be ideal if this could
be provided. This request has been put to the applicant who has since revised
the floor plans for Plots-13-14 accordingly. Such a request chimes with the
suggestion of the planning officer in his written delegated officer report for
previously determined application UTT/18/0440/OP for this site (see commentary
above).
Impact on trees / protected and priority species (NPPF, ULP Policies ENV3
and GEN7).

11.41

The site currently comprise scrubland containing self-seeded trees which has
been allowed to thicken over time. The site does not contain any boundary trees
which are subject to a TPO.
A reptile survey conducted of the site in 2017 recorded a single female slow worm
at the site during two consecutive surveys, although no other herpetofauna were
recorded at the site. A subsequent Phase 1 Habitat Survey conducted of the site
on 1 December 2020 pursuant to the original survey has advised that the context
of the site has changed very little in the intervening period in that reptile
populations in surrounding areas are not likely to have changed substantially in
that time, adding that the habitats at the site were similar with the exception that a
swathe has been cut through the scrub in the middle of the site.

11.42

Place Services have advised in their revised consultation response dated 25
January 2021 that they are satisfied that the precautionary measures
recommended for reptiles within the ecology appraisal are relevant to the
development at this time and that further reptile surveys do not need to be
repeated whereby these recent findings provide certainty to the LPA on the
impacts to reptiles as a protected species. No other species of note were detected
at the site during the surveys and Place Services are satisfied that there is
sufficient ecological information available for determination of the application,
adding that with appropriate mitigation measures secured that the development
can be made acceptable, including a detailed Working Method Statement for
Reptiles which should be provided as part of a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) condition for the proposed development site and also
a bat friendly lighting scheme.

11.43

Places Services further comment that the soft landscaping measures proposed for
the scheme, including the retention of the existing scrubland along the site
boundaries, will seek to preserve existing on-site habitats and maintain wildlife
connections to off-site habitats and that habitats will be enhanced through native
planting design, with additional provision from the proposed attenuation pond and
associated species-rich wildflower and marginal aquatic planting, with wildlife
friendly fencing also included throughout the development. No ecology objections

Page 103

are therefore raised to the proposal under ULP Policy GEN7 on this basis subject
to the recommended ecology conditions.
12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of residential development at this edge of settlement greenfield
location immediately accessible to public transport and close to local services and
amenities remains acceptable in principle from refused planning application
UTT/18/0440/OP and the resulting allowed appeal whereby there has been no
intervening change in national or local plan policy since to arrive at a different
conclusion and where the proposal in its revised reduced numbers form from
application UTT/18/0440/OP would not have a significant or demonstrable harmful
effect on either rural amenity or nearby designated heritage assets.

B

The means of vehicular access for the proposed development is considered
acceptable to the local Highways Authority subject to highway conditions,
including the requirement for the applicant/developer to upgrade the two existing
bus stops within the vicinity of the site along Pound Hill and also the requirement
for the applicant/developer to make a commuted sum payment to the Highway
Authority through a Section 106 Agreement to fund a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) to restrict casual parking along Station Road and to facilitate the safe and
efficient movement of traffic along Station Road as a direct result of the
development in the interests of highway safety. A Travel Information Pack would
also be secured through a Section 106 Agreement.

C

The design of the proposed development (scale, layout and appearance) is
considered acceptable, as are the proposed landscaping measures, including
securing a structural landscaping buffer for the site’s rear boundary to mitigate
against wider visual harm from the south. Indicated public open space provision
and management of such for the proposed development is to be secured through
a Section 106 agreement.

D

Indicated parking arrangements would comply with adopted parking standards.

E

The development would not lead to any significant loss of residential amenity.

F

The proposed housing mix would be acceptable for this location.

G

The reduced on-site affordable housing provision for the proposed development at
21.5% for this reduced 14 no. dwelling small housing scheme would be
acceptable whereby no affordable housing objections have been raised by the
Council’s Housing Enabling Officer in this respect subject to the applicant entering
into a Section 106 agreement concerning the same. The ability to be able to
provide on-site affordable housing units at this location is preferred over an off-site
equivalence commuted sum arrangement.

H

The development would not have a harmful impact upon trees or upon protected /
priority species subject to appropriate ecology conditions, including a detailed
Working Method Statement for Reptiles which should be provided as part of a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) condition for the proposed
development site and also a bat friendly lighting scheme, whilst the landscaping
measures proposed provide for ecological site enhancements.

Page 104

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS WITH S106 AGREEMENT
(1) The applicant be informed that the committee be minded to refuse planning
permission for the reasons set out in paragraph (3) below unless by 17 April
2021 the freehold owner enters into a binding agreement to cover the matters
set out below under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990,
as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 in a form to be
prepared by the Head of Legal Services, in which case he shall be authorised
to conclude an agreement to secure the following:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

Provision of 21.5% affordable housing equivalent to 3 no. on-site
affordable housing units
Provision and management of public open space
Maintenance of SuDS
Provision of bus stop improvement works
Payment of commuted sum to the local Highways Authority to fund
the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)
Provision of Travel Information Pack
Pay the Council’s reasonable legal costs
Pay the monitoring fee

(2) In the event of such an agreement being made, the Assistant Director
Planning shall be authorised to grant permission subject to the conditions
set out below.
(3) If the freehold owner shall fail to enter into such an agreement, the Assistant
Director Planning shall be authorised to refuse permission at his discretion at
any time thereafter for the following reasons:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

Non-provision of 21.5% affordable housing equivalent to 3 no. on-site
affordable housing units
Non-provision and management of public open space
Non-maintenance of SuDS
Non-provision of bus stop improvement works
Non-payment of commuted sum to the local Highways Authority to
fund the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)
Non-provision of Travel Information Pack
Non-payment of the Council’s reasonable legal costs
Non-payment of the monitoring fee

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
REASON: In order to comply with Section 91 (1) and (2) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved landscaping details as shown on revised “Planting Plan” drwg. ref.
BMD.19.022.DR.P002 Rev E (revision date 25.02.2021). All planting, seeding
or turfing and soil preparation comprised in the aforementioned details of
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons
following the occupation of the dwellings, the completion of the development, or
in agreed phases whichever is the sooner, and any plants which within a period

Page 105

of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless the local planning
authority gives written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall be
carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in
the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with ULP
Policies ENV3, GEN2 and GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
3.

Prior to commencement of development, samples of materials to be used in the
construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be implemented using the approved materials. Subsequently,
the approved materials shall not be changed without the prior written consent of
the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of
visual amenity and heritage protection in accordance with ULP Policies S7, ENV2
and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To ensure that the resulting
development does not prejudice the visual qualities of the area or the setting of
nearby designated heritage assets.

4.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling, the provision of a vehicular access formed at
right angles to Station Road, as shown in principle on DWG no. 03/001 Rev N
(dated 10.07.19) to include but not limited to: minimum 5.5 metre carriageway
width with minimum radii of 6 metres and two 2 metre wide footways shall be
provided.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a
controlled manner in the interests of highway safety in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

5.

Prior to occupation of the development, all visibility splays shown on DWG no.
03/001 Rev N (Proposed Access General Arrangement dated 10.07.19) shall be
provided clear to ground. Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before
the road junction is first used by vehicular traffic and retained free of any
obstruction at all times.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road
junction and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

6.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling, improvements to the 2 bus stops shown on
DWG no. 03/001 Rev. N (Proposed Access General Arrangement, dated
10.07.19) on Station Road shall be provided. This is to include but not limited to,
hardstanding, raised platforms, dropped kerb crossing points, flags and bus
shelters on both sides of Station Road. The improvements scheme, to be
approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway
Authority, shall be implemented prior to first occupation.

Page 106

REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with ULP Policies GEN1
and GEN6 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
7.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling, the existing footway on Station Road along
the site frontage shall be reinstated to it former width (or minimum 1.8 metres,
whichever is greater) by removal of encroaching mud and vegetation and make
remedial repairs where deemed necessary by the Highway Authority.
REASON: In the interests of accessibility in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of
the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

8.

Prior to occupation any dwelling, a sum of £10,000 (index linked) shall be paid to
the Highway Authority to fund the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO) (and the relevant signing, lining and all other statutory processes) on
Station Road, to restrict parking and facilitate safe and efficient movement of
traffic along the road, or other such parking scheme in the vicinity of the land, as
deemed necessary as a result of this development, should a parking issue arise.
REASON: To prevent inappropriate parking on the highway, in the interests of
highway safety and efficiency in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

9.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the associated parking and/or turning head
indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle parking and
turning head shall be retained in this form at all times.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur in the interest of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided in accordance with ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).

10.

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be
responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel
Information Pack per dwelling for sustainable transport, approved by Essex
County Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant
local public transport operator.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with ULP Policies GEN1
and GEN6 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

11.

Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and shall
be set back a minimum of 10 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
REASON: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway safety in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

12.

No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme should include but not be limited to:

Page 107

• Limiting discharge rates to 1l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in
100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change. Unless significant sediment
and debris removal is applied the outfall should be no smaller than 50mm. All
relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be
demonstrated.
• Provide evidence that the receiving waterbody has the capacity to take the flows
from the site.
• Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the
development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus
40% climate change event.
• The consideration of rainwater reuse where possible.
• Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in
30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event.
• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
• The appropriate level of treatment for all run-off leaving the site, in line with the
Simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.
• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and
ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.
• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor
changes to the approved strategy.
REASON: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of
surface water from the site, to ensure the effective operation of SuDS features
over the lifetime of the development, to provide mitigation of any environmental
harm which may be caused to the local water environment.0
Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works
may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface
water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and
Pollution hazard from the site (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN3 of the Uttlesford
Local Plan (adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To make the development acceptable
in terms of flood risk and SuDS.
13.

No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding
caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and
prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.
REASON: The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and
paragraph 170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development
does not increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.
Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If
dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater
level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal
of topsoils during construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall
and may lead to increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the
surrounding area during construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/
disposal of surface water and groundwater which needs to be agreed before
commencement of the development. Construction may also lead to polluted
water being allowed to leave the site. Methods for preventing or mitigating this

Page 108

should be proposed (ULP Policies GEN2 and GEN3 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).
Pre-commencement condition justification: To make the development acceptable
in terms of flood risk and SuDS.
14.

Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements
including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage
system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and
agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. Should any part be
maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term funding
arrangements should be provided.
REASON: To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to
enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure
mitigation against flood risk. Failure to provide the above required information
prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is not properly
maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site (ULP
Policies GEN2 and GEN3 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

15.

The applicant or any successor in title shall maintain yearly logs of maintenance
which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan.
These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning
Authority.
REASON: To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development
as outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as
intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk in accordance with ULP Policies
GEN2 and GEN3 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

16.

No development or preliminary groundworks shall commence until a programme
of archaeological trial trenching and excavation has been secured and undertaken
in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by
the applicant and approved by the local planning authority.
REASON: A Desk Based Assessment has been submitted for this application
which identifies the proposed development as having moderate archaeological
potential for Late Prehistoric and Roman remains, whilst the Historic Environment
Record shows that the proposed development lies within an area of known
sensitive archaeological deposits (ULP Policy ENV4 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005).

17.

One dwelling approved by this permission shall be built to Category 3 (wheelchair
user) housing M4(3)(2)(a) wheelchair adaptable. The remaining dwellings
approved by this permission shall be built to Category 2: Accessible and
adaptable dwellings M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document
M, Volume 1 2015 edition.
REASON: To ensure compliance with ULP Policy GEN2 (c) of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the LPA’s adopted SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”.

18.

Prior to dwelling occupation, all of the dwellings shall be provided with electric
vehicle charging points. The charging points shall be fully wired and connected,
ready for first use and retained for occupant use thereafter.

Page 109

REASON: To encourage/support cleaner vehicle usage in accordance with the
NPPF and ULP Policies ENV13 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted
2005).
19.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Biodiversity Appraisal and Reptile
Survey Reports (Engain, May 2019), the Revised Ecological Appraisal (Engain,
December 2020) and the Revised Planting Plan (Small Bim Architecture, July
2020) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle
with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) in accordance with
ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

20.

Prior to commencement of development, a construction environmental
management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within
the Biodiversity Appraisal and Reptile Survey Reports (Engain, May 2019) and the
Revised Ecological Appraisal (Engain, December 2020).
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a
set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 110

Justification for pre-commencement condition: To ensure that the resulting
development does not harm protected or priority species and their habitats.
21.

Prior to slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority
species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority following the recommendations made within the Biodiversity Appraisal
and Reptile Survey Reports (Engain, May 2019).
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
d) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with
the proposed phasing of development;
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).

22.

Prior to occupation, a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall
be submitted to, and be approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior
occupation of the development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable
of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the
plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set
out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and
objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still
delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved
scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 111

REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
23.

Prior to occupation, a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify
those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to
cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and
where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate
lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it can
be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using
their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.”
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

24.

If the residential development (use class C3), vehicular access, public open
space, sustainable drainage systems and all other associated hard/soft
landscaping and infrastructure hereby approved does not commence within 2
years from the date of the planning consent, the approved ecological mitigation
measures secured through condition shall be reviewed and, where necessary,
amended and updated.
The review shall be informed by further ecological surveys commissioned to:
(i)
(ii)

establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or
abundance of Protected and Priority species;
identify any likely new ecological impacts that might arise from any
changes.

Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result in
ecological impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, the original
approved ecological measures will be revised and new or amended measures,
and a timetable for their implementation, will be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement.
Works will then be carried out in accordance with the proposed new approved
ecological measures and timetable.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
25.

No development approved by this permission shall take place until a Phase 2
investigation report, as recommended by the submitted Create Consulting

Page 112

Engineers Ltd report dated May 2019 (ref CB/CC/P17-1319/07 Rev C), has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where
found to be necessary by the phase 2 report a remediation strategy to deal with
the risks associated with contamination of the site shall also be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy
shall include an options appraisal giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken. The strategy shall include a plan
providing details of how the remediation works shall be judged to be complete and
arrangements for contingency action.
Prior to any permitted dwelling being occupied a validation report shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate
the effectiveness of any agreed Remediation Strategy. Any such validation shall
include responses to any unexpected contamination discovered during works.
REASON: To protect human health and the environment in accordance with ULP
Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
26.

Prior to any permitted dwelling being occupied a validation report shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate
the effectiveness of any agreed Remediation Strategy. Any such validation shall
include responses to any unexpected contamination discovered during works.
REASON: To protect human health and the environment in accordance with ULP
Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 113

Page 114

Agenda Item 6
UTT/20/3016/FUL (Widdington)
(Referred to Planning Committee for the following reasons:
The development is contrary to the following national and local policies:
- NPPF paragraphs 8, 127, 108, 110, 170b, 189 and 192
- ULP Polices: S7, GEN1, GEN2 and ENV9)

PROPOSAL:

Conversion of existing single storey agricultural
building to 4 no. residential units

LOCATION:

Land Rear of Malt Place, Cornell’s Lane,
Widdington, CB11 3SP

APPLICANT:

Mr M King, 5 Bell Hill, Bishops Stortford, CM23 2QR

AGENT:

Mr Christopher Pelham, Pelham Structures Ltd, 3
Brice’s Yard, Butts Green, Langley Upper Green
Clavering, Saffron Walden, CB11 4RT

EXPIRY DATE:

13th January 2021 (Extension of time until 31st
January 2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Nathan Makwana

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site is located off Cornell’s Lane, near Widdington. It comprises agricultural
land that is occupied by vacant poultry sheds and associated structures.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

Planning permission is sought for the conversion of existing single storey
agricultural building to 4 no. residential units.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment): The proposal is not a
Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2,
and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not required.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and
Article 8 of the First Protocol regarding the right of respect for a person's private
and family life and home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions;
however, these issues have been taken into account in the determination of this
application.
;;

Page 115

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided a planning statement in support of the planning
application to illustrate the process that has led to the development proposal and
to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way.

5.2

Also submitted with this planning application are detailed plans and elevations to
reflect the above changes.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/21/0043/PAQ3 - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building to
4 no. dwellings – Pending Consideration

6.2

UTT/20/21543/FUL - Conversion of Existing agricultural buildings to 5no.
dwellings with associated parking and landscaping. – Refused on 19.10.2020

6.3

UTT/20/0860/FUL - Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and erection of 4
no. dwellings with associated parking and landscaping – Refused on 12.06.2020

6.4

UTT/20/0876/FUL - Replacement of Existing Single Storey Agricultural Building
with 1no. dwelling (Revised scheme to approved UTT/17/2960/PAP3Q) –
Approved on 11.06.2020

6.5

APP/C1570/W/19/3233328 – Appeal for Demolish existing agricultural buildings
and replace with 4 no. detached dwellings with associated parking and
landscaping – Dismissed on 13.12.2019

6.6

UTT/18/3523/FUL - Demolish existing agricultural buildings and replace with 4
no. detached dwellings with associated parking and landscaping – Refused on
01.05.2019.

6.7

UTT/18/2129/PAP3Q - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 4 no. dwellings – Prior Approval Not Required, Granted on 20.09.2018

6.8

UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q - Prior Notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 4 no. dwellings - Prior Approval Not Required, Granted on 16.07.2018

6.9

UTT/17/2960/PAP3Q - Prior notification of change of use of agricultural building
to 1 no dwelling house, Granted on 15.12.2017
POLICIES

7.

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (June 2019)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
7.1

S7 – The Countryside
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN3 – Flood Protection
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN5 – Light Pollution
GEN7 – Nature Conservation

Page 116

GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
ENV11 – Noise Generators and Exposure to Noise
ENV14 – Contaminated Land
H1 – Housing Development
H6 – Conversion of rural buildings to residential use
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
7.2

SPD – Accessible Homes and Play space (2005)
Other Material Considerations

7.3

Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards (2009)
UDC Parking Standards (2013)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Widdington Parish Council

8.2

Widdington Parish Council object to the application proposal. Their full objection
letter has been added as an appendix to this committee report.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to conditions relating to visibility
splays, provision of access arrangements and no use of unbound material for
vehicle access.
ECC Ecology

9.2

No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
UDC Environmental Health

9.3

The development site is outside of the Stanstead, M11 and other arterial road
noise contours and the Air Quality Management Zone and it is considered that
the development will not negatively impact neighbouring properties. I recommend
a precautionary contaminated land condition as the site has had previous
development. I therefore have no in principle objections to the application, subject
to an Unsuspected Contamination condition being attached to any consent, if
granted.

Page 117

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

52 Neighbour Representations have been received, all objecting to the
application proposal.
A site notice was displayed at the application site on the 23rd December 2020 and
expired on the 13th January 2021.
The neighbour notification period expired on the 13th January 2021.

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:

-

-

-

-

-

-

10.3

The proposal would harm the character and appearance of the area
contrary to policies S7 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan which look
for development to enhance the character of the countryside and protect
local historic landscapes, as well as the National Planning Policy
Framework.
The proposal fails to accord with ULP policy S7 which protects the
countryside for its own sake and restricts development to that which
needs to take place there and also policy GEN1 which seeks to promote
sustainable transport modes.
Widdington is a category B village that has no employment opportunities
or amenities for residents of these homes.
Residents would be required to travel for all purposes including work,
school, shopping, healthcare and leisure.
The site is remote and unsafe for future residents as it is located on an
unlit country lane without footpaths.
Widdington only has limited, daytime public transport opportunities and
the nearest bus stop is 1.2km from the site along an unlit, mostly 60mph,
single-track country lane.
The low ceiling height of the proposed homes would make them largely
unsuitable for human habitation.
Approval of this application would set a precedent for subsequent
development of the remainder of the site and potentially other sites in the
village.
The speed limit at this point on Cornell’s Lane is 60mph not the 30mph
quoted in the applicant's Design Statement and the road is a single-track
country lane so proposed visibility splays are clearly inadequate.
The site is outside the village's development boundaries and in direct
conflict with the Widdington Design Statement.

The above is a summary of the representations received. Full versions are
available via the online public access system.

Page 118

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D
E
F

The Principle of development – Location of Housing (NPPF, ULP Policies
S7, H6, GEN2, NPPF)
Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies S7, H6, GEN2,
ENV9, NPPF)
Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)
Residential Amenity (GEN2, NPPF)
Ecology (GEN6, NPPF)
Land Contamination (ENV14, NPPF)

A

The Principle of development – Location of Housing (NPPF, ULP Policies
S7, H6, GEN2, NPPF)

11.1

The proposal is located outside of any development limits, within the countryside.
As a result, Local Plan Policy S7 applies. This states that the countryside will be
protected for its own sake and that planning permission will only be given for
development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to the rural area,
with development only being permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the
particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is set or there are
special reasons why the development in the form proposed needs to be there.

11.2

ULP Policy H6 considers the conversion of rural building to residential use and
advises that substantial building reconstructions or extension will not be
permitted.
The following criteria apply:
a) It can be demonstrated that there is not significant demand for business uses,
small scale retail outlets, tourist accommodation or community uses
b) They are in sound structural condition.
c) Their historic, traditional or vernacular form enhances the character and
appearance of the rural area.
d) The conversion works respect and conserve the characteristics of the building.
e) Private garden areas can be provided unobtrusively

11.3

ULP Policy H6 adds that substantial reconstructions or extensions will not be
permitted, that conversions will not be permitted to residential uses on isolated
sites in the open countryside located well away from existing settlements and that
conditions regulating land use or development rights associated with proposals
may be necessary. In addition, the National Planning Policy Framework 2019
(NPPF) as the overarching national planning guidance, has a presumption in
favour of sustainable development.

11.4

The principle of development has previous been established under previous prior
approval planning applications (UTT/18/2129/PAP3Q and UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q)
which allowed that a change of use from an agricultural building into four
dwellings.

11.5

The site is within a small cluster of rural buildings to the east of the village of
Farnham, due to the location and close proximity to the neighbouring settlement
of Widdington the site is not considered as an isolated location, this is consistent
with the previously approved planning application on this site and recent case law
Braintree DC v SSCLG [2018] EWCA Civ.

Page 119

11.6

In the appeal decision relating to the neighbouring agricultural building, the
Inspector stated that “I must have regard to other material considerations and
given that planning permission already exists for 4 dwellings on the site, the
proposal would not generate a materially different level of trips by car than the
development permitted. Therefore, I find no demonstrable harm to sustainability
in respect of accessibility of services and facilities.”

11.7

It is considered that the proposal accords with ULP Policy S7 and the relevant
criteria outlined within ULP Policy H6 as the principle of development has been
established mitigating criteria a. The structural integrity of the unit has been
established, the rural appearance would be retained, and private gardens can be
provided. Furthermore, the site has not been identified as being unsustainable as
noted by the planning inspector above.

11.8

Therefore, the principle of development has been established and the proposal
accords with ULP Policies S7, H6 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005
and the NPPF.

B

Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies S7, H6, GEN2,
ENV9, NPPF);

11.9

The site is part of a former poultry farm and is located on the eastern outskirts of
the Village of Widdington, which is located 1.5 miles south of Newport, 1.5 miles
east of the M11 and 4.5m north of Stansted Mountfitchet. On the site there are 3
substantial agricultural buildings, as well as several smaller structures. Two of the
larger buildings benefit from prior approval for change of use to residential
dwellings. The site is well screen by woodland and existing vegetation and there
are limited views into the site.

11.10

There are no changes to the form of the building as approved under the Prior
Approval. The amount of amenity space allowed under prior approval is limited.
The current application proposes to increase the size of the garden areas to the
west, provide allocated parking and bin store for the units. As shown on the
submitted plans, two parking spaces are proposed to be created to the south of
unit 4 accessed from the existing road that serves the building to the south that is
to be demolished and replaced by a single dwelling as approved under
UTT/20/0876/FUL. It is also proposed to create parking for the other units to the
north off the drive that provides access to the existing agricultural building to the
east, which is to be retained.

11.11

The scale appearance is unchanged from that previously approved
(UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q). Existing vegetation will be retained on the site and native
hedgerows will be planted around the proposed garden, car parking and bin
stores.

11.12

ULP Policy ENV9 states that development proposals likely to harm significant
local historic landscapes, historic parks and gardens and protected lanes as
defined on the proposals map will not be permitted unless the need for the
development outweighs the historic significance of the site.

11.13

The site is identified within the Braintree, Brentwood, Chelmsford, Maldon and
Uttlesford Landscape Character Assessment (2006) as being within the Debden
Farmland Plateau and defined in the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 (LP)as being a
Historic Landscape. The historic land use identifies a predominance of pre18thcentury irregular fields and that the main historic landscape features include

Page 120

a number of areas of ancient woodland. An area of which is annotated on the
submitted plans as being adjacent to the site. This wooded area provides both a
backdrop to the site and screening. There are a number of existing small
agricultural buildings/sheds located within the wooded area.
11.14

In his reporting on the appeal , the Planning Inspector noted that the fallback
scheme would be of a smaller scale and would retain the agricultural character of
the site. The submission of this application to incorporate larger domestic
gardens and parking would not fundamentally be different than that of the
previously approved prior approval scheme. A condition requiring further details
of hard and soft landscaping will be included on any granted permission.

11.15

The proposed amendments and revisions in this application to include larger
gardens and a parking area do not result in significant changes to the overall
layout of the previously approved scheme. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policies S7, GEN2, H6 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF.

C

Access and Transport (GEN1, GEN8, NPPF)

11.16

The application site is already served by an existing vehicular access, which will
be widened to serve the proposed dwelling, which has previously been approved
under UTT/18/1408/PAP3Q.

11.17

Seven parking spaces are to be provided which accords with the parking
standards for one- and two-bedroom dwellings.

11.18

Essex County Council Highways have been consulted and raise no objections
from a highway safety perspective, subject to the inclusion of conditions.

11.19

The application proposal is therefore considered to accord with ULP Policies
GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

D

Residential Amenity (GEN2, NPPF)

11.20

The proposed gardens exceed the recommended garden size as outlined within
the Essex Design Guide. No concerns are raised regarding residential amenity
impact to future occupiers. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN2
of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

E

Ecology (GEN7, NPPF)

11.21

The Ecology Officer has been consulted and raises no objection to the application
proposal, subject to conditions securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN7 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

F

Land Contamination (ENV14, NPPF)

11.22

The Uttlesford District Council Environmental Health Officer has been consulted
and raises no objections subject to a condition reporting any land contamination
found during the development of the site. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

Page 121

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of development has been established by virtue of the previously
approved prior approval applications and therefore the proposal accords with
ULP Policies S7, H6 and GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF

B

The proposed amendments and revisions in this application to include larger
gardens and a parking area do not result in significant changes to the overall
layout of the previously approved scheme. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policies S7, GEN2, H6 and ENV9 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF .

C

Essex County Council Highways have not objected on highway safety grounds
and the relevant parking spaces have been provided that accord with the
Uttlesford Local Plan parking spaces. The application proposal is therefore
considered to accord with ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

D

The proposed gardens exceed the recommended garden size as outlined within
the Essex Design Guide. No concerns are raised regarding residential amenity
impact to future occupiers. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN2
of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

E

The Ecology Officer has been consulted and raises no objection to the application
proposal, subject to conditions securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures. The proposal therefore accords with ULP Policy GEN7 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

F

The Uttlesford District Council Environmental Health Officer has been consulted
and raises no objections subject to a condition reporting any land contamination
found during the development of the site. The proposal therefore accords with
ULP Policy ENV14 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans as set out in the Schedule.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby
permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved
application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the
minimum harm to the local environment, in accordance with the Policies of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) as shown in the Schedule of Policies

Page 122

3.

Notwithstanding the details submitted, before development commences full
details of both hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority. Subsequently, these works shall be
carried out as approved. The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:
a) proposed finished levels [earthworks to be carried out]
b) means of enclosure
c) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials
d) existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained
e) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres,
number and percentage mix
f) details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the
development for biodiversity and wildlife
g) details of siting and timing of all construction activities to avoid harm to all
nature conservation features
h location of service runs
i) management and maintenance details
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must be 'precommencement' to ensure that the development is only carried out in accordance
with the above details.

4.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out before any part of the
development is occupied or in accordance with the programme agreed with the
local planning authority
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

5.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the buildings shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
constructed using the approved materials, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance
with Policy S7 and Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and
the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition must be 'precommencement' to ensure that the development is only carried out in accordance
with the above details.

6.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development, it shall be reported in writing immediately to the Local
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment shall then be
undertaken by a competent person, in accordance with 'Model Procedures for the
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. A written report of the findings
should be forwarded for approval to the Local Planning Authority. Following
completion of remedial measures, a verification report shall be prepared that
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out. No part of the
development should be occupied until all remedial and validation works are
approved in writing.

Page 123

Reason: To ensure that no future investigation is required under Part 2A of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with ULP Policy ENV14 of
the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.
7.

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, an electric car charging facility shall be
installed at the property and retained as such unless the written consent of the
local planning authority is given to any alteration.
REASON: In the interest of sustainable development and in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the provisions of
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.

8.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Classes A to F of Part
1 of Schedule 2 and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place
without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
REASON: To prevent the site becoming overdeveloped and in the interests of
the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining dwellings and buildings, in accordance
with Policies GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and NPPF.

9.

All ecological mitigation & enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried
out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecology Report (A R Arbon, May
2020), as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle
with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This includes, but is not limited to, the development of a Construction
Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) Biodiversity to define protection methods for
ecological features and enabling mitigation of any potential impacts on protected
and Priority species & habitats.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

10.

Prior to the commencement of works, a construction environmental management
plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices)
to avoid
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method
statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity

Page 124

features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on
site to
oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or
similarly
competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.
11.

Prior to works commencing above slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures.
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives.
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans.
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures.
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
shall be retained
in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF 2019.

12.

Prior to first occupation, a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme
shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that
are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and
show how and where external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their
territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of

Page 125

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and
the NPPF 2019.
13.

Prior to occupation of the development the visibility splays, as shown on DWG
no. 493x20C (dated 17/11/2020), shall be provided and retained free of any
obstruction in perpetuity.
Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety and in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

14.

Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle
parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided,
hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The access, parking and turning areas
shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate access, parking and turning is provided and
in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

15.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN1 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.

Page 126

Site Map

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department: Planning
Date: 26 February 2021

Page 127

Appendix 1 – Waddington Parish Council Comments

Page 128

Page 129

Page 130

Page 131

Page 132

Page 133

Page 134

Page 135

Page 136

Page 137

Page 138

Page 139

Page 140

Page 141

Page 142

Page 143

Page 144

Page 145

Page 146

Page 147

Page 148

Page 149

Page 150

Page 151

Page 152

Page 153

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Agenda Item 7
UTT/21/0158/FUL (HIGH EASTER)
(Referred to Committee. Reason: Called in by Councillor Barker)
PROPOSAL:

Section 73A Retrospective application for the demolition of
existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling.

LOCATION:

Homely
The Street
High Easter
Chelmsford
Essex
CM1 4QW

APPLICANT:

Mr & Mrs Bright

AGENT:

Mr Amir Shahkamrani

EXPIRY DATE:

18.03.2021

CASE OFFICER:

Mark Sawyers

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Within Development Limits (HIGH EASTER)
Outside Development Limits
Within the Conservation Area (HIGH EASTER)
Tree Preservation Order - 17/98/56 (Walnut)
Archaeological Site - 1110
Local Heritage List – (Homely, The Street, High Easter, Chelmsford, Essex, CM1
4QW)

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site previously comprised of a detached 1.5 storey dwelling located within the
main village area of High Easter. The dwelling had external materials of rendered
walls with a brick plinth and under a part thatch and part tiled roof.

2.2

The site as it is now is a vacant plot of land with the exception of a small piece of
remaining wall along the boundary it shares with Lime Tree House.

2.3

The site is located at the edge of the village and is within the High Easter
Conservation Area

2.4

The site measures approximately 820m2 in area, with approximately 360m2
residing within the Development Limits of High Easter.

2.5

Approximately 40m to the west of the site there lies a large pond, with another
lying approximately 15m to the south west of the site.

2.6

To the rear of the site there is woodland with a footpath running through it passing
St Mary’s Church.

Page 157

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal is seeking Section 73A Retrospective application for the demolition
of the existing property and planning permission for proposed erection of new
dwelling.

3.2

The proposals are for the construction of a new 3-bedroom, 1.5 storey dwelling
with associated off street parking.

3.3

The site is elongated in shape and is approximately 820m2 in area.

3.4

The site plan demonstrates adequate space for turning and parking with spaces
to meet the Uttlesford District Council Adopted Parking Standards. There will be
a car charging point provided in line with planning policy requirements.

3.5

The dwelling would be 2.7m in height to the eaves, it would have a maximum
height of 6.2m to the ridge the highest point would be the top of the chimney stack
which would be 8.4m at its highest point.

3.6

External materials would consist of red-faced brick plinth, white rendered walls,
clay tiles for the roof, white painter timber windows/doors and black fascia
boards/rainwater goods.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not a Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold
criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not
required.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided the following in support of their application:








Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Biodiversity Checklist
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
Design and Access Statement
Preliminary Roost Appraisal
Style features references and supplies
Transport Statement

5.2

As the proposed dwelling would reside within the Development Limits of High
Easter it is considered that the site is in a sustainable location and has an existing
vehicular access.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

There have been a number of planning and listed building application submitted
to the Council over the years however the most recent and relevant applications
to the proposed application are listed below:
UTT/19/0749/HHF - Section 73 retrospective application for the proposed part
replacement of existing dwelling, part single storey infill extension. Minor external
alterations (REFUSED)

Page 158

UTT/19/2154/HHF - Section 73 retrospective application for the reinstatement of
original building; erection of porch and front entrance door; single storey infill;
double-storey rear extension; front extension to line up bay windows; roof
modification and new chimney and associated internal alterations (APPROVED)
UTT/19/3099/DOC - Discharge of condition 3 (Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy) and 5 (Landscape Proposals) of UTT/19/2154/HHF (WITHDRAWN)
UTT/20/0149/FUL - Section 73A Retrospective application for the demolition of
existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling (WITHDRAWN)
UTT/20/1937/FUL - Section 73A Retrospective application for the demolition of
existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling (REFUSED)

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.1

S3 – Other Development Limits
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ENV1 – Design of Development within Conservation Areas
ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
H1 – Housing Development
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance

7.2

SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”
National Policies

7.3

National Planning Policy Framework – (9 February 2019)
Other Material Considerations

7.4

ECC Parking Standards
UDC Parking Standards
Essex Design Guide

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

High Easter Parish Council have objected to this application on a number points.
Their full objection can be viewed online, their summarised objections are listed
below:
 Too big, needs to be in proportion with original dwelling
 Highway Safety
 Parking Standards
 Access
 Proposed Parking
 Visitor Parking

Page 159






9.

Impact on Conservation Area
Homely was Locally Listed
Building line
Homely’s unauthorised demolition
Explanation for the demolition.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC ECOLOGY

9.1

There are no Ecological objections to the Section 73A Retrospective application
for the demolition of existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling.
Essex County Council Ecology has been consulted and have no objection to the
proposal subject to securing biodiversity enhancement measures on the site.
It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.2

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Roost Appraisal (Prime
Environment, June 2019) and Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy (Tim Moyer
Associates, August 2020), as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

9.3

A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features
on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause
disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where
external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas
to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

9.4

If the demolition of existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling hereby
approved does not commence within 18 months from the date of the bat survey
results in the Preliminary Roost Appraisal (Prime Environment, June 2019), the
approved ecological mitigation measures secured through condition shall be
reviewed and, where necessary, amended and updated.

Page 160

The review shall be informed by further ecological surveys commissioned to:
i. establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or abundance of
bats and
ii. identify any likely new ecological impacts that might arise from any changes.
Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result in
ecological impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, the original
approved ecological measures will be revised and new or amended measures,
and a timetable for their implementation, will be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to the demolition of existing property
and proposed erection of new dwelling.
Works will then be carried out in accordance with the proposed new approved
ecological measures and timetable.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
ECC HIGHWAYS
9.5

There are no Highway objections to the Section 73A Retrospective application for
the demolition of existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling.
The Highways Agency has been consulted and have no objection to the proposal
subject to conditions.
It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to highway safety.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.6

Prior to occupation of the development the vehicular access shall be constructed
at right angles to the highway boundary and to the existing carriageway. The width
of the access at its junction with the highway shall not be less than 3 metres and
shall be provided with an appropriate dropped kerb vehicular crossing of the
footway/highway verge.
Reason: to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner in the interest of highway safety.

9.7

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interests
of highway safety.

9.8

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on DWG no. GCG-001 (Proposed Ground Floor Layout,
dated Jan 2021) has been provided. The vehicle parking area shall be retained in
this form at all times.
Reason: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does
not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided.

Page 161

9.9

The existing access to the south shall be suitably and permanently closed
incorporating the reinstatement to full height of the highway verge / footway /
kerbing, as shown in principle on DWG no. 2020/5484/001 Rev. P6 (Titled Proposed Access Arrangement, dated 09/11/2020), prior to occupation of the
proposed dwelling.
Reason: To ensure the removal of and to preclude the creation of unnecessary
points of traffic conflict in the highway in the interests of highway safety.
ECC CONSERVATION

9.10

The Conservation Officer has assessed this proposal and its potential to impact
the adjacent Listed Buildings and Conservation Area. They have also been
heavily involved in the Pre-Application process where it was recommended that
the applicant did not replicate the existing building and the best way forward would
be for a new bespoke building that would respond to the Conservation Area. It
was also suggested that the thatch would not need to be replicated due to the
different design and that thatch would not perform to modern standards.

9.11

The Conservation Officer goes onto state that they “support this application which
will enhance the approach to the village. The proposed building has taken
character defining features of the Conservation Area and included these in the
principal elevations and those which are visible from the public realm. I also
support bringing the building closer to the street frontage as this will improve the
aspect of the streetscape which the visible blank gable of the adjacent building
currently detracts.
This proposal will cause no harm to the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area and as such I do not consider there are grounds, with regard
to the historic environment, to object. I support this scheme which the applicant
has extensively consulted to get the scale, mass, position and detail correct. “

9.12

They have no objection to the design subject to the recommended planning
conditions
It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Conservation.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.13

Samples of the materials to be used on the external finishes shall be submitted
within two months of this permission and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and shall not be changed without the prior written consent of the local
planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

9.14

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted, details of the brick bond
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
thereafter the works carried out according to the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

Page 162

9.15

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted a schedule of the
details/samples of the surface treatments and details of the render colour has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

9.16

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted, additional drawings that
show details of the proposed windows, front door and garage door, to be used by
section and elevation at scales between 1:20 and 1:1 as appropriate have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Works shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
permanently maintained as such.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

15 Neighbours consulted – expired 18.02.2021 – Seven representations received,
4 in support of the application and 1 objection.

10.2

A summary of the points raised in the representations are:
In Support







Will allow the removal of security hording
Will not look onto a derelict site
Proposed new dwelling acceptable
Strip of land to the north of Homely has been part of Lime Tree House
freehold since 1984.
Inaccurate to say that this land has been recently transferred to Lime Tree
House
Homely has not benefitted from parking rights on this strip of land since
that 1984.

In Objection







Totally different style of building changing the character
The design does not match that which is listed on the Local Heritage List
No Thatch roof
It makes a nonsense of a Conservation Area
Demolished without planning permission
Reinstatement of the garage and an element of thatch incorporated to
break the impasse.

Page 163

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A

The principle of the development (Policies S3 and H1)

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable (Local
Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2 and GEN4)

D

Whether the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the adjacent Listed
Buildings or Conservation Area (Local Policies ENV1, ENV2 and NPPF)

E

Significance of a non-designated heritage asset (Uttlesford Local Heritage List
and NPPF)

F

Vehicular access and parking (Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

G

If there are any ecology issues would arise from the development (Policy GEN7).

A

The principle of the development (Policies S3 and H1)

11.1

The site is within the Defined Development Limit of High Easter; the proposal is
for residential development within a residential area. The majority of the garden
located to the south of the site is Outside Development Limits.

11.2

Policy S3 states that within Key Rural Settlements, such as High Easter,
development compatible with the settlement’s character and countryside setting
will be permitted. Policy H1 recommends the reuse of previously developed land
be permitted on land in a list of defined settlements, which includes High Easter.

11.3

The first criterion of Policy H1 is the availability of previously developed land, and
this is the case in respect to this application.

11.4

The second criterion is the location and accessibility of sites. The site is located
within the Development Limits of High Easter, it is considered to be a sustainable
location that is easily accessible and as such the second criterion is met.

11.5

The third criterion is that existing infrastructure has the capacity to absorb further
development infrastructure provision in a settlement the size of High Easter is
better than in many locations within the district and a reason for refusal on this
basis would not be tenable.

11.6

The fourth criterion is that the development has the ability to build communities.
The addition of this single household would support local services and facilities.

11.7

The fifth criterion is that development considers constraints such as flood risk.
The site is not located within an area susceptible to flooding.

11.8

The sixth criterion is that the development considers a review of land previously
allocated for employment purposes. The site is not a key employment site.

Page 164

11.9

Furthermore, the proposal meets a requirement of the NPPF, set out at section
11, of making effective use of land. Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states that
planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need
for homes. The Council is not currently able to demonstrate a five year housing
land supply, which is currently identified as 3.11 years, the proposal would assist
in some part to reach this objective.

11.10

The principle of the development is acceptable with regard to Policies S3 and H1
of the adopted Local Plan.

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

11.11

As referred to above, strategic planning policies require development to be
compatible with a settlement’s character. Policy GEN2 provides more detail as to
this consideration stating that development will not be permitted unless its design
meets all of a number of criteria.

11.12

The first criterion of Policy GEN2 is that the development be compatible with the
scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of surrounding buildings. The
buildings immediately surrounding the site are all two storey dwellings, in a
mixture of styles. Having considered the setting of the site and the existing street
scene, it is thought that in broad terms the scale, form and appearance of the
proposal is acceptable. The layout would be compatible with surroundings in that
the replacement dwelling would be of a similar size and scale and make use
materials that are considered to compliment the dwellings position within the
Conservation Area.

11.13

The second criterion is that the development should safeguard important
environmental features in its setting. The site is currently empty with the exception
to a hedge to the southern border and trees and shrubs to the western border. In
the accompanying Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy, it demonstrates that the
existing hedgerow, small trees and shrubs will be retained along with the addition
of friendly planning, introduction of an Insect Tower, inclusion of a bat box, house
sparrow terrace, therefore it is considered to meet this criteria.

11.14

With regard to the appearance of the proposal within its street scene, the proposal
is considered acceptable with regard to Policy GEN2.

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2 and GEN4)

11.15

The site has one immediate neighbour; ‘Lime Tree House’ located to the north of
the site.

11.16

The neighbouring dwelling is a two storey; the proposed new dwelling has been
designed with involvement from Conservation at Pre-application stage to be a
suitable replacement dwelling for its prime location within the Conservation Area
and entrance into High Easter from the south. It has also been designed to
minimise any potential harm to the neighbouring dwellings.

11.17

The east elevation consists of a front door, 1 no. narrow casement window for the
playroom and 2 no. double casement windows that service the drawing room. Due

Page 165

to their location at ground floor level, there are no issues arising from overlooking
or any reduction in privacy with the adjacent dwelling ‘Lime Tree House’.
11.18

To the first floor you have 3 no. dormer windows, 2 no. of which that serve the
master en-suite and 1 no. dormer window that services bedroom 3. All three
windows face the adjacent neighbours of ‘Shepherds Hey’ at a distance of
approximately 26m, due to the separation distance of between the dwellings and
the purpose of the rooms it is considered that any loss of privacy is minimal. The
windows in the en-suite will be conditioned to be obscure glazed as well as having
window restrictors, in the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy
GEN2.

11.19

Due to positioning of proposed built form, there would be no material loss of
amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of daylight, overbearing impact or
overshadowing.

11.20

Due to the size of the plot and its prominent location within the Conservation Area,
it is recommended that Permitted Development Rights be removed in order to
protect the amenities of the neighbouring dwellings, stop overdevelopment of the
site and to protect the Conservation Area.

11.21

With regard to impact to neighbours, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
Policy GEN2 and GEN4.

D

Whether the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the adjacent
Listed Buildings or Conservation Area (Local Policies ENV1, ENV2 and
NPPF)

11.22

s66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
states that in considering whether to grant planning for development which
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

11.23

Further, s72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 states that with respect to any buildings or other land in a
conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

11.24

The applicant has engaged with Essex County Councils’ Conservation
Team at the Pre-Application stage in order to establish what could be
supported on the site after the previous failed attempts on the site. The
Conservation Officer finds the proposal of the new dwelling on the site
acceptable. In light of the Locally Listed Building being demolished with the
loss of all its features, it is considered that this new modern dwelling would
be of a greater contribution to the Conservation Area than a pastiche
version of the previous dwelling.

11.25

It is considered that this proposal will cause no harm to the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area and or adjacent Listed Buildings, and
the Conservation Officer is satisfied that there are no grounds with regard
to the historic environment in which to object. The proposal is considered

Page 166

acceptable with regard to Policies EN1, EN2, the NPPF and relevant
provisions of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990.
E

Significance of a non-designated heritage asset (Uttlesford Local Heritage
List and NPPF)

11.26

Due to the irreplaceable nature, paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that “The effect
of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should
be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that
directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement
will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance
of the heritage asset.”

11.27

Its description in the Local Heritage List is that of: “A circa 18th century (possibly
earlier) traditional artisan cottage. It has a dominant thatched roof, rendered walls
and distinctive bay windows. It appears that the house once had had a simple
form which has become more complicated by various extensions. “ It was
considered to be a rare example of dwelling with distinctive bay windows under a
thatch roof that contributed to the group of nearby Listed Buildings and the
Conservation area as a whole.

11.28

As the dwelling has been demolished, the distinctive features that put this dwelling
onto the local heritage list no longer exist.

11.29

Conservation have been consulted on this application and it is felt that the
Conservation Area would respond better to a brand-new dwelling that meets
today’s standards rather than replacing the dwelling with a pastiche version of
what was once there.

F

Vehicular access and parking (Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

11.30

Policy GEN1 of the Local Plan requires developments to be designed so that they
do not have unacceptable impacts upon the existing road network, that they must
not compromise road safety and to take account of cyclists, pedestrians, public
transport users, horse riders and people whose mobility is impaired and also
encourage movement by means other than the car.

11.31

The previous dwelling benefitted from an in and out driveway; as part of this
application, one of the existing vehicle accesses into the site will be utilised for
the new dwelling, with the other existing access located nearer the bend in the
road being closed up. As the proposal is for a replacement dwelling, it is
considered that the number of additional vehicles and traffic movements are
negligible over the previous use, as such no significant harm would occur in terms
of highway safety.

11.32

The Highways Agency have not raised any issues regarding this proposal,
therefore the development accords with the Highway Authority’s Development
Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in
February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

Page 167

11.33

The three bedroomed house would require 2 no. parking spaces each to meet the
relevant parking standard. This requirement has been demonstrated by the
applicant. The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to Policy GEN8.

G

If there are any ecology issues would arise from the development (ULP
Policy GEN7).

11.34

The application includes a completed Biodiversity Checklist, a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy, a Statement to accompany the Biodiversity Checklist and
a Preliminary Roost Appraisal.

11.35

Essex County Council Ecology has been consulted and have no objection to the
proposal subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures
on the site.

11.36

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The site forms part of the built-up settlement of High Easter and is within the
defined development limits. There can be no objection in principle.

B

The design of the proposal is acceptable in that it would appear sympathetic to
the character and appearance of the street scene and the proposed design fits
the general pattern formed by surrounding development.

C

Due to positioning of proposed built form, isolation distances and orientation there
would be no material loss of amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of
daylight, overbearing impact or overshadowing.

D

As the dwelling has been demolished the distinctive features that put this dwelling
onto the local heritage list no longer exist. As such, Conservation feel that a
modern dwelling would respond to the Conservation Area far better than a
pastiche version of what was once there.

E

As the dwelling has been demolished the distinctive features that put this
dwelling onto the local heritage list no longer exist.

F

The proposal would not result in detrimental harm upon highway safety and
adequate parking provisions have been provided to accommodate the use.

G

There is no evidence that the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS

Page 168

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Part 1 and Part 2 of
Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place without the prior written permission of
the local planning authority.
REASON: To prevent the site becoming overdeveloped and protect the amenities
of the neighbouring dwellings and the Conservation Area, in accordance with
Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV1 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (2005).

3.

Prior to occupation the dwelling shall be provided with an electric vehicle charging
point. The charging point shall be fully wired and connected, ready to use and
retained thereafter.
REASON: to encourage/support cleaner vehicle usage in accordance with policy
ENV13 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the NPPF.

4.

The dwelling approved by this permission shall be built to Category 2: Accessible
and adaptable dwellings M4 (2) of the Building Regulations 2010 Approved
Document M, Volume 1 2015 edition.
REASON: To ensure compliance with Policy GEN2 (c) of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the subsequent SPD on Accessible Homes and Playspace.

5.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Roost Appraisal (Prime
Environment, June 2019) and Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy (Tim Moyer
Associates, August 2020), as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow
the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
6.

A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features
on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause
disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where
external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas
to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.

Page 169

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
7.

If the demolition of existing property and proposed erection of new dwelling hereby
approved does not commence within 18 months from the date of the bat survey
results in the Preliminary Roost Appraisal (Prime Environment, June 2019), the
approved ecological mitigation measures secured through condition shall be
reviewed and, where necessary, amended and updated.
The review shall be informed by further ecological surveys commissioned to:
i. establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or abundance of
bats and
ii. identify any likely new ecological impacts that might arise from any changes.
Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result in
ecological impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, the original
approved ecological measures will be revised and new or amended measures,
and a timetable for their implementation, will be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to the demolition of existing property
and proposed erection of new dwelling.
Works will then be carried out in accordance with the proposed new approved
ecological measures and timetable.
REASON: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

8.

The first floor en-suite window in the eastern elevation on approved plans GCG002 and GCG-003 shall be fitted with opening restrictors and shall be obscure
glazed with glass of obscuration level 4 or 5 of the range of glass manufactured
by Pilkington plc at the date of this permission or of an equivalent standard agreed
in writing by the local planning authority. Details of the proposed restrictors and
the obscure glazing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority before the commencement of the development hereby
approved. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and the obscure glazing and restrictors retained thereafter in
those windows.
REASON: To avoid overlooking of the adjacent property in the interests of
residential amenity in accordance with Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).

9.

Samples of the materials to be used on the external finishes shall be submitted
within two months of this permission and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and shall not be changed without the prior written consent of the local
planning authority.

Page 170

REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

10.

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted, details of the brick bond
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
thereafter the works carried out according to the approved details.
REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

11.

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted a schedule of the
details/samples of the surface treatments and details of the render colour has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

12.

Prior to commencement of the works hereby permitted, additional drawings that
show details of the proposed windows, front door and garage door, to be used by
section and elevation at scales between 1:20 and 1:1 as appropriate have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Works shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
permanently maintained as such.
REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area in accordance with ULP policy ENV1

13.

Prior to occupation of the development the vehicular access shall be constructed
at right angles to the highway boundary and to the existing carriageway. The width
of the access at its junction with the highway shall not be less than 3 metres and
shall be provided with an appropriate dropped kerb vehicular crossing of the
footway/highway verge.
REASON: to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner in the interest of highway safety.

14.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety.

15.

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on DWG no. GCG-001 (Proposed Ground Floor Layout,
dated Jan 2021) has been provided. The vehicle parking area shall be retained in
this form at all times.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is
provided.

Page 171

16.

The existing access to the south shall be suitably and permanently closed
incorporating the reinstatement to full height of the highway verge / footway /
kerbing, as shown in principle on DWG no. 2020/5484/001 Rev. P6 (Titled Proposed Access Arrangement, dated 09/11/2020), prior to occupation of the
proposed dwelling.
REASON: To ensure the removal of and to preclude the creation of unnecessary
points of traffic conflict in the highway in the interests of highway safety.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordanace Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

01 March 2021

Page 172

Agenda Item 8
UTT/20/3473/FUL (Wimbish)
(Referred to Planning Committee as applicant works for Uttlesford District Council.)
PROPOSAL:

Proposed change of use from garden to paddock,
fencing and erection of stable block.

LOCATION:

East Cottage, Thaxted Road, Wimbish, Saffron
Walden, Essex, CB10 2UT

APPLICANT:

Mrs M Challinor

AGENT:

N/A

EXPIRY DATE:

25th February 2021 (Extension of time until 25th
March 2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Nathan Makwana

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits, Grade II Listed Building

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

East Cottage is situated on the west side of the B184 Thaxted Road, and is a
Grade II listed semi-detached property, set in a predominantly rural area with
open aspects to three sides. The property has a large garden extending to
approximately 0.7285 hectare, which is surrounded by mature trees and hedges.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

It is proposed to use land outside the curtilage of the house to build a small
wooden, permanent stable block on hardstanding, comprising of two proprietary
type looseboxes. This will be located in the space between the car port and
dilapidated piggery. The footprint of the stable block is 28.08 square meters, with
a height to the ridge of 3.108m. This application also asks for consent for the
change of use from garden to paddock grazing land across an area of
approximately 6600 square metres, which leaves the moat areas and garden
directly adjacent to the house untouched.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment): The proposal is not a
Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2,
and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not required.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and
Article 8 of the First Protocol regarding the right of respect for a person's private
and family life and home, and to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions;
however, these issues have been taken into account in the determination of this
application.

Page 173

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided a planning statement in support of the planning
application to illustrate the process that has led to the development proposal, and
to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way.

5.2

Detailed plans and elevations to reflect the above changes are also submitted
with this planning application

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

No recent relevant site history.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (June 2019)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
S7 – The Countryside
GEN2 – Design
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
LC4 – Provision of Outdoor Sport and Recreational Facilities Beyond
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace (2005)
Other Material Considerations
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards (2009)
UDC Parking Standards (2013)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Wimbish Parish Council

8.2

No comment received.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC Highways

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the Highway Authority has no
objections to make on this proposal as it is not contrary to the relevant
transportation policies contained within the Highway Authority’s Development
Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in
February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1.

Page 174

9.2

Informative:
i. It is understood that the paddock and stable use will be ancillary to the dwelling,
and no commercial/business equestrian use is proposed.

9.3

ii. All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed
by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of, the
Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The
applicants should be advised to contact the Development Management Team by
email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO2
- Essex Highways, Springfield Highways Depot, Colchester Road,
Chelmsford, CM2 5PU.
UDC Environmental Health

9.4

I have no in principle objections to the application and do not recommend any
further environmental protection conditions.
ECC Ecology

9.5

No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures.
Aerodrome Safeguarding Consultation Response

9.18

The Safeguarding Authority for Stansted Airport has assessed this proposal and
its potential to conflict aerodrome Safeguarding criteria. We have no aerodrome
safeguarding objections to the proposal.
NATS Safeguarding

9.19

The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding
aspect and does not conflict with our safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS
(En Route) Public Limited Company ("NERL") has no safeguarding objection to
the proposal.
HSE

9.20

Thank you for your email and attached application. HSE's Explosives
Inspectorate has no comment to make on this application as according to our
records it does not appear to fall within the consultation zones of an HSE licensed
explosives site.
MOD Defence Infrastructure Safeguarding

9.21

Thank you for consulting the Ministry of Defence (MOD) on the above proposed
development which was received by this office on 05/01/2021. I can confirm the
MOD has no safeguarding objections to this proposal.

ECC Place Services Historic Environment Team

Page 175

I have reviewed the plans and have no objections to the proposals; the change of
use and proposed stable block will have a neutral impact upon the setting of the
listed building East Cottage/Abbots Manor.
10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

No neighbour representations have been received.
A site notice was displayed at the application site on the 14th January 2021 and
expired on the 04th February 2021. An advertisement was placed in the local
press on the 14th January 2021 and expired on the 04th February 2021.
The neighbour notification period commenced on the 05 January 2021 and
expired on the 26th January 2020.

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C

The Principle of development (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, LC4, GEN2, NPPF);
Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies GEN2, GEN4,
ENV2, ENV3, ENV6, NPPF);
Biodiversity (GEN7, NPPF)

A

The Principle of development (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, LC4, GEN2, NPPF);

11.1

Policy S7 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 outlines that the countryside
will be protected for its own sake and that development that is suitable for a rural
use will be permitted. Expanding on this, Policy LC4 states that outdoor sports
and recreational facilities beyond development limits will be permitted.

11.2

The principle of development is established by virtue of the above quoted policies
allowing for the provision of outdoor sports in the countryside. The proposed use
of equestrian facilities is considered an appropriate rural use and is therefore
considered to accord with the above policy criteria.

11.3

The principle of development is therefore established, and the proposal therefore
accords with ULP Policies S7, LC4 and GEN2 of the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. (NPPF)

B

Character, Appearance, Amenity and Heritage (ULP Policies GEN2, GEN4,
ENV2, ENV3, ENV6, NPPF);

11.4

It is proposed to use land outside the curtilage of the house to build a small
wooden, permanent stable block on hardstanding comprising of two looseboxes.
This will be located in the space between the car port and dilapidated piggery.
The footprint of the stable block is 28.08 square meters with a height to the ridge
of 3.108m. This application also asks for consent for the change of use from
garden to paddock grazing land across an area of approximately 6600 square
metres, this leaves the moat areas and garden directly adjacent to the house
untouched, document 4.

11.5

The proposed building cannot be seen from any part of the house due to
screening from trees and hedges around the moat and the existing shed. The

Page 176

view from the house to the east will be across the garden and moat area, further
garden and on to the paddocks.
11.6

The wooden stable block will be of a traditional appearance in the style of Chart
Stables or similar, will be externally clad with shiplap boarding and a black
Onduline roof. The hardstanding yard area will be fenced with post and rail. It is
planned to use a water butt to recycle rainwater from the roof.

11.7

The proposed paddock area is flat with mature trees across the area and a tree
belt/ hedges on three sides. The area will be fenced with post and rail along both
sides of the driveway, from where it opens out and all areas visible from the
house; the remainder will be post and wire. An additional new five bar gate will
prevent horses escaping up the driveway and to keep them safe from the road.

11.8

The stables will be for private use only, to house the owner’s elderly horse and
companion pony, currently stabled 13 miles away. Having the horses at home will
save driving two 26-mile round trips every day. Any increased manure will be
stored more than 15m from the neighbouring property boundary and more than
10m from any ditches or water courses. No muck will be burned on site; the
muck heap will be collected regularly by a local farmer. Horse feed and bedding
is currently delivered to the house and then driven to the stables 13 miles away,
so there will a decrease in vehicular movements as a result of the proposal.

11.9

No objections are raised from the UDC Landscape Officer, nor is any Heritage
impact found from the application proposal. It is therefore considered to accord
with ULP policies GEN2, GEN4, ENV2, ENV3, ENV6 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF.

C

Ecology (GEN7, NPPF)

11.10

The Essex County Council Ecology Officer has reviewed the documents provided
with this application including the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report
(Practical Ecology, September 2020), Magic Maps https://magic.defra.gov.uk and
aerial photographs, relating to the likely impacts of the development on
designated sites, protected & Priority species and habitats, and identification of
proportionate mitigation and enhancement.

11.11

They support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined
under Paragraph 170d of theNPPF. This includes improving the condition of the
hedgerow through additional planting and management, installation of three bat
boxes, installation of a hedgehog house in a quiet area of the site, and installation
of a variety of bird boxes. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures
should be outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement Layout and should be
secured via a planning condition.

11.12

Within their consultation response, the Essex County Council Ecology Officer
have outlined a number of other conditions to ensure the development is
acceptable and does harm local ecology. The application proposal is therefore
considered to accord with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005
and the NPPF.

12.

CONCLUSION

Page 177

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The principle of development is therefore established, and the proposal therefore
accords with ULP Policies S7, LC4 and GEN2 of the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. (NPPF)

B

No objections are raised from the UDC Landscape Officer, nor is any heritage
impact found from the application proposal. It is therefore considered to accord
with ULP policies GEN2, GEN4, ENV2, ENV3, ENV6 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF.

C

Within their consultation response, the Ecology Officer has outlined a number of
other conditions to ensure the development is acceptable and does harm local
Ecology. The application proposal is therefore considered to accord with ULP
Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF.
RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS

Conditions

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans as set out in the Schedule.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to the nature of the development hereby
permitted, to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved
application details, to ensure that the development is carried out with the
minimum harm to the local environment, in accordance with the Policies of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) as shown in the Schedule of Policies

3

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Report (Practical Ecology, September 2020), as already submitted with the
planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior
to determination.
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in
accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the
NPPF 2019.

4

Prior to commencement, a Precautionary Working Method Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This will
contain precautionary mitigation measures and/or works to reduce potential
impacts to Great Crested Newts, hedgehogs and other small animals during the
construction phase. The measures and/works shall be carried out strictly in

Page 178

accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner
thereafter.”
Reason: To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of
the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and the NPPF 2019.
5

Prior to works commencing above slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Layout,
providing the finalised details and locations of the enhancement measures
contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Practical Ecology,
September 2020) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The enhancement measures shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details and all features shall be retained in that
manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance protected and Priority species and habitats and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats
& species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
2005 and the NPPF 2019.

6

Prior to works commencing above slab level, a lighting design scheme for
biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are
particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along
important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will
be installed (through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, and
technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit
will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and
the NPPF 2019.

Page 179

Site Map

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department: Planning
Date: 25 February 2020

Page 180

